
Chairperson:  Dr. Maria Perez 
Vice-Chairperson:  Walter Lanier 
Secretary:  Mary Neubauer 
Senior Executive Assistant:  Jodi Mapp, 257-5202 

MILWAUKEE COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD 

Thursday, February 25, 2021 - 9:00 A.M. 
Teleconference Meeting 

MINUTES 

PRESENT: Shirley Drake, Kathie Eilers, *Rachel Forman, Sheri Johnson, Walter Lanier, 
Thomas Lutzow, Mary Neubauer, Maria Perez, Duncan Shrout, and 
Brenda Wesley 

EXCUSED: Jon Lehrmann and James Stevens 

*Board Member Forman was not present at the time the roll was called but joined the meeting
shortly thereafter.

SCHEDULED ITEMS: 

1. Welcome. 

Chairman Lutzow welcomed everyone to the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board’s 
February 25, 2021, remote/virtual meeting. 

2. Election of Board Officers – Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary. 

The election process was outlined and sent in written form to Board Members prior to this 
meeting. 

Chairman Lutzow nominated Vice-Chairwoman Perez for Chairperson of the Milwaukee 
County Mental Health Board.  Vice-Chairwoman Perez accepted the nomination.  No other 
nominations for Chairperson were made. 

MOTION BY: (Lutzow) Vote Vice-Chairwoman Maria Perez Chairperson of the 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board.  8-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Shrout) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Lanier, Lutzow, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and 

Wesley - 8 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED: Forman - 1 

Immediately following election of the Chairperson, Vice-Chairwoman Perez assumed her 
role as Chairwoman and facilitated the balance of the meeting. 

2



SCHEDULED ITEMS (CONTINUED): 

Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

February 25, 2021 2 of 11 

Board Member Shrout nominated Board Member Lanier for Vice-Chairperson of the 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board.  Board Member Lanier accepted the nomination.  
No other nominations for Vice-Chairperson were made. 

MOTION BY: (Shrout) Vote Board Member Walter Lanier Vice-Chairperson of 
the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board.  8-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Wesley) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Lanier, Lutzow, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and 

Wesley - 8 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED: Forman - 1 

Board Member Shrout nominated Board Member Neubauer for Secretary of the Milwaukee 
County Mental Health Board.  Board Member Neubauer accepted the nomination.  No other 
nominations for Secretary were made. 

MOTION BY: (Shrout) Vote Board Member Mary Neubauer Secretary of the 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board.  8-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Lutzow) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Lanier, Lutzow, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and 

Wesley - 8 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED: Forman - 1 

Chairwoman Perez greeted Board Members and the audience as the newly elected 
Chairperson of the Board. 

3. Approval of the Minutes from the December 10, 2020, and January 28, 2021, 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Meeting and Public Hearing. 

MOTION BY: (Shrout) Approve the December 10, 2020, and the January 28, 
2021, Regular and Public Hearing Meeting Minutes.  8-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Lutzow) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Lanier, Lutzow, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and 

Wesley – 8 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED: Forman – 1 

4. Sirona Recovery, Inc., Presentation on Behavioral Health Division Contracted 
Services. 

Nick Sayner, Chief Executive Officer, Sirona Recovery 
Edward Gordon, Chief Operating Office, Sirona Recovery 

Mr. Sayer provided an overview of Sirona Recovery as an organization and explained its 
transition from Justice Point to Sirona Recovery.  Mr. Gordon provided insight on their 
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divisions, programs, and the array of services offered, including treatment access, housing, 
prevention, education, and their impact on the community. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

This item was informational. 

5. Follow-Up Discussions from the January 28, 2021, Public Hearing. 

Board Member Neubauer stated approximately five people joined the hearing and provided 
comments, including individuals from the Milwaukee Mental Health Task Force, Disability 
Rights Wisconsin, and Independence First.  People also submitted written comments.  She 
discussed exploring avenues of potential partnerships/collaborations with the City to assist 
with increasing participation. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

This item was informational. 

6. Department of Administrative Services Quarterly Update on the State of Milwaukee 
County’s Interests and Matters Related to the Behavioral Health Division (BHD). 

Joseph Lamers, Budget Director, Department of Administrative Services 

Mr. Lamers stated initial estimates have been comprised for the 2022 Budget.  The Budget 
Office is projecting a budget gap of approximately $20 million.  The gap comes from a 
combination of expenditure growth and spikes in healthcare costs.  Revenue net loss is 
being projected due to the County no longer collecting revenue from the sale of Doyne 
Hospital’s twenty-five-year agreement.  Some revenues did not decline nearly as expected. 

Sales tax continues to see very volatile disbursements.  Investment revenues actually met 
their expected returns.  A cautionary item to note is program revenues, which are still down 
dramatically.  If they don’t rebound, offsetting expenses will need to be found.  The process 
is still in the early stages.  The sales tax proposal has made its way to the Governor’s 
proposed budget.  It will be an uphill battle to get full legislative approval. 

Mr. Lamers provided CARES Act, COVID, and BHD funding updates.  BHD financial impacts 
regarding some of the items discussed include payroll costs for frontline public health staff 
and the Comptroller’s Office year-end surplus projection resulting in a positive impact on 
BHD’s bottom line for 2020. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

This item was informational. 
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7. Corporation Counsel’s Emergency Center Joint Venture and Crisis Services Update. 

Michael Lappen, Administrator, Behavioral Health Division (BHD) 
Matt Fortman, Fiscal Administrator, Department of Health and Human Services 

Mr. Lappen stated Corporation Counsel has been exchanging drafts and essentially working 
through the legal agreement, which will move the Center forward.  Later in the agenda, there 
will be a request to confirm the Mental Health Board and BHD representatives of the Joint 
Venture Board.  There is a significant amount of work to be done on the operations 
agreement with Aurora Advocate in terms of establishing where the Joint Venture Board’s 
authority ends, and the operators’ authority begins.  Clarification is needed related to all 
expectations.  The intention is to return to the Mental Health Board with the final drafts to 
those documents.  The previous guidance from several meetings ago was to work through 
the issues, negotiate the arrangements, and come back with the final documents.  The final 
documents are very complicated and both sides have engaged outside counsel. 

Additionally, it will be necessary to seek bond capital financing for the building.  It will be 
presented to the County Board in the March meeting cycle.  The Board of Zoning Appeals 
packet has been filed.  The meeting is scheduled for April 1, 2021, which makes the 12th and 
Walnut location public.  There are a lot of moving parts and deadlines.  Work continues to be 
done with community partners.  The Community Engagement Committee will have the 
Perceptivity presentation before them at their March meeting related to the community 
engagement work done over the past year.  Because of the delay with the project, feedback 
has been given all along the way and continues to inform the entire Crisis Redesign project, 
including the Mental Health Emergency Center. 

Mr. Fortman laid out the financial hurdles, which include today’s request for operating start-
up funds and going to the County Board in March to request the County’s portion of the 
capital financing. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

This item was informational. 

8. Annual Board Self-Assessment. 

Jennifer Bergersen, Chief Operations Officer, Behavioral Health Division 

Board Member Neubauer indicated a self-assessment, which was part of the Systems 
Improvement Agreement (SIA), was sent to all Board Members.  It is intertwined with the 
Quality Committee’s responsibility to meet the SIA requirement.  Board Member Neubauer 
will work with the consultants to compile the data and report the findings back to the Board. 

Ms. Bergersen explained the qualtrex format of the electronic surveys, which are needed to 
complete the work.  As of February 21, 2021, the team receiving the electronic information 
indicated four completed surveys had been received.  Part of the quality oversight, as it 
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relates to the Quality Committee, is to engage in a self-assessment of their quality 
assessment performance improvement process.  The Committee is reviewing how well its 
doing.  In addition, its moving forward with the recommendation the Board do a self-
assessment under the umbrella of evaluating leadership as it relates to the oversight of 
quality and safety. 

The survey will be resent to the Board for those who have yet to complete it.  It is electronic 
and evaluates things like board composition, education, meeting procedures, scope and 
responsibility, a personal evaluation, and comments and feedback.  The information will be 
anonymously compiled.  The results of the assessment will be discussed at the next Board 
meeting and assist in identifying opportunities for improvement. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

This item was informational. 

9. Administrative Update. 

Michael Lappen, Administrator, Behavioral Health Division (BHD) 

Mr. Lappen highlighted key activities and issues related to BHD operations.  He provided 
updates on COVID-19 vaccinations at BHD and additional funding received from the State 
due to the pandemic’s impact, the Systems Improvement Agreement, the Mental Health 
Emergency Center, and expanding coverage for residential treatment. 

Mr. Lappen stated BHD was anticipating Crisis Resource Center (CRC) West to open on 
February 9, 2021.  The provider submitted the required paperwork to the State for 
certification as a Community-Based Residential Facility (CBRF).  The Division of Quality 
Assurance informed the provider it would no longer certify the CRC as a CBRF because it is 
no longer deemed necessary.  However, the City of Milwaukee allows the operation of a 
CRC based on its CBRF certification.  Medicaid contracts pay operating costs based on this 
certification.  BHD has reached out to the State regarding this unforeseen development. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

This item was informational. 
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10.  Confirmation of the County Executive’s Recommendations:  the Chairperson of the 
Mental Health Board or his/her Designee, Matthew Fortman, Michael Lappen, and 
Kenneth Ginlack as the Inaugural Appointments to the Mental Health Emergency 
Center Joint Venture Board. 

Shakita LaGrant, Director, Department of Health and Human 

The Joint Venture (JV) Board is made up of eight appointees.  Milwaukee County is 
responsible for four.  Nominees were selected based on their roles.  The initial focus of this 
board is to set up the organization including oversight, financial management, legal 
representation, etc.  Individuals identified are considered the best and most appropriate 
candidates for this inaugural board. 

The Board was informed the Executive Committee, at its meeting on December 23, 2020, 
unanimously APPROVED the confirmation of the nominees as recommended by the County 
Executive. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

MOTION BY: (Lutzow) Approve Confirmation of the Chairperson of the Mental 
Health Board or his/her Designee; Matthew Fortman; Michael  
Lappen; and Kenneth Ginlack; the County Executive’s  
Appointment Recommendations, to the Inaugural Mental Health 
Emergency Center Joint Venture Board.  6-0-3 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Shrout) 
AYES: Drake, Forman, Lanier, Lutzow, Perez, and Shrout – 6 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED:  0 
ABSTENTIONS: Eilers, Neubauer, and Wesley – 3 

11.  The Behavioral Health Division’s Funding Allocations and Program Efficiencies Report 
for Mental Health Programs in Compliance with Chapter 51 of Wisconsin Statutes. 

Michael Lappen, Administrator, Behavioral Health Division 

Mr. Lappen explained the Funding Allocations and Program Efficiencies for Mental Health 
Programs report, in compliance with Chapter 51 of Wisconsin Statutes, is a statutory 
obligation and required on an annual basis.  It includes a description of the funding allocations 
for mental health functions; services; and programs, as well as describes improvements and 
efficiencies in these areas, and is an overall summary of 2020 activities.  The report will be 
forwarded to the County Board, the County Executive, and the State Department of Health 
and Human Services. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

This item was informational. 
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12.  Reform of the Request for Proposals and Contracting Process Update. 
 
David Muhammad, Deputy Director, Department of Health and Human Services 
Dr. Deborah Blanks, Kairo Communications 
Dr. David Pate, University Wisconsin – Milwaukee 
 
Mr. Muhammad stated the Workgroup is preparing to release its final report.  The report 
currently before the Board is a preliminary report of findings to identify the strategies and 
address structural barriers to ensure a diverse provider network.  There were encouraging 
areas as well as areas requiring a significant overhaul.  Much of what is contained in the 
report is the outcome of both the Workgroup and the stakeholder interviews performed. 
 
Dr. Blanks reviewed the preliminary report.  She discussed past work focus, literature review, 
themes, contract award data, current work focus, hypothesis testing, and future work focus. 
 
Questions and comments ensued at length. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

13.  Executive Committee Update. 
 
Board Member Lutzow stated the Committee met in a special session for the purpose of 
appointing/ratifying, on a provisional basis, the appointees recommended by County 
Executive Crowley.  The Board confirmed those appointments earlier in the agenda.  The 
Committee also made a referral to the Governance Committee to work out the details of how 
this would happen in the future.  It appears the County Executive views his role as 
recommendatory as it relates to appointees and the Board’s role in accepting/endorsing those 
recommendations needs formalization. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

14.  Quality Committee Update. 
 
Board Member Neubauer, Chairwoman of the Quality Committee, reviewed topics addressed 
at the Quality Committee’s January meeting.  She discussed the Community Access to 
Recovery Services (CARS) midcycle report, plan of care evaluation update and crisis plan, 
and both community and hospital vendor quality updates. 
 
Questions and comments ensued. 
 
This item was informational. 
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15.  Community Engagement Ad Hoc Committee Update. 

Board Member Wesley announced the next meeting date as March 14, 2021.  At that time, 
Kane Communications/Perceptivity will provide a presentation on the community listening 
sessions.  This information is important as the Crisis Services project moves forward.  The 
Committee is currently strategizing on what can be done to reach more people in the 
community and increase participation. 

This item was informational. 

16.  Medical Executive Credentialing and Privileging Recommendations Report. 

Dr. John Schneider, Chief Medical Officer, Behavioral Health Division 

MOTION BY: (Neubauer) Adjourn into Closed Session under the provisions of 
Wisconsin Statutes Section 19.85(1)(c) for the purpose of  
considering  employment or performance evaluation data for  
public employees over which the Board has jurisdiction and  
exercises responsibility.  Some or all the information discussed 
may also be subject to confidentiality under Section 146.38,  
Stats. as it relates to Item 16.  At the conclusion of the Closed  
Session, the Board may reconvene in Open Session to take  
whatever action(s) it may deem necessary on the aforesaid  
item.  7-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Shrout) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Forman, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and Wesley – 7 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED:  Lanier and Lutzow - 2 

The Board convened into Closed Session at 12:20 p.m. to discuss Item 16 and reconvened 
back into Open Session at approximately 12:27 p.m.  The roll was taken, and all Board 
Members were present, except for Johnson, Lanier, and Lutzow, who did not rejoin the 
meeting. 

MOTION BY: (Neubauer) Approve the Medical Staff Credentialing Report and 
Medical Executive Committee Recommendations.  7-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Forman) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Forman, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and Wesley – 7 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED:  Lanier, and Lutzow - 2 
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17.  Finance Committee Professional Services Contracts Recommendation. 

• 2020 Contract Amendment(s)
➢ Column Rehab Services, Inc.
➢ MobileX USA
➢ WIPFLi, Inc.
➢ Medical College of Wisconsin, LLC
➢ Kane Communications Group

• 2021 Contract(s)
➢ Mental Health Emergency Center, Inc.

Jennifer Bergersen, Chief of Operations, Behavioral Health Division 

Professional Services Contracts focus on facility-based programming, supports functions that 
are critical to patient care, and are necessary to maintain hospital and crisis services 
licensure.  An overview was presented of all hospital/operations services provided. 

The Board’s attention was drawn to the Mental Health Emergency Center, Inc., allotment.  
The amount reflected represents fifty percent of the anticipated total startup costs.   The 
private health systems partners will be responsible for the remaining costs.  Most of the costs 
associated are attributed to technology setup, i.e. getting the new entity online, operational, 
and billable. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

The Board was informed the Finance Committee unanimously agreed to recommend 
approval of the 2021 Professional Services Contract and 2020 Contract Amendments as 
delineated in the corresponding report. 

MOTION BY: (Shrout) Approve the Professional Services Contract and 
Contract Amendments Delineated in the Corresponding 
Report.  7-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Forman) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Forman, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and  Wesley – 7 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED:  Lanier and Lutzow - 2 

18.  Finance Committee Purchase-of-Service Agreements Recommendation.  (Amy Lorenz 
and Brian McBride, Behavioral Health Division/Action Item) 

• 2020 Agreement Amendment(s)

Purchase-of-Service Agreements for the Provision of Adult and Child Mental Health Services 
and Substance Use Disorder Services were reviewed.  An overview was provided detailing 
the various contract amendments. 
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The Board was informed the Finance Committee unanimously agreed to recommend 
approval of the 2020 Purchase-of-Service Agreement Amendments as delineated in the 
corresponding report. 

MOTION BY: (Eilers) Approve the Purchase-of-Service Contract Amendments 
Delineated in the Corresponding Report.  7-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Neubauer) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Forman, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and Wesley – 7 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED:  Lanier and Lutzow - 2 

19.  Finance Committee Fee-for-Service Agreements Recommendation. 

Amy Lorenz, Deputy Administrator, Community Access to Recovery Services (CARS), 
Behavioral Health Division (BHD) 
Brian McBride, Director, Children’s Community Services and Wraparound Milwaukee, BHD 

Fee-for-Service Agreements are for the Provision of Adult and Child Mental Health Services 
and Substance Use Disorder Services.  An overview was provided detailing the program 
agreements, which provide a broad range of support services for adults and children with 
serious emotional disturbances and their families. 

The Board was informed the Finance Committee unanimously agreed to recommend 
approval of the Fee-for-Service Agreements to the Board as delineated in the corresponding 
report. 

MOTION BY: (Eilers) Approve the Fee-for-Service Agreements Delineated in 
the Corresponding Report.  7-0 

MOTION 2ND BY: (Shrout) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Forman, Neubauer, Perez, Stevens, and Wesley – 7 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED:  Lanier and Lutzow - 2 

20.  Adjournment. 

MOTION BY: (Neubauer) Adjourn.  7-0 
MOTION 2ND BY: (Wesley) 
AYES: Drake, Eilers, Forman, Neubauer, Perez, Shrout, and Wesley – 7 
NOES: 0 
EXCUSED: Lanier and Lutzow - 2 
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This meeting was recorded.  The aforementioned agenda items were not necessarily considered 
in agenda order.  The official copy of these minutes and subject reports, along with the audio 
recording of this meeting, is available on the Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division/Mental 
Health Board web page. 

Length of meeting:  9:02 a.m. to 12:38 p.m. 

Adjourned, 

Jodi Mapp 

Jodi Mapp
Senior Executive Assistant 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

The next meeting for the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board will be a Public Hearing 
on Thursday, March 18, 2021, @ 4:30 p.m. 

PUBLIC COMMENT WILL BE HEARD ON 
THE 2022 BUDGET 

Visit the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Web Page at: 

https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance 

The February 25, 2021, meeting minutes of the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 
are hereby submitted for approval at the next scheduled regular meeting of the 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board. 

Mary Neubauer, Secretary 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance


Chairperson:  Dr. Maria Perez 
Vice-Chairperson:  Walter Lanier 
Secretary:  Mary Neubauer 
Senior Executive Assistant:  Jodi Mapp, 257-5202 

 

MILWAUKEE COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD 
BUDGET HEARING 

 
Thursday, March 18, 2021 - 4:30 P.M. 

Teleconference Meeting 
 

MINUTES 
 
PRESENT: Shirley Drake, Jon Lehrmann, Thomas Lutzow, Mary Neubauer, Maria Perez,  
  Duncan Shrout, and Brenda Wesley 
EXCUSED: Kathie Eilers, Rachel Forman, Sheri Johnson, Walter Lanier, and James Stevens 
 
SCHEDULED ITEMS: 
 

1.  Welcome. 
 
Chairwoman Perez welcomed everyone to the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board’s 
March 18, 2021, remote/virtual Budget Hearing. 
 

2.  Explanation of the Budget Public Comment Process. 
 
Matt Fortman, Fiscal Administrator, Department of Health and Human Services 
 
Mr. Fortman stated today’s public comment hearing is the first of many budget sessions in 
this very early stage of the budget process.  The discussion will revolve around the 2022 
Budget, which follows the fiscal calendar year.  The Behavioral Health Division (BHD) is still 
waiting for the Budget Office to confirm the annual budget target, which is the amount of 
Milwaukee County tax levy supporting BHD services each year.  BHD is expecting to see a 
lower amount than received in the previous year due to the ongoing pandemic.  There is a 
statutory tax levy floor in the amount of $53 million, which is an amount BHD must receive at 
the very least.  The 2021 Budget was very close to the tax levy floor amount.  There most 
likely won’t be an increase but also not a substantial decrease. 
 
The timeline going forward, once the target is received, includes working internally to meet 
the target and put together a sound budget based partially on some of the priorities and 
suggestions heard today; a Finance meeting on June 3, 2021, where the Preliminary Budget 
will be presented; a Finance Public Hearing on June 15, 2021, where the community can 
comment on the Preliminary Budget, and another public comment session on June 24, 
2021.  The Board, as a whole, will vote on the Budget on July 8, 2021. 
 
Mr. Lappen explained the importance of conducting a public hearing on the budget so early 
in the year.  Waiting for the June meetings to receive community input was not conducive to 
the process considering budget related decisions would already have been made by that 
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time.  The Board was encouraged to incorporate additional public comment opportunities, 
and therefore did so.  Following this particular format allows the public’s input to be 
considered when building the budget from scratch. 
 
Mr. Fortman indicated the ramifications of the recent federal relief bill, through which the 
County will be receiving funds, is still being determined.  It is unclear what impact it will have 
on BHD.  The Governor’s budget also contains some very exciting behavioral health 
initiatives, but it is unclear how many of those proposals will make it through to the final 
adopted State budget. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

3.  Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division 2022 Budget Discussion. 
 
The hearing opened for public comment.  The following individuals appeared virtually and 
provided comments: 
 
Maria I. Nogueron 
Mariah Iverson, Milwaukee Mental Health Task Force 
Barbara Beckert, Disability Rights Wisconsin 
 

4.  Adjournment. 
 
Chairwoman Perez thanked everyone for their participation and ordered the meeting 
adjourned. 
 

This meeting was recorded.  The official copy of these minutes and subject reports, along with 
the audio recording of this meeting, is available on the Milwaukee County Behavioral Health 
Division/Mental Health Board web page. 
 
Length of meeting:  4:33 p.m. to 5:10 p.m. 
 
Adjourned, 
 
 

Jodi Mapp 

 
 
Jodi Mapp 

Senior Executive Assistant 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 
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The next regular meeting for the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board is 

Thursday, April 22, 2021, @ 9:00 a.m. at the 
 

Visit the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Web Page at: 
https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance 

 

 
 
 
The March 18, 2021, meeting minutes of the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 
are hereby submitted for approval at the next scheduled regular meeting of the 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board. 
 
 

 
         
Mary Neubauer, Secretary 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 
 
 

https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance
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About Oxford House, Inc. 

 
Oxford House, Inc. [OHI] is the Delaware nonprofit, 501(c)(3) 
corporation that serves as the umbrella organization of the worldwide 
network of more than 3,000 individual Oxford Houses.  Its central office 
is at 1010 Wayne Avenue, Suite 300, Silver Spring, Maryland 20910.   
The Oxford House™ program can be developed on a national scale at 
very low cost and it fosters recovery without relapse.  
 
Oxford House™ is a concept and system of operations based on the 
experience of recovering alcoholics and drug addicts who learned that 
behavior change is essential to recovery from alcoholism and drug 
addiction.  They also learned that Oxford House provided the living 
environment that could help them become comfortable enough with 
abstinent behavior to stay clean and sober without relapse. 
 
The Oxford House Manual© is the basic blueprint that provides the 
organization and structure that permit groups of recovering individuals 
to successfully live together in a supportive environment.  All Oxford 
Houses are rented ordinary single-family houses in good neighborhoods.  
There are Oxford Houses for men and Oxford Houses for women but 
there are no co-ed houses.  The average number of residents per house 
nationally is about 8 with a range per house of 6 to 16.   
 
Oxford Houses work because they: (1) have no time limit for how long 
a resident can live in an Oxford House; (2) follow a democratic system 
of operation; (3) utilize self-support to pay all the household expenses; 
and (4) adhere to the absolute requirement that any resident who returns 
to using alcohol or illicit drugs must be immediately expelled.  Oxford 
House provides the missing elements needed by most alcoholics and 
drug addicts to develop behavior that assures total abstinence.  It 
provides the time, peer support and structured living environment 
necessary for long-term behavior change to take hold. 
 
Individuals living in an Oxford House learn or relearn values and 
responsible behavior and, slowly but surely, they develop long-term 
behavior to assure comfortable sobriety – forever.  Some individuals live 
in Oxford Houses a few months; others for many years.  By using 
participatory democracy and self-support, alcoholics, drug addicts and 
those with co-occurring mental illness achieve long-term recovery. 
 
After 46 years of steady growth and successful recovery outcomes, 
Oxford House™ has been proven to work.  It is also a very cost-effective 
way to support long-term recovery from alcoholism, drug addiction and 
co-occurring mental illness.   At the end of 2020, there were more than 
3,000 Oxford Houses with over 20,000 beds throughout the country.  
 
Oxford House has been listed as a best practice on the National Registry 
of Evidence-based Programs and Practices [NREPP] and was singled out 
as an effective tool for long-term recovery in the U.S. Surgeon General’s 
report:  “Facing Addiction in America: The Surgeon General’s Report 
on Alcohol, Drugs, and Health, 2016.”   

Silver Spring, Maryland 
January 30, 2021 
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NATIONAL PROFILE 
	

Good Houses in Good Neighborhoods 
 

Oxford House – Homestead (pictured at the left) is an 
Oxford House for 7 men that was established in Chapel 
Hill, NC on April 1, 1999.   It is one of 290 Oxford 
Houses in North Carolina.  The House started on 
Homestead Road in 1999 and moved to Scarlet Drive in 
2005.  It has been home to 323 men in recovery.  It is 
an example of how Oxford Houses continue year after 
year and sometimes the entire group moves to a better 
house. 
 
There are houses for men; houses for women; houses 

for women with children; and houses for men with children.    
 

Creating an Effective National Recovery Network One House at a Time 
 

National Oxford House Profile1  
Number of Houses for Women 950  Recovery Beds for Women 7,494 

Number of Houses for Men 2,108  Recovery Beds for Men 17,098 
Total Number of Houses 3,050  Total Recovery Beds 24,592 
Number of States with Houses 49  Cities with Oxford Houses 493 

Resident Profile2 
Average Age of Residents 
        [range 17 – 91] 
 

38.0  Percent Veterans 13% 

Average Educational Level 12.2 yrs. 
 

 Range of Educational Level 3-19 Yrs. 

Average Cost/Person Per Week: 
     (Range $120-550/week) 
 

$132 
 

 
 

Average Rent/Group/Month 
   (Range $1,000-8,000/mo.) 

$2,045 

Residents Working 
 

83.3%  Average Monthly Earnings $1,695 
 

Percent Addicted to Drugs and 
Alcohol [60.7% Opioids]  

 
78% 

 Percent Addicted to Only 
Alcohol 
 

 
22% 

Race --    White 

Black 

Hispanic 

Native American 

77.5% 

13.6% 

5.1% 

3.8% 

 Marital Status – 

             Never Married 

Separated 

Divorced 

Married 

Widowed 

 

59.2% 

7.6% 

26.3% 

4.6% 

2.2% 

Prior Homelessness 71.4%  Time Homeless [median] 6.0 Mos. 
 

Prior Jail 84.8%  Average Jail Time 
   [median 7 Mos.] 

8 Mos. 
 

Average AA or NA Meetings 
Per Week 

 
3.4 

 
Percent Going To 
Counseling plus AA/NA 

 
38.4% 

 
Average Length of Sobriety of 
House Residents 

 
12.4 Mos. 

  
Residents Expelled 
Because of Relapse 

 
21.2% 

 
Average Length of Stay In an 
Oxford House 

 
9.5 Mos. 

  
Average No. of Applicants 
For Each Vacant Bed 

 
4.4 

 
1 Total number of houses, beds and locations as of January 1, 2021. 
2 Resident profile as of September 30, 2020 based on OHI surveys completed by 10,209 
residents in 18 States and D.C. plus house reports. 

 

Oxford House Fast Facts 
	 	 	

	
• 24,534	-	Number	of	Oxford	

House	Recovery	Beds	
	
• 3,050	-	Number	of	Oxford	

Houses	as	of	January	2021	
	
• 49	-	Number	of	States	with	

Oxford	Houses	
	
• 493	-	Number	of	towns	and	

cities	with	Oxford	Houses	
	
• $1,695	-	Average	monthly	

income	of	residents	
	
• $132	-	Average	weekly	share	

of	expenses	paid	by	Oxford	
House	residents	

	
• 71.4%	of	Oxford	House	

residents	had	been	homeless	
for	an	average	total	period	of	
6.0	months	

	
• 78%	addicted	to	drugs	and	

alcohol;	22%	only	alcohol	
	
• 84.8%	had	done	jail	time	

related	to	their	addiction		
	
• 9.5	months	-	Average	length	of	

sobriety	
	
• 321	-	New	Oxford	Houses	

started	CY	2020	(104	houses	
for	women;	217	for	men)	

	
• 2,6	81	-	Total	CY	2020	Added	

Recovery	Beds	(844	for	
women;	1,837	for	men)	

	
• CY	2020	residents:	44,406	

with	21.2%	expelled	because	
of	relapse
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 
The Oxford House™ model is 46 years old and is an important national tool for supporting 
long-term recovery from addiction.  Oxford House enables individuals with substance use 
disorders (whether addicted to alcohol, opioids or other drugs) to gain the time, peer 
support and structure needed to change from the chaos of addiction to the comfort of a 
purposeful life well lived.  Since inception, the sole focus of Oxford House has been on 
providing a recovery housing program that supports long-term recovery without relapse. 
That’s been its only purpose since it began.  It worked then and it works now and we 
anticipate that it will continue to work many years into the future.    

In this message, I’d like to first reiterate how Oxford Houses work.  I’ve said it all before 
but it’s the most critical part of our program and I think it bears repeating here.   

How Oxford Houses Work 

Oxford House, Inc. (OHI) has never been focused on owning property or accumulating 
wealth.  All Oxford Houses are ordinary houses that are rented by the chartered group and 
the residents share the rent and other household expenses equally.  That means that living 
in an Oxford House is relatively cheap and there are no residency time limits; residents 
can live in an Oxford House as long as they want – as long as they follow the charter rules. 

The charter becomes the entry point for any group to start an Oxford House.  In addition 
to requiring that the group accommodate six or more individuals, the charter sets forth 
three basic standards: [1] the group must be democratically self-run following the process 
and procedures of the Oxford 
House Manual©; [2] the 
group must be financially 
self-supporting; and [3] the 
group must immediately 
expel any resident who 
returns to drinking alcohol or 
using illicit drugs. 

Any group of six or more 
recovering persons can be 
granted a charter and at no 
charge.  Initially the charter is 
granted on a probationary 
basis and, during the first six months, a group must demonstrate that it understands the 
Oxford House system of operations.  Once a new group understands the system, the House 
is granted a permanent charter.     

Every resident pays an equal share of household expenses and has an equal voice in all 
house operations.  Each House elects five house officers with terms limited to no more 
than six months at a time.  Weekly business meetings are held to review House finances 
and other issues and provide the forum for resolving all issues and disputes that may arise 
from a group of people living together. Regular or special House meetings may also take 
up the acceptance of new residents and the expulsion of residents who relapse.  If you ask 
ten residents the question: “Who manages the house?”, nine out of ten will respond: “Oh, 
the inmates run the asylum and it works just fine, thank you.”   
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The self-run feature of Oxford House has two main advantages: [1] it saves expenses by not 
having a paid staff running the House and [2] it builds self-esteem since each resident takes 
pride in the self-management of the House.  Self-esteem is 
particularly important because it is tied to commitment to 
recovery.   The absence of a residency time limit is important 
because everyone in recovery masters recovery at a different 
pace.    

It is pretty easy to find a good house to rent in a nice neighborhood 
but it was not very easy in the early days of expansion. 
Fortunately, OHI has provided the oversight and civil rights 
protection needed to put houses in good neighborhoods.   

The first five Oxford Houses in New Jersey all faced NIMBY (not-in-my-back-yard) zoning 
problems.  It was only through the persistence of OHI that we won those cases.  In 1995, a 
Washington State case – City of Edmonds, WA v. Oxford House, Inc. reached the U.S. 
Supreme Court.  OHI won that case and has won civil rights cases with respect to landlord 
insurance coverage and fire safety issues.   OHI continues to help individual Oxford Houses 
combat discrimination.  We are a functional family and act together to protect our civil 
rights.  

As soon as several Oxford Houses exist in an area, a Chapter is formed and have monthly 
meetings and frequent workshops. Chapters also form state associations to organize 
statewide conventions to teach and learn more about addiction and recovery.  Education is 
always ongoing and has a side benefit of community and socialization.  Residents of Oxford 
Houses also value the opportunity to gather at an annual convention to learn more about 
addiction and to socialize.  As you will read in subsequent portions of this report, some 
adaptations have had to be made to accommodate joining together for meetings and 
workshops during this past year.   

The network of more than 3,000 individual Oxford Houses continues to provide the time, 
peer support and living environment needed to enable comfortable, long-term recovery 
without relapse. 

The 2020 Pandemic 

In 2020, Oxford House. Inc. took on the challenge of operating amidst a worldwide 
pandemic.  I am pleased to report that the central organization, the outreach workers and the 
individual Oxford Houses and their residents have all risen to the occasion and managed to 
develop workarounds and accommodations that safeguard the program and its residents.   

Throughout this report, you will read of ways in which individuals, Houses and Chapters 
have used their unique resources to strengthen their recovery and that of others within their 
network of Oxford Houses.  As you will see, the experiences of many recovering individuals 
have given rise to unique abilities that enable them to adapt to unforeseen and unexpected 
circumstances better than many less-challenged folks.  Resourcefulness and creativity 
sometimes spring from unexpected sources. 

I am particularly proud of the exceptional work being done by COO Kathleen Gibson, the 
central office staff, and all of the outreach workers in the field who are working with the 

HOUSE OFFICERS 

President 
Secretary 
Treasurer 

Comptroller 
Chore Coordinator 
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Oxford Houses and helping to expand the network of Oxford Houses.  All of this work is 
continuing successfully even during the pandemic.   
 
Early in March 2020, before the pandemic became widespread and social-distancing became 
the norm, OHI sponsored a workshop for outreach workers – all of whom are Oxford House 
alumni and now work to teach others how it works.   See group photo below.   
 

 
 
All of the outreach staff are critical to the success and expansion of the Oxford House 
network of houses.  They are the “Johnny Appleseeds” who spread the word and the “Tom 
Sawyers” who convince House members they can do it themselves.  Their job is not to act 
as house managers or supervisors; their role is to act as resource folks who are available to 
help teach others how it works.  It’s not an easy job but they do it and they do it well!   
 

Support and Expansion 
 

I am also exceedingly grateful for the financial support we have received from states, 
localities, behavioral health organizations, individuals and individual Oxford Houses and 
Chapters over the course of the fiscal year. This support has permitted us to continue 
expanding the network and keeping individual Houses on course.  Expansion is greatest 
where OHI receives financial support and where there is a start-up loan fund that permits 
new Oxford Houses to get no-interest loans to help cover start-up expenses.  Start-up loans 
were initially authorized by the U. S. Congress in 1988 and have proven to be an important 
catalyst for expansion.   
 
Much of the support we have received lately is directed toward addressing the opioid crisis 
and, a year ago, my message focused on where Oxford House fits when the national focus 
is opioid addiction.  The founders and most early residents of Oxford Houses were 
alcoholics; however, the fact is that the Oxford House model is as relevant today as it ever 
was – if not more so!  Street drugs may be more potent but the conditions needed to achieve 
long-term recovery remain constant.  Medication and treatment may save lives in the near 
term but recovery models like Oxford House are essential for providing the time and peer 
support needed to achieve the long-term behavior change that supports recovery without 
relapse.   
 

5



Recovery requires more than treatment.  There is enhanced recognition that the evidence-
based Oxford House model greatly increases the likelihood that an individual will achieve 
long-term recovery without relapse.   

In Memoriam 

Over our 46-year history there have been thousands of friends who have provided good 
advice and support to the concept and expansion of opportunity for recovering individuals 
to live in an Oxford House.  Three such friends died this year.  From left to right below: 
Fred Rooney, former Congressman from Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, who, in 1987 convinced 
OHI to establish houses in his old district; Rabbi Abraham Twerks, cofounder of Gateway 
Treatment Centers, who, in 2008, helped OHI to establish a cluster of houses in Butler, 
Pennsylvania; and Father Peter Young, who in 1999 traveled from Albany, New York to 
Washington, D.C. to share his expertise on addiction treatment and recovery at the first 
Oxford House national convention.  

Fred Rooney – 1925 - 2019 Rabbi Twerski – 1930-2020 Father Peter Young – 1930-2020 

The Annual Convention 

For years, residents and alumni from around the country have gathered for an annual Oxford 
House convention.  Because of the pandemic, the 2020 Oxford House convention was 
cancelled.  We all were disappointed on but prudence dictated forbearance.  We all look 
forward to the time when it is again safe for the Oxford House family to get together to 
celebrate recovery and Oxford House.  We hope it can be held in 2021. 

Conclusion 

The past year has been unusual and challenging but everyone in Oxford House has risen to 
the occasion.  I am tremendously proud of all that has been accomplished despite the 
challenges of social-distancing, mask-wearing, and meeting via Zoom – all in addition to 
the usual challenges of recovery.  Kudos to all! 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
FY 2020 was another successful year for Oxford House, Inc. (OHI).  Over the course of the year, the 
total number of Oxford Houses (and recovery beds) continued to rise, quality remained high, and finances 
remained stable – all despite the pandemic!  Our primary focus has been on expanding our program to provide 
more opportunities for individuals recovering from alcoholism and drug addiction to achieve long-term so-
briety without relapse and become fully integrated into the broader society. 
 
Expansion 
 
Led by Paul Molloy, CEO, and Kathleen Gibson, COO, Oxford 
House chartered 321 new Oxford Houses with 2,681 recovery beds 
during CY 2020.  Of the new Houses, 104 were for women and 217 
were for men.  At the end of CY 2020, the Oxford House network 
consisted of a total of 3,040 individual Oxford Houses with a total 
of 24,456 recovery beds.  Demand for Oxford House residency re-
mained high and, on average, there were more than three applicants 
for each vacancy that arose during the year.   Expansion was partic-
ularly strong in those states and localities that supported the creation 
of new Oxford Houses through the provision of start-up loan funds 
and grants to enable OHI to send trained outreach workers to help 
start new houses and teach the system of operation.  Once started, 
Oxford Houses are self-‐run and self-supported in accordance with 
their three charter conditions. 

(The COO/CEO picture at right was taken in 2019 – before the pandemic.) 
 

In FY 2020, OHI had development contracts with 25 states as well as with some treatment providers, behav-
ioral health organizations, localities and drug courts.   Those contracts cover most – but not all – of the 
development and maintenance costs.   Oxford House residents and alumni continue to provide support for 
development in areas without government support.  In 2020, 876 Oxford Houses voluntarily donated at least 
$600 to OHI during the year.  Voluntary contributions from Oxford House residents total $768,141 and pro-
vided nearly 4.8% of the organization’s total FY 2020 expenditures.  Our goal continues to be total self-
support by the year 2075!  The goal is long-term; but not unrealistic!  In a typical year, the Board of Directors 
recognizes these Houses with the Directors’ 100-Year Award – but the convention was cancelled in 2020 as 
a result of the pandemic.  The awards will be made during the scheduled 2021 Convention. 
 
Once a cluster of houses is developed in an area, it becomes easier to expand because of help from existing 
Oxford Houses.   Once providers and state officials see the effectiveness of Oxford House™ development, 
experience has shown them to be interested in supporting the expansion of the network of houses.  The new 
Oxford Houses added in CY 2020 are an indication of the growing realization by states and providers that 
Oxford House™ is an important resource for fostering long-term recovery.  By the end of FY 2020, more 
states, counties and local governments asked OHI to submit proposals for the development and maintenance 
of Oxford Houses.  It is anticipated that OHI will expand into additional states in 2021 as more states recog-
nize the important role that Oxford Houses play in addressing the opioid crisis and recovery in general. 
 
OHI  uses a number of time--‐tested protocols to establish and maintain the network of individual Oxford 
Houses.   Clusters of houses are encouraged to form mutually-supportive chapters to facilitate networking 
between houses and to help monitor charter compliance.  In a similar way, chapters group together to form 
mutually-supportive statewide associations.  Training materials and standardized operating procedures are 
provided to all chartered houses, chapters and state associations.   The OHI central office in Silver Spring, 
Maryland, also trains and supervises field workers to do outreach to states and communities throughout 
the United States and in some foreign countries.  In 2020, much of this work was done online. 
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Financial Results 
 
Overall, OHI finances remained stable even though financial activity increased by 37%.  OHI continued to 
support the expansion and maintenance of the network of Oxford Houses in an extremely cost--‐effective 
manner.  Expenditures by OHI in FY 2020 were $1,297,083 less than income.   
 

Total income in FY 2020 was $17,224,658.   
Income sources are shown in the graph at 
the left.  Federal Awards are almost en-
tirely state block grant funds used by vari-
ous states to pay for development and 
maintenance of existing networks of Ox-
ford Houses.  State and Local Awards are 
agreements that do not include block grant 
or pass--through federal funding.  Contribu-
tions of $1,196,183 includes $768,141 in 
voluntary contributions from individual 
Oxford Houses either directly or through 
chapters.  The rest comes from foundations 
and individuals.  
 

When the federal Paycheck Protection Program was made available OHI applied for a PPP Loan and was 
awarded $1,125,147.  At the end of thirty days, it became clear that OHI did not need the proceeds of the PPP 
Loan to continue its work and keep its employees and repaid the PPP Loan in full. 
 
OHI’s expenditures for FY 2020 total 
$16,134,063.  The OHI expenditures are 
shown in the graph at the right.   Over 99¢ 
of every dollar spent went directly to pro-
gram costs – expanding and maintaining 
the network of Oxford Houses.  Travel, 
telephone and personnel costs account for 
over 86% of costs.   In 2020, OHI outreach 
workers operated in 21 states and Ghana.  
 
A copy of the audited financials and notes to 
the financials is at the end of this report. 

 
Transparency and Research 

 
Throughout the year, OHI continued to encourage Oxford House residents to participate in research.  While 
anonymity has long been the norm for recovering alcoholics and drug addicts, OHI, since its inception, has 
encouraged residents and alumni to participate in research in order to continually evaluate the Oxford House 
model to better understand recovery from alcoholism and drug addiction. 

 
OHI conducts internal surveys and continues to invite independent third-party research.  Since 1991, both 
NIAAA and NIDA have devoted federal behavioral research dollars to studying the Oxford House program 
and its effect on developing long-term recovery.   DePaul University has been a major recipient of such grants. 
The DePaul studies have produced more than 300 articles showing how Oxford House living affects recovery.  
From the DePaul research, Oxford Houses have been able to confirm that they are on the right track.   OHI 
continues to encourage the DePaul researchers and other third-party researchers to evaluate the Oxford House 
program and assess its effectiveness.    

Federal Awards
69%

State & Local 
Awards

21%

Contributions
7%

Convention 
Revenue

3%

OHI FY 2020 INCOME

Federal Awards
69%

State & Local 
Awards

21%

Contributions
7%

Convention 
Revenue

3%

OHI FY 2020 INCOME

Personnel
57%

Travel & 
Lodging

35%

Outreach 
Supplies

6%

Telephone & 
Fax
2%

OHI FY 2020 EXPENSES
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Proven Effectiveness of the Oxford House Model 
 
Beginning in 2011, the government (SAMHSA) listed the Oxford House program as a best practice on the 
National Registry of Evidence-based Programs and Practices (NREPP).   While the 1988 Anti-Drug Abuse 
Act [PL 100-690] represented political acceptance of Oxford House, the NREPP 
listing verified the soundness of the Oxford House model as an evidence-based pro-
gram that significantly improves addiction treatment outcomes.  This finding was 
reinforced in the 2016 U. S. Surgeon General’s report, “Facing Addiction in Amer-
ica” and in ONDCP’s 2020 National Strategy Report that acknowledged the quality 
of the Oxford House™ program and held it up as an organization with a mission to 
improve the quality of recovery support services that should be emulated.  It was 
also reaffirmed by his successor, Dr. Jerome Adams, at the Oxford House convention in September 2019. 
 
Litigation 

 
Establishment and maintenance of an adequate network of recovery homes sometimes requires legal actions 
under the Federal Fair Housing Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act to protect the civil rights 
of residents.  It has now been twenty-six years since the U. S. Supreme Court found in favor of Oxford 
House™ in the landmark case, City of Edmonds, WA v. Oxford House, Inc. 514 US 1776 [1995].  
Nevertheless, local jurisdictions and insurance companies continue to test the limits of the law.  In 2019, 
OHI was engaged in several legal cases to protect the right of recovering individuals to live together in 
order to increase their opportunity for long--‐term recovery.  Fortunately, OHI’s attorney’s fees and court 
costs were minimal. OHI continues to be a leader in defining the extent and scope of rights under the Federal 
Fair Housing Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act.  It will continue to do so as it is important not to 
let the hard-fought rights obtained in the past be eroded by indifference to discrimination.  

 
FY 2021 Focus and Challenges 

 
In FY 2021, OHI will focus on continuing to expand the network of Oxford Houses to provide more oppor-
tunities for individuals seeking long-term recovery without relapse via Oxford House living.  The current 
opioid epidemic has encouraged additional states to enlist OHI’s support for the development of statewide 
networks of recovery homes.  Oxford House anticipates supporting further expansion during FY 2021 and 
providing more needed recovery housing that’s cost-effective and works. 
 
Well-meant calls for recovery home certification continue to pose a challenge. Fly-by-night operations need 
to be regulated but that should be done in a way that protects proven programs like Oxford House™ that rely 
on being treated as ordinary families; not as treatment facilities that require certification and regulation.  The 
Oxford House system of operations has been time-tested and its principle of not owning real property or 
accumulating wealth has shielded it from the malpractice that often plagues recovery house operations.   

 
The 2020 Annual Oxford House World Convention was cancelled as a result of the pandemic. This annual 
gathering provides an opportunity for residents and alumni to join together to learn and socialize.  All partic-
ipants leave conventions with renewed energy, stories and skills to bring back home. We hope to be able to 
hold a convention in 2021. 
 
Conclusion 
 
We end the year with a profound sense of gratitude to all who have made the year so successful. Our contrib-
utors – the states, foundations, individual Oxford Houses and others – have seen the value of the Oxford 
House concept and have supported it.  They have also seen that the staff of OHI and the residents and alumni 
of the individual houses work tirelessly to achieve the OHI goals and objectives.  Most of all, we are grateful 
for all of the residents and alumni of Oxford House who daily prove that ‘the inmates can run the asylum’ 
and, in doing so, they foster long-term recovery without relapse for most residents – even during a pandemic! 
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LIFE IN OXFORD HOUSE DURING THE PANDEMIC  
 
Living in an Oxford House entails many challenges but no one anticipated anything like 
the Covid-19 Pandemic in 2020.  Remarkably, the men and women of Oxford House 
adapted amazingly well.  They ardently took on the challenge of supporting sustained 
recovery without relapse while operating in a very different environment.  This chapter 
details some of the challenges they faced and how they dealt with them.  
 
The challenges were many.  First of all, Oxford Houses are a form of congregate living; 
disparate folks live together as a family.  This structure provides the support of the group 
but also imposes challenges insofar as residents are in and out of the house working at jobs 
and residents frequently share bedrooms – particularly if they are newcomers since that 
facilitates assimilation rather than isolation.  Also, the Oxford House structure relies on 
attendance at 12-step meetings as well as House, Chapter and State Association meetings 
and social get-togethers – all of which support recovery and build community.  The 
pandemic required residents to develop creative work-arounds to permit them to stay safe 
while continuing to support community-building.   
 
The pandemic didn’t leave Oxford Houses unscathed; by the end of December 2020, there 
had been just over 500 confirmed positive COVID-19 cases among Oxford House residents and staff and 
there have been three deaths. The good news is that there were not many more.  
 
This section discusses the myriad ways in which Oxford Houses adapted.  In late 2020, 
residents were invited to provide their testimony about their pandemic experience. 
Excerpts are included in this section.  All together, they speak to the strength and 
resourcefulness of Oxford House residents.  Most of the respondents also discussed their 
addiction and entry into Oxford House but the excerpts focus primarily on coping with the 
pandemic.  Unless noted otherwise, the respondents are all current Oxford House residents. 
 
• I currently reside with four other house members. …We have struggled to find new members. With the 

intake capacity of treatment facilities being lowered, we have seen a large decrease in applicants. This 
has been an issue, not only for the Anastasia house, but for the rest of the houses here in the Huntington 
chapter. We are managing to get more members but it has been a slow process. 

       
We have also had to pull together as a group to support each other from isolating during times of public 
shutdown. With most in-person Alcoholics Anonymous and Narcotics Anonymous meetings being shut 
down or operating at only half-capacity, we have had to adjust to attending those meetings via Zoom, 
as well as our Chapter and Housing Services meetings. It has been a challenging learning process for 
all members, but it seems to be our new way of life, for the unforeseen future. In some ways, it has 
drawn us closer together, and in other ways, it has created more distance between us all physically and 
emotionally. We are all still working to adapt to all the changes and run our houses smoothly and 
efficiently. In these hard times, I am privileged to be a member of Oxford House and not have to face 
this pandemic alone.                                                                   Mary Rapp – Huntington, West Virginia 

 
• The House is truly thriving despite the difficulties everyone has faced this year. Our chapter developed 

a HSR house visit checklist that we started in March and, even though it’s different, it has kept us 
connected during this time of distancing. We also have a sanitizing station at the front door of each 
house. It includes a thermometer, a log book for guests, hand sanitizer and masks for residents/guests.               
                                                                                                            Elischa D. – Nashville, Tennessee  
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• Oxford House Jubilee here in Colorado Springs didn’t change much during the pandemic, other than 
people losing their jobs and us having to be home more.  No one got sick here..  We average about 8 
girls plus 3 kids.  We certainly had to adjust to being around each other more, luckily it was at the time 
when we had a really good group of girls.  We planned movie and dinner nights. Over the summer we 
had a few BBQ’s with the pool set up and a bounce house!  We were kind of on lock-down but we 
certainly didn’t make it feel like that.  We made the best of it.          Cyndi T. – Colorado 

 
• I’ve lived in Oxford House for 5 and half years   My experience has been great. The structure is 

something I knew I needed. … During Covid-19, I was the only one in my House who was laid off. It 
is actually a blessing to have a safe place to live. Unemployment has allowed me to stay current on my 
EES. House rent has stayed affordable. Our house is sanitizing daily and taking proper precautions to 
remain healthy.  Eventually I see myself being completely 
self-supporting. …I am not comfortable moving out yet, 
although I could if I chose to. Today I chose to live my life 
in an Oxford House and give back to what was given to 
me.        Shandy B. - Oxford House Morris - New Mexico 

                                                       
• When I moved into Oxford December 9, 2019, I wasn't 

really sure if I was going to stay. Now I'm thankful I did. 
When the pandemic hit is when I fully unpacked all my 
things from bags and boxes. … Once in-person meetings 
had basically become non-existent, we had to come 
together as a House and make adjustments. Our House would gather and do Zoom meetings or listen 
to AA speakers on our phones for a level of accountability to ensure everyone was still meeting the 
requirements. Without Oxford House, I would not have had any accountability because I wasn't made 
to go to probation or anything during this time.  …. We got to know each other on different levels 
sharing our fears and hopes during this time. We all made adjustments to help and support each other 
in this time of need. I'm extremely thankful for Oxford.                        Lisa Reed – Clarksville, Indiana   

 
• I have lived at Oxford House Beacon of Hope in Mobile Alabama since October 20, 2019. When the 

COVID-19 pandemic hit, it affected how our Chapter functioned as a whole in that we had to start 
doing our Chapter meetings and State Association meetings via Zoom. We're also doing 12-step Zoom 
meetings. Those of us who attended church had to watch our pastor’s sermons online. Our outreach 
worker was restricted from attending House meetings or traveling for Oxford House business. The 
interview process for new members became somewhat difficult as we had to implement new questions. 
such as. "Are you experiencing fever, persistent coughing, etc." We had to stop all unity events as well.  
 
We experienced a considerable amount more relapses during the beginning of the pandemic, And I 
believe it to be due to the newcomers not being able to attend in-person meetings and in-person sponsor 
meetings. During this time, the unemployment rate also became considerably higher, and many of our 
members were laid off due to COVID-19.  Fortunately, most of the members they were able to receive 
the pandemic unemployment benefits. For the newcomers coming in that were already unemployed, it 
was much more difficult and we had to allow more leniency with their payment of EES. Needless to 
say, COVID-19 has shifted the dynamic of how Oxford House usually functions; however, Chapter 2 
has pulled together and showed strength, determination and unity in spite of the pandemic restrictions.  

 
I can honestly say that I am proud to be part of such a loving, strong and unified chapter. Oxford House 
has been a major stronghold in my sobriety despite the unforeseen issues life has thrown at me. 
              Katy Jeter – Alabama 
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• I was released from jail on March 19, 2020. Little did I know I would be homeless during the pandemic,
nor did I know the severity it reached at the government level until I was unable get my ID replaced as
there was no license branch open and services online wasn’t an option because of limitation guidelines.
… I lived outside in a community of other homeless people in tents on a small piece of land owned by
a local company; they were unaware of our presence at first and then unable to evict us due to Covid-
19 government rulings. Although at that time I had already been on the waiting list for Oxford House,
I wasn’t able to be contacted when my name come up for interview.

Finally, I reached my breaking point and wanted to change my life after being asked to move by local 
law enforcement several times, getting robbed several times, and relapsing several times.  I was done. 
Then, at a local outreach picnic, I saw a friend who was a member of the Oxford House who had heard 
about my choice to achieve sobriety.  At the time I had 5 days clean. He got me into this house and now 
I have a home, job, sobriety, and discipline, all as a result of the Oxford House. I have my life back.  

        Jason Smith – Indiana. Oxford House Mariposa, House President/Chapter Secretary 

• Living within Oxford House during the pandemic has had its trying times but has not been so different.
Within our Chapter, we have been lucky enough to only have a few "scares" within the houses. We all
keep up on daily needs of the house when it comes to cleaning and making sure that everything is
disinfected properly when needed. We have kept social distancing rules in place as recommended by
the health department and make sure that simple rules are followed when needed for quarantining. We
have been fortunate in this time to have to deal with any major issues and continue our weekly/monthly
meetings on Zoom as so instructed.

…. Some of us Oxford House members feel that virtual meetings can become impersonal and, with the 
lack of the right setting, can allow distractions to take away from the message that we so desperately 
sometimes need.  Others have found comfort in the setting of not knowing anyone and having the ability 
to share thoughts and experiences to people not only in a different part of Nebraska but, in some cases, 
a different part of the world. All in all, I feel that our meetings have continued at a wonderful rate here 

Tatiana – Nebraska 

• When the stay-at-home order was expanded statewide, a sense of panic set in with multiple women in
the house. Twelve-step meetings were moved online; five of us had lost our jobs; social gatherings
were not being held and the overall biggest issue was not being able to have guests or to visit other
homes; one of the girls called it a feeling of ‘Cloister phobia’. ….  After the July fourth holiday, I 
contracted Covid and our house was placed on lockdown, I was the only one in the house that had tested 
positive. … With not working, many of us would stay up late and have Disney movie marathons, we 
would cook together and started doing group art which now fills our home. I truly don’t believe our 
house would have the strength it does if it had not been for all the time we had spent together.  

Madison - Wilmington North Carolina 

• In addition to the focus on recovery and accountability in Oxford Houses, I had a recent reminder of
the power of unity and support in Oxford House. A member of our House tested positive for Covid-19.
We had an emergency meeting to discuss the protocol for dealing with such an event. The whole House
was supportive in disinfecting the house, moving bedrooms to quarantine the member and arranging
for testing of house members. It reminds me of the video by our founder, Paul Molloy, when infection
rates of this virus were increasing. Paul said that if we show the same support and unity to address this
pandemic as we do in Oxford Houses, then we will weather this storm. Very inspirational!

Josh White – Florida 
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• I have lived in Oxford for 17 months now, so I have gotten to experience before and during this 
pandemic. The House I reside in luckily didn't have anyone get sick or lose their job. Most of us were 
lucky enough to work in the health field on the front lines – whether it was in nursing homes, doing 
laundry for the local hospitals or taking care of the mentally-challenged. Our House had a plan in effect 
that would consist of me and another roommate giving our upstairs room to a roommate if they had 
caught COVID-19 during the pandemic, and we would sleep on the couch. We have the complete 
upstairs set up and ready in the event. Luckily, no one has become sick and we haven't had to pull out 
this plan. Also, we had our House go on a full lockdown, meaning we couldn't leave the house unless 
it was work, probation, or emergency-related. We would get together in the living room and have 12-
step meetings via Zoom and listen to speaker meetings on YouTube and have what we called House 
therapy groups to see how each individual was handling the pandemic. It really brought our House 
residents closer to one another.                                                   Chelsea Payne - Johnson City, Tennessee 
 

• My house got hit with a Covid case. We had to quarantine, and we all were terrified since this is a 
woman and children’s house. Marty and Mustafa dropped off Lysol and supplies for us and offered to 
get us food delivered if we needed it. They also reassured us that we would be okay. I even relied on 
Prudence to help me follow protocol in our house from another city! I  have experienced a whole new 
level of togetherness with Oxford House and I couldn’t be more grateful. Sure, chapter, housing, and 
state meetings aren’t the same right now but seeing all of my people smiling and catching up even if 
it’s over Zoom made those meetings great. Hopefully, soon we can find a way to get together in person! 
This just reminds me not to take personal interaction for granted and that will make the day we all can 
be together again all the more worth it! I believe we can and will get through this! We are Oxford 
strong!                                                                                                       Star - Chattanooga, Tennessee 

 
• The most important lesson that I have learned in being of service is the ability to adapt to new situations 

and always stay in the solution of whatever the situation poses. It is always asked, “How has the 
COVID-19 Pandemic of 2020 affected the way that we conduct business in Oxford House, such as 
social interactions and conducting Chapter and Regional Association meetings?” I am here to say that 
it has actually benefited us tremendously. I feel like Zoom meetings have allowed us to reach the masses 
and have given people the ability to connect in gaining valuable information, education and training 
while in the convenience of their home, multitasking at work or just life in general. It is incredible that 
a virtual platform has provided us with the ability to join in on a meeting while being in a completely 
different physical location and all of us together can be gaining the same information and social 
interaction with someone hundreds of miles away, clear across this great state of Texas. I feel that 
having Zoom meetings rather than in-person meetings has not only allowed us to touch more people at 
once, but also has also allowed us to interact with individuals who normally would have been difficult 
to reach without extensive traveling. I know that one of the main roadblocks in being of service is the 
physical travel to get to, let’s say, Odessa, and also having to get back to Dallas for work a day later 
but virtual meetings have filled this bridge in us being of service to our brothers and sisters in recovery 
in places that are normally hours of travel away from us.  

 
Lastly, I have been asked, “What is the same, different and working or not working, in using a virtual 
platform?” My response is simple. This virtual platform is serving as a way to touch a life internally, 
without touching one physically and, at the same time, not putting someone’s life in jeopardy. I 
personally do not feel that there is a negative to using a virtual platform other than not being able to 
physically touch someone and that is something that we are asked to limit as this virus is transmitted 
by physical interactions, which this platform eliminates. So, as we continue to see what unfolds in this 
unprecedented time of uncertainty, we can continue to rely on a constant and solid way to communicate 
in a safe and effective manner, with this virtual platform.                                     Jose Contreras – Texas 
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• In my opinion Zoom meetings were a Godsend! Not only did I observe a much higher turnout than at
in person meetings, but also increased attention spans of the participants. Once everyone got familiar
with the Zoom format and grew accustomed to the virtual meeting protocol, each meeting went much
more smoothly than in person. People had to utilize more restraint, there was less interrupting during
healthy discussion and more respectful listening. The format allows the chairperson to mute participants
when necessary, something one can't do in person. Getting
a room full of addicts to stop all the chatter and cross-talk
is more challenging than simply clicking a button. There is
a chat feature that is extremely helpful to share phone
numbers, names, and links to resources.

Living in a rural area, Oxford Houses are spread between 
several small cities, so virtual meetings eliminate the 
expense and time of travel. The pandemic and subsequent 
quarantining gave members precious time to participate in 
trainings that are normally more difficult to organize 
without Zoom. In the North Texas Region, we have had multiple training sessions each month for very 
specific topics that might not normally be covered. For example, we hosted a House Inspection training, 
HSR & HSC training, Successful Recruiting & Presentations Training, an Accountability Workshop, 
Relapse Prevention Training; all these in addition to our regular Newcomer training, House Officer 
training, Chapter Officer training, and MAT/MAR training. The virtual platform can also lend itself 
nicely to online gaming nights as we discovered a few months into the pandemic. Unity is still possible 
even though we can't give each other hugs like we are accustomed to. The Oxford model has proven 
resilient, even in the strange new normal of a Covid-19 world.                         Maureen Dobyns –Texas 

• I moved into Oxford House during the beginning of the outbreak of the Covid pandemic, April of 2020.
Most people at this time were being laid off but I was considered an essential worker. Those of my
household that were laid off were provided resources that offered counseling through a local agency
who in return assisted them with EES. Even prior to these resources being available, none of us was at
risk of being expelled as long as we were still being accountable for working our recovery and being
proactive for our own well-being. Oxford House provided us with outreach support & resources for
Zoom meetings to assist us during this very real struggle. We had people who would call & check on
us, even stop by when necessary to make sure we were okay. Being at an Oxford House during this
global crisis ensured the safety & security of my well-being and sobriety when I otherwise could have
been homeless & relapsed - Lord only knows where. Oxford House is not a home with sobriety &
accountability; it’s a family & support unlike you can find anywhere else.          Desiree Jones – Florida

• … We got to try a new way to go about staying involved thru Zoom meetings. Awkward at first, but
anything for us to stay in contact was better than no contact.  I got to grow through this and adjusted
quickly. Did I like it, no... but, in recovery, I'm willing to do what it takes, so there I was. It was hard
with video or audio failing at times and everyone struggling with talking over each other made it
aggravating.  We eventually got to use this method in all our normal recovery meetings, in Oxford
meetings, and we were finally able to speak in the Magnolia Ridge and other facilities again. I am
thankful for it, because I know firsthand that I was able to reach others through this method. They later
reached out to me when they were released.                              Brad Collins – Johnson City, Tennessee

As each of the stories attests, life in Oxford House during the pandemic has not been easy; 
however, the Houses and their residents have all adapted to the new reality and have done 
whatever needed to be done to support recovery while keeping everyone as safe as 
possible.  In the process, they may also have uncovered new ways of communicating that 
will continue to be useful even after the pandemic ends.   
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OPIOID ADDICTION AND OXFORD HOUSE 

While the pandemic is at the top of the news these days, the opioid crisis has not gone away.  Opioid 
addiction continues to be a national crisis and there are reports that methamphetamine use is increasing.  
Since its beginnings in 1975, Oxford Houses have been home to residents recovering from addiction to 
opioids and most have achieved long-term recovery.  Over time, however, opioids have become more lethal 
and, as a result, medication-assisted treatment (MAT) is now the norm for treating opiate addiction; it stems 
craving and MAT clients are more likely to achieve long-term sobriety – particularly if they receive 
recovery support.  Many Oxford House residents today are using MAT and achieving sustainable long-term 
recovery through medication AND Oxford House living.   

Opioid addiction was a major topic at 2019 Oxford House convention. The photo below shows the 
Addiction Research Panel which included Wilson Compton, M.D., Deputy Director of NIDA; Joshua 
Sharfstein, M.D. of Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health;; John Kelly, Ph.D., of Harvard;  
Kevin Sabat, Ph.D., CEO of SAM; Stuart Gitlow, M.D.; and Westley Clark, M.D., former CSAT Director. 
They were joined at the last minute by VADM Jerome M. Adams, M.D. M.P.H., U.S. Surgeon General. 

A keynote panel was entitled, “The Opioid Crisis – The View from the Trenches” featured two physicians 
specializing in addiction and six Oxford House alumni who have dealt with their opioid addiction and now 
work with Oxford House residents who are new to recovery.  Both Dr. Gitlow, who moderated the panel, 
and the panelists with longer sobriety, spoke of their evolution in recognizing the value of MAT and the 
role it can play in helping opioid addicts avoid death and achieve recovery.   

Panelists also acknowledged that MAT alone is unlikely to result in long-term recovery.  Four tools are 
generally acknowledged to be necessary for achieving recovery without relapse: (1) intervention; (2) 
detoxification; (3) treatment; and (4) long-term behavior change.  These tools are most effective when used 
together.  Traditionally, there has been support for the first three stages but the weakest link is support for 
environments that foster long-term behavior change.  While 12-Step programs have long preached the need 
to ‘change people, places and things’, that is easier said than done.  More often than not, individuals 
completing treatment go back to where they came from.  Returning ‘home’ may thwart even the most 
highly-motivated individual; e.g., a recovering incarcerated person re-entering society who goes back to an 
old neighborhood is likely to be welcomed home only by his or her drug dealer.  That’s a recipe for relapse. 

Oxford House residents and alumni addicted to opioids (and/or other substance) achieve long-term recovery 
mainly because Oxford Houses offer peer support, a time-tested structure and no time limits on residency. 
Oxford House living builds self-confidence in recovery. Residents share in the elected leadership of their 
House, participate in Oxford House social activities, get jobs, mentor new residents, and abstain from the 
use of alcohol and illicit drugs.  These Oxford House characteristics work to support long-term recovery 
for most Oxford House residents, whether or not they also use medication to support recovery. 
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BUILDING COMMUNITY 
 
“Building Community” is an important aspect of creating sustained recovery without relapse.  While there 
are many definitions of ‘community,’ two cited frequently are: (1) A group of people living in the same 
place or having a particular characteristic in common; and (2) A feeling of fellowship with others, as a 
result of sharing common attitudes, interests, and goals.  For Oxford House residents, the concept of 
“Building Community” goes beyond just living together and being in recovery and requires a far more 
active role in creating feelings of fellowship with others. 
 
Oxford Houses are not just places to live – they are families and part of the broader community of Oxford 
House families as well as of their own local neighborhood community.  The common interest that brings 
Oxford House residents and alumni together is the desire to become comfortable enough in sobriety to 
avoid relapse.  For over eighty years AA has demonstrated the power of self-help based on the common 
interest of a shared disease.   Millions have transformed their lives through AA/NA.  The same common 
bond that unites individuals in AA/NA unites residents and alumni of Oxford House.  The shared 
hardship of their active addiction becomes a common bond.  Because an Oxford House™ is a place of 
residence, the bond is even stronger than in 12-Step groups.   
 
Common purpose isn’t enough, however.  Oxford House residents work together to create supportive 
families and communities.  Each Oxford House has a weekly meeting in which everyone participates and 
has an equal voice.  Each House elects five house officers who have specific duties and responsibilities 
and serve for only six months at a time.   The term limits are important to combat ‘bossism.’  Individuals 
rise to the challenge of being a House officer.  The duties of the office help provide the officeholder with 
leadership skills and new self-esteem while also ensuring smooth management of the Oxford House.   
 
The building of community does not stop within the four walls of a particular Oxford House as Houses 
bond together to form chapters.  Chapters help Houses work out problems and assure quality control 
among Oxford Houses within the chapter.  Chapters also promote sobriety and build community by 
organizing social events – picnics and other get-togethers.  Since membership in a chapter is voluntary, it 
behooves chapters to engage in community-building activities to gain the support of Oxford House 
residents and alumni as well as neighbors not in recovery.   
 
Each Oxford House is a community of individuals living together to support each other’s sobriety; 
however, residents also reach out to the broader community to be seen both as a recovery resource and as 
a good neighbor.  In Florida, where Oxford House has just 
begun establishing a network of houses, Oxford House 
residents focus on picking up litter in the street.  (See 
photo at right.)   
 
Many Oxford Houses invite their neighbors to visit during 
Recovery Month (and at other times).  Neighbors are 
sometimes leery of having recovery houses in their 
neighborhoods; Oxford House residents, because of their 
focus on recovery and being good neighbors, can do much 
to help the community understand addiction and recovery 
and learn that Oxford house residents are ordinary folks 
who are conquering a common addiction.  The lack of 
anonymity among Oxford House residents fosters greater 
awareness and understanding of recovery in the broader community.   Within a few years of existence, an 
Oxford House is likely to become viewed by the non-recovering members of a city or town with 
considerable pride.  Throughout the country landlords pass the word to other residential property owners 
that renting to a group of recovering individuals forming an Oxford House is good business.  The 
property tends to stay rented year after year and the tenants usually pay the rent on time.     
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Building community within the recovery community is also a good practice.  Most Oxford House 
residents attend AA and NA meetings and interact with the broader recovery community.  In addition, 
Oxford House residents reach out to those just beginning recovery, offering fellowship and introducing 
folks to the Oxford House program.  Many residents go back to their treatment facilities to talk to current 
residents about Oxford House and how it works.  Other Oxford House residents work with re-entry 
groups to encourage inmates in recovery to consider Oxford House residence upon release.  Others 
engage in projects like “Hands Across the Bridge” and other Recovery Month programs.   
 
When Oxford House began expansion in 1989 as a result of §2036 of the 1988 Anti-Drug Abuse Act, the 
National Association of State Alcohol and Drug Addiction Directors [NASADAD] was promoting the 
slogan, “Treatment Works.”    Reality undercut the validity of that slogan.  At best, treatment kept 
alcoholics, drug addicts and those with co-occurring mental illness out of the way for a short period of 
time.  When individuals left residential treatment – or began to feel better as a result of temporary 
abstinence during outpatient treatment – most returned to drinking alcohol and/or using illicit drugs.  
 
The practical need was – and even today for most – is to find a way to provide a living environment 
focused on recovery long enough for a person to develop sobriety comfortable enough to avoid relapse.  
Oxford House fulfills that need because it can be developed at low cost and maintained at even lower 
cost.  The blueprint below shows the personal characteristics embraced by Oxford House residents. 
 

 
 
Today, the need for more effective, low-cost ways to help alcoholics, drug addicts and those with co-
occurring mental illness continues to be great and is likely to become greater in the wake of the extra 
stress caused by the pandemic.  This will put great strain on both the cost and provision of care.  And it 
needs to be recognized that there are severe costs to not providing effective treatment; for example, today 
only about one in seven alcoholics, drug addicts, and those with co-occurring mental illness is getting 
formal treatment, and even they are likely to cycle in and out of treatment or prison.  Society shouldn’t 
accept these kinds of costs. 
 
Oxford House was built on the premise that relapse does not have to be part of long-term recovery.   By 
providing time, peer support, and disciplined, self-run, self-supported, sober households, Oxford Houses 
make staying clean and sober without relapse the norm, not the exception.  
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FROM PRISON TO RECOVERY IN OXFORD HOUSE 
 

Over three-quarters of the Oxford House population has done some jail or prison time. Many Oxford House 
residents have served only a few days but other residents have served many years in prison.   In America 
today, a majority of individuals in jails or prison are addicted to alcohol and/or drugs.  Each year, thousands 
of those who are incarcerated re-enter society.   Within one year of re-entry, many of them will commit 
another crime and be headed to conviction and re-entry to incarceration.  This is very costly for both the 
individual and for society. 
 
The experience of those who enter an Oxford House following incarceration is usually long-term recovery 
and crime-free behavior.  In some states, Oxford House has developed relationships with re-entry programs 
that permit those leaving incarceration to go straight to an Oxford House.  This process has worked very 
well.  Other residents come to Oxford House at the recommendation of drug courts or parole officers, who 
have found that their clients tend to do well if they live in an Oxford House.   Not only does such intervention 
motivate clients to begin to master the recovery process, it also saves taxpayers the costs of incarceration 
and recidivism. 
 
The question is sometimes asked as to how well can folks just coming out of jail or prison adapt to living 
in an Oxford House.  Generally speaking, they do very well.  Oxford House residents who enter an Oxford 
House from incarceration are exposed to participatory democracy rather than to institutional authority.  
They are elected to leadership positions and undertake shared responsibility for the operation of the house.  
Most residents rise to the occasion.  This kind of real-life training is rare for most individuals re-entering 
society.   
 
Residents entering Oxford House following incarceration sometimes have valuable lessons to teach other 
members of their Oxford House.  For example, consider the experience of Kristina Hills, an Oxford House 
resident in Tucson. Arizona, who had been in and out of prisons and jails for over 40 years before she 
finally got into an Oxford House.  She did well and was elected to House and Chapter positions.  Her 
testimony presented a unique perspective of skills developed in prison that now served her and her fellow 
Oxford House residents well: 
 

• “……When COVID-19 hit, I adjusted easily to a quiet life at home, but I saw others struggling, and 
I shared the coping techniques I’d developed in prison with my housemates to help them adapt and 
thrive.  It has been a blessing to have so much free time to focus on my recovery, and the more I 
learn about Oxford House, the more I believe that everything –all the mistakes I made—have led 
me to where I am now. I have a unique set of skills and experiences that allow me to help addicts 
when others can’t. At 18 months sober, I began working at a local treatment center. I love my job, 
and my life, more than I ever thought possible.”                               Kristina Hills – Tucson, Arizona 
 

OHI began working with the prison system in Texas after a parole official did a small informal survey of 
what happened to a group of folks released from that system either to an Oxford House or back to where 
they had lived prior to incarceration.  He found that most of those who went to an Oxford House were still 
clean and sober whereas those who had gone home had had new encounters with the criminal justice system.   
 
The Oxford House re-entry program in North Carolina has been highly successful in facilitating the 
transition of incarcerated individuals from prison to an Oxford House.  Funded in part with State funds, 
since 2005, the program has enabled 1,691 individuals to transition directly from incarceration to an Oxford 
House. Over the last six months of CY 2020, 126 individuals transitioned from prison to an Oxford House. 
Programs have been established at numerous correctional facilities in the state and members of Oxford 
House’s Criminal Justice Outreach Staff regularly make presentations at correctional facilities to educate 
individuals about Oxford House.  Oxford Houses conduct telephone admission interviews with individuals 
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about to leave incarceration and, if accepted into an Oxford House, they are taken directly to their new 
residence upon release.  
  
Other states including New Jersey, Louisiana, Oklahoma, Texas, Washington State, Oregon and Hawaii 
also have strong Oxford House re-entry programs.  Many individuals just being released from prison have 
no place to go except back to their old neighborhoods and friends.  More often than not, that kind of 
transition leads to a return to drug use, crime and incarceration.   
 
Oxford House works closely with drug courts and many drug court judges encourage clients to seek 
admission to an Oxford House.  They have generally found that sending a client to an Oxford House leads 
to a better outcome that imprisonment.  Below is an excerpt from a 2020 story of a woman who came into 
Oxford House from a family drug court in Oregon: 
 

• “I have been living in Oxford for over 2 years now and have no rush to leave the strength I find 
here. I first came into Oxford under the requirement of another program I 
was in called Family Drug court. I was scared and didn’t know how to 
trust other women; how to communicate; or how to be a mother. 
Everything at first was overwhelming… But I would do it 10x over!  
 
The level of growth I have gained in Oxford and in these women with 
whom I have been gifted to live with has taught me so much not only in 
myself but how to help others. I can listen and be heard, set healthy 
boundaries, know how to ask for help or be there when it is asked of me. 
I can trust other women and be trusted. There is so much strength I have 
gained not only in my sobriety but as a mother growing and learning in 
Oxford. I have stepped up and became a bigger part of Oxford by being 
of service within our Chapter as the Chapter treasurer. It has been such a 
gift and I am so grateful for this.”                                                       Ashley Richards - Bend, Oregon 
 

Oxford House is one of the few sober living environments in the country that truly integrates individuals 
who come from all strata of society – rich and poor, educated and uneducated, as well as ‘has beens’ and 
‘never weres.’   
 
Oxford House residents who come into an Oxford House from incarceration are exposed to participatory 

democracy rather than institutional authority.  They are elected to 
leadership positions and undertake shared responsibility for the 
operation of the house.  Most residents rise to the occasion.   
 
This kind of real-life training and round-the-clock peer support is 
rare for most individuals re-entering society. However, it is what 
happens in every Oxford House.  Most residents have spent at 
least a little time in jail and they can relate to other residents – 
whether they have been incarcerated for a few days or many 
years.  (The photo at left shows a re-entry tee-shirt logo on an 
Oxford House resident.  The photo was taken at the 2019 Oxford 
House convention – prior to the pandemic. )  

 
The following pages present excerpts from personal recovery stories submitted in 2020 by Oxford House 
residents and alumni who had been incarcerated prior to entering an Oxford House and discuss its effect on 
them and their recovery.   
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Excerpts from 2020 Stories Highlighting Recovery in Oxford House After Incarceration 
 

These excerpts are taken from stories submitted in the Fall of 2020.  Unless noted otherwise, the 
respondents are all current Oxford House residents. 

 
• “...The longest time clean I had was 18 days.  I was living on the streets in Lewiston eating pizza from the 

dumpster and was stealing and dealing to get my fix. ... The Rider program at South Boise Women's Correctional 
Center really did help. It exposed some of the things that I was too scared to show. It began a process of healing 
I desperately needed. I found my way to recovery in shackles but today (even though I'm on probation) I am more 
free than I ever have been.”    

 
“I was released February 13, 2020 to the Oxford House here in Lewiston. I wasn’t exactly happy at the thought 
of living with more women after getting released from prison but, these women became my family. … I work 
hard for my recovery every day. I go to regular meetings; I have a sponsor; I work the steps; I go to counselling; 
I do whatever is necessary to stay clean and to heal from the wreckage of my past. My recovery has become my 
whole life and it is because of my recovery and these programs that I have been given the chance to really live! “   

Ashlei Ryan – Lewiston, Idaho 
  
• “…I went to jail after running from the police and overdosing. I began to feel that after living through that then 

maybe there was a greater purpose for my life. Even after that, I still continued to get high while in jail, which is 
definitely where I went after running from the police. I began taking LRADAC classes while I was locked up. 
When I finally went to court, I asked the judge to allow me to go back to inpatient rehab which he granted along 
with enrolling in a sober living community when I left.  

 
My counselor suggested Oxford House and I figured with so many houses worldwide it had to be helping people. 
I went into my 1st Oxford House on October 17th of 2019. … I had tried living sober with no program and no 
recovery network and failed time and time again. Oxford House has given me a gift in my recovery and a life that 
I never thought possible. I have gained friendships through Oxford House and know there really are people out 
there that I can call at any time and they'll be there for me. And they know it goes both ways. I had given up on 
the whole word "friend." I thought life consisted of people you could use and people that would use you.  I could 
not have been more wrong, and I can honestly say, without Oxford House, I would never have known the 
difference. It has taught me responsibility as well as the ability to hold others accountable.  

 
I have a job where I have been employed for almost a year and I had never maintained a job for that much time.. 
I have health insurance, dental and even a 401k. All of these are things I never would have had without Oxford 
House and the guidance I gained from my brothers and sisters in Oxford. I have amazing relationships with my 
family and those around me which I thought would never be …  Service work has been one of many great things 
that has helped keep me sober and focused. Since I began this journey, I have opened a new house as a core 
member, become a chapter officer and helped others in the same ways I was helped.     Jason B. – South Carolina    

 
• “My story of addiction is like so many others, it consumed every part of my life for many years. I have now 

actually been a drug addict for more years than not. …… I went to prison and while there I made the decision 
that I was going to do whatever it took not to go back to the life I had. I wasn’t sure what I had to do but whatever 
it was, it would be better than what I was doing. .. I was having a terrible time finding a place that would accept 
me.. … Everywhere I submitted applications for sober living, I was turned down.  Finally, after numerous attempts 
with other organizations, I got a ‘yes’ from Oxford House the day after I turned in my application.  

 
..At the Oxford House, a member opened the door and I introduced myself and the guy said, “Hey, yea, we have 
been expecting you. Welcome Home!  … What that House and those members did for me is not able to be re-
paid ever. It gave me structure when I needed it. They told me to go to 12-step meeting and learn how to cope 
with my addiction and discover what causes me to do the things I do and finally how to combat it. It taught me 
how to budget and pay my bills. It taught me how to get along with other types of people and have gratitude that 
I am not alone. While I lived in Oxford, I held house, chapter, and rural offices. I got involved because my 
program taught me that getting involved helps me stay sober.  
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I have since moved out of Oxford, taking with me the principles and routines I learned from those men and that 
House with me. I still attend meetings daily, I still budget and pay my bills, I still work at my program, and most 
importantly I still stay involved in Oxford House. I stay involved because not only does it help me stay sober, but 
I want to be apart of something that gives second chances to people like me. People that don’t feel like they 
deserve another chance.  Oxford House does that every day. It gives chances to people where chances and hope 
is scarce. I am blessed to be allowed to be a part of something that helps change and shape lives, lives that were 
otherwise discarded and lost. We do recover!”                Scott R. – Oklahoma – Oxford House Alumnus 

 
• “…Before moving into an Oxford House my life was in a constant state of chaos. I lived by my own rules and 

did what I wanted when I wanted. I had zero structure and less accountability.  Every day I would wake up trying 
to figure out how I was going to get my next fix. I did some things that I am not 
proud of and ended up going to prison for 6 years.  While I was locked up, I 
made a conscious decision that it was time to wake up and get sober. I thought 
it was going to be easy because I was locked up and that I wouldn’t be able to 
get anything. Boy was I wrong. I stuck to my guns and I’m happy to say that I 
am coming up on 6 years sober.  

   
Coming straight out of prison to an Oxford House, I was not happy that I was 
going to have to follow yet another set of rules and be held accountable and hold 
other members accountable.  Turns out it was much easier than I expected  ..  
While living here I have the structure and accountability that I need.  If it wasn’t 
for this place I have absolutely no doubt in my mind I would be back in full 
blown addiction.   I have found friends that share the same goals I have; they’ve 
help me turn my life around and stay sober.  Anytime I go out to meetings I share 
my experience of living in the house and try to spread the Oxford House name and how it has helped me and how 
it could help others looking for a safe healthy place for their recovery.                           Ben Radovich – Wisconsin
                   

• Before coming into Oxford House in May 2019, I was addicted to heroin and methamphetamine, and was living 
under a bridge in downtown Houston. I’d graduated from Rice University with a master’s degree and began taking 
painkillers during my Ph.D. work. I eventually failed out of graduate school and started experimenting with illegal 
drugs. In 2015, I moved in with my dealer and began injecting meth and heroin. I lost touch with my family, my 
principles, and my goals. My only suicide attempt ended with the realization that if I just put enough heroin in 
my body, I no longer had to feel my feelings, remember my memories, or face my failures.  
 
At the beginning of 2019, I’d been homeless for 4 years, and got arrested for felony possession of a controlled 
substance. The judge allowed me to participate in a “pre-trial intervention” program. Sober living was one of the 
requirements, and after 45 days of treatment, I applied and was accepted to Oxford House Yorkwood. After 30 
days, I was elected to the Chapter Chair position, and the weekend I spent in Washington, DC at the Annual 
Convention opened my eyes to the vast recovery community that I was a part of. I was fascinated by the Oxford 
House Model, and soon rediscovered my love of teaching. Watching others grow and begin to believe in 
themselves again gave me a sense of purpose that I’d never had before.  
 
In February, I moved to Tucson to work for Oxford House, which has strengthened my recovery immensely. 
Living with a group of women who share a common goal has allowed me to develop a degree of independence 
that I have never had, and a sense of purpose so strong that I’ve forgotten what emptiness feels like.  

Sarah Graham – Tucson, Arizona – Oxford House Outreach  
 

• During my rehabilitation at the MASH Facility in Lubbock, Texas there was a gentleman by the name of Tom 
H., who brought a presentation about Oxford House. My first thought was, “A frat house without drugs & 
alcohol!” Well, where do I sign up? It was music to my ears! He spoke of the success that Oxford House had been 
for so many years; my second thought was I cannot pass up this opportunity. After all, I had nothing to lose. So, 
I applied, had my interview, and was accepted. I found home at the Richard Lee Oxford House in Lubbock. 
Finally! A step in the right direction. It gave me a boost of confidence. The guys in that house were like brothers 
and they took me in as their own. As a matter of fact, some are still my friends today. A year went by and 
something was missing. I had many sponsors but had not done the work.    
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I relapsed. I quickly turned to my brothers and it was suggested that, after 30 days, getting a sponsor, and putting 
in work, I could re-interview at the house. I did it and came back. The one thing my brothers gave me was 
accountability. I was desperate to have it back! From that point on, I was determined to earn everything outright. 
Oxford House helped me to become successful at all the little things that mattered, from paying bills to having 
made some of the best relationships ever. They showed me a way of love and tolerance that would help me grow.  
 
I have since moved out and live on my own but still stay connected. I’ve been an Oxford Alumnus since April of 
2017 and have managed to start a successful Alumni Association of Dallas-Ft. Worth which has come to grow 
with 29 other Alumni who can each tell you about the success they’ve become – all because of this place called 
Oxford House. As part of the Alumni Association, I can continue to grow alongside my peers.  Oxford House, 
along with a 12-step program, gave me a life of recovery beyond my wildest dreams. Oxford House saved my 
life and, without it, I do not know if I ever would have been found.                                Michael - Texas – Alumnus 

 
• Life before recovery and Oxford House was many trips to jails and institutions, and many failed attempts 

to get sober and clean. …. I was homeless and running wild. …. Today, I'm 8 months sober, working 2 
jobs, almost completed a 3-year probation term and am an active member in the Oxford House recovery 
world.  I'm currently Fundraising Chair with the Reentry Committee. I’m currently the President at 
Oxford House Beacon Hill and being of service whenever possible with the Reentry Committee. … Oxford 
House has given me the chance to learn about accountability, saving money, prioritizing, working an honest 
program, being of service, helping others and doing things.       Terrall Guidry, Sr. – San Antonio, Texas 

 
• While serving my time, a fellow inmate told me about Oxford House… During my 

interview I was very nervous but it went very well and I was accepted.   …After 3 
months, I accepted a Chapter position as Secretary. I have really come to care a lot 
about OH. I especially like the brotherhood in OH Winterfell. This whole experience 
has really made an impact on my life. I now have a more positive attitude and outlook 
on life.  

 
My goal is to work at a Detox/Treatment Center. I would really like to help others by 
sharing my experience, strength and hope and how much OH has affected me.  I 
would really like to move into the next new men’s house and help train the new 
members in the OH Model and Best Practices as well as the house positions. I have 
achieved a solid recovery and the continuous will to always stay clean and sober. OH 
has taught me how to be responsible with my own finances and paying bills. I owe a lot to OH. I will always be 
grateful for OH and hold it close to my heart.     Jose “Gabriel” Barragan –Arizona 

 
• I caught my first drug charge and lost my kids. The judge sent me to prison rehab, then I went to treatment. … I 

got in more trouble and ended up in prison.  The day I got out of prison, I got high. … I finally went to a long-
term treatment center. Then my sponsor suggested I go to an Oxford House…I got an interview and I was accepted 
in Oxford House Kinghill.  When I walked in the door, the ladies hugged me and said: ‘Welcome home’ and I 
couldn’t stop crying; this was all so new to me. I hadn’t had a home for a very long time.  
 
I started seeing my twins .. and… I thought it would be a great idea to move in with their grandmother and so I 
left the Oxford House after a few months being there. I wasn’t ready… I started feeling overwhelmed - old feelings 
came up and I was on the edge. I always talked to the ladies at the Oxford House pretty much every day and about 
the third call and me crying, they said. “Come home Barbara. This is where you need to be.”  I went back home 
the Oxford House and this is really where my journey really started. I started getting involved with the House and 
the Chapter more. …I started getting involved with housing services then was asked to move into another House 
to help and I started doing presentations at treatment centers. I got to help open a house. ... I really loved being 
involved and Oxford House gave me the time I needed to grow and be the responsible adult that I am today. 
 
Moving forward, I moved out got my own home and my oldest son and the twins live with me now. I’m part of 
all my children’s lives today and I also have a grandbaby. I now work as a Reentry Coordinator for Oxford House 
for North Carolina. Who would have ever thought after what happened I would have my kids with me today and 
a Job I truly love my life has meaning today. I am grateful for my 12-step program and Oxford House. I hope to 
continue this journey for many years!       Barbara Kidder - North Carolina – Oxford House Outreach 
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DEVELOPMENT THAT WORKS 

Expansion of the network of Oxford Houses throughout the United States has been facilitated by agreements 
between individual states and Oxford House, Inc. [OHI].   State support has facilitated opening more Oxford 
Houses and increasing capacity while also giving the Houses more help from Oxford House outreach 
workers.  This support increases the availability of good recovery housing in the state and does so at a very 
reasonable cost.   

The typical agreement between a state agency and OHI provides for two services to be provided by OHI: 
[1] the administration of a recovery home start-up revolving loan fund and [2] the provision of technical
assistance to develop new Oxford Houses and help maintain the existing network of Oxford Houses. OHI
first entered into such agreements in 1989 and today has them with half the states and the District of
Columbia.

Revolving Loan Fund 

Revolving loan fund agreements follow the amended specifications of 42 USC 300x-25 [§2036 of PL 100-
690], the 1988 Federal Anti-Drug Abuse Act, which permits states to use federal funding to help start self-
run, self-support recovery homes.  Under such agreements, OHI invites loan applications, evaluates the 
applications for approval and administers the revolving loan fund.   For example, the agreement between 
OHI and the State of Washington is 30 years old and the initial $100,000 loan fund has been ‘recycled’ 
more than 350 times – having made a total of $1.5 million in loans.  The result is that Washington State has 
349 Oxford Houses with 3,057 beds and is still growing.  The start-up loan funding provides the financing 
needed for a group of six or more individuals to rent a suitable house and establish it as an Oxford House. 

Technical Assistance Funding 

Technical assistance funding permits OHI to hire Outreach Workers to help start new Oxford Houses and 
to serve as resource persons for the entire network of Oxford Houses in the state.  All Outreach Workers 
are recovering individuals who have lived in an Oxford House and have first-hand experience with how the 
model works.  They are able to understand and relate to the newcomer as they have all had the same 
experience of being new in recovery and coming into an Oxford House.   

The Role of Outreach Workers 

Outreach workers are not house managers; they are educators who guide House residents in learning how 
to operate their Oxford House.  They have been called ‘Tom Sawyers’ because of their ability to get others 
to do the work needed to run a good Oxford House.  In recovery stories that 
are written by Oxford House residents and alumni, reference is often made to 
having been ‘Tom Sawyered’ or ‘voluntold’ to undertake certain tasks 
themselves.  This is very valuable; residents would not be helped by outreach 
workers who took on the work themselves. 

Outreach workers find suitable houses to rent; contact local treatment providers 
to alert them to vacancies, find active recovery groups, and generate interest in 
the development of clusters of Oxford Houses to provide the time, peer support 
and safe living environment for those recovering from addiction.   Once a new 
Oxford House is opened, outreach workers teach House residents the nuts and 
bolts of the Oxford House™ time-tested system of operation – from observing 
the Charter conditions to running House meetings, working with other Oxford 
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Houses, chapters and the community at large, and by also using OHI’s real-time vacancy listing  
(www.oxfordvacancies.com) to post House vacancies and to identify where there are vacancies.   Every 
Oxford House is contacted automatically each week via text to a cell phone to identify if it has vacancies. 
It is then texted again immediately following its regular house meeting to determine if the vacancy has been 
filled.  This enables anyone looking for a space to find one and it permits OHI to track supply and demand. 

The box below details specific tasks for which Outreach Workers are trained.  At the close of FY 2020, 
OHI employed more than 200 outreach workers located in 25 states and the District of Columbia. The box 

at left details specific tasks for which Outreach workers are 
trained.   Like Mark Twain’s Tom Sawyer, they motivate their 
students to do for themselves rather than managing or furnishing 
or otherwise operating the individual Oxford Houses or 
chapters.  Unlike Tom, they are not driven by laziness but by the 
understanding that only through self-reliance can the typical 
Oxford House resident become confident enough to maintain a 
lifestyle of recovery without relapse.  They all know what it’s 
like to come into an Oxford House for the first time – probably 
scared, not real happy to be there, and wanting to just get it over
with and get on with life.  They know that succeeding in an
Oxford House and in recovery requires stepping up and actively 

participating.  Most Oxford House residents rise to the occasion and outreach workers facilitate this.   

The participatory democracy, self-reliance and safe supportive living environment afforded in every Oxford 
House has shown that it is possible to make recovery without relapse the norm rather than the exception.  
By being self-run and self-supported Oxford House™ is unlike any other sober or recovery home.  There 
are no big bosses.  There is no institutional living environment.  It operates as a functional family connected 
with others having a shared interest in long-term recovery without relapse.   

Oxford House™ is an evidenced-based best practice that not only has 46-years of experience but also 
opened itself to academic study.  The National Institutes of Health [both NIAAA and NIDA] have spent 
money on research to prove that it works.  DePaul University in Chicago has published more than 250 
scholarly articles on research financed by NIH over the last 20 years.  A 2007 study published in Addictive 

Behaviors [32 (2007) 803-818] https://www.oxfordhouse.org/userfiles/file/doc/nida_after.pdf reported that 
897 Oxford House residents [604 men; 293 women] living in 219 Oxford Houses across the country were 
interviewed over a 24 - month period every four months.  At the final wave of interviews, 13.5% reported 
using any alcohol or illicit drugs.  Beginning in 2011, the government (SAMHSA) listed the Oxford House 
program as a best practice on the National Registry of Evidence-based Programs and Practices (NREPP). 
While the 1988 Anti-Drug Abuse Act [PL 100-690] represented political acceptance of Oxford House, the 
NREPP listing verified the soundness of the Oxford House model as an evidence-based program that 
significantly improves addiction treatment outcomes. This finding was reinforced in the 2016 U. S. Surgeon 
General’s report, “Facing Addiction in America” and in ONDCP’s 2020 National Strategy Report that 
acknowledged the quality of the Oxford House™ program and held it up as an organization with a mission 
to improve the quality of recovery support services that should be emulated.  

At the end of CY2020, one-half of the states had agreements with OHI to provide technical assistance in 
developing statewide networks of Oxford Houses.  In spite of the pandemic, OHI outreach workers were 
able to add over 300 new Oxford Houses throughout the nation.  Development in three – Florida, Arizona 
and Indiana – started in 2019.  Nevertheless, as CY2020 drew to close, Florida had 55 houses, Arizona had 
50 houses and Indiana had 53 houses.  The demand for safe housing supportive of long-term recovery exists 
throughout the nation.   OHI – working with individual states – has shown that good recovery housing can 
be developed in a cost-effective manner.  It works. 

The outreach worker is trained by Oxford 
House, Inc. for the following tasks: 

❖ Finding a suitable house to rent 
❖ Getting a charter from OHI 
❖ Getting an FEIN number from IRS 
❖ Recruiting initial residents 
❖ Teaching residents how to operate a house 
❖ Building mutually-supportive chapters
❖ Balancing supply of houses to meet demand 
❖ Developing linkages to providers
❖ Developing employment linkages 
❖ Documenting success/failure 

24

http://www.oxfordvacancies.com/
https://www.oxfordhouse.org/userfiles/file/doc/nida_after.pdf


THE OXFORD HOUSE ANNUAL CONVENTION  
 
Oxford House residents and alumni look forward to gathering together annually for a convention.  This has 
been the practice since the first one was held in 1999.  However, the pandemic required cancellation of the 
scheduled 2020 annual convention as it would not have been prudent to have everyone gather together at a 
convention during that period.   
 
In September 2019, 1,600 Oxford House residents, alumni and friends participated in an Oxford House 
annual convention in Washington, D.C. over Labor Day weekend.  The photo below shows the audience 
during the opening general session. (A copy of the convention program and videos of major portions of the 
convention which were covered by CSPAN can be found on the on the website at www.oxfordhouse.org .)  
 

 
 
The annual convention is important for many reasons.  It provides an opportunity for Oxford House 
residents and alumni from all over the country to gather together to share their experiences, to learn more 
about addiction and recovery from experts in the field, to participate in panels focusing on ‘household’ 
issues important to residents, to elect resident and alumni representatives to the Oxford House World 
Council, and to socialize with one another from all parts of the country. 
 
In 2019, there were several keynote speakers and 25 breakout panels.  The panel that focused on addiction 
and opioids is noted in the opioid section of this report.  A Medication panel reviewed medicines that fit 
within an Oxford House environment and another panel was on “MAT and MAR in Oxford Houses and 
Dealing with Opioid Overdoses”, at which panelists talked about the role of MAT and how Oxford Houses 
are dealing with the use of MAT among residents.  Experts also participated in panels that included: 
“Working with Drug Courts, Parole and Re-entry”, Engaging with the Recovery Community”; “Oxford 
House and Behavioral Health Organizations”; and “Working with State Agencies.” The latter panel featured 
representatives from agencies in Tennessee, Louisiana, North Carolina, Kentucky, Florida and New Jersey. 
 
Oxford House residents and alumni were featured in many of the 
panels during the convention.  Pictured at right is a photo of the 
“Going Back to School as Residents or Alumni” panel.  Active 
addiction interrupted the educational plans of many Oxford 
House residents and alumni.  Now in recovery, many of them 
have ventured back to school – some get GEDs; some take 
certification courses and others get undergraduate and graduate 
degrees. The panelists at this session were all Oxford House 
residents or alumni who have taken this route Many colleges now 
recognize the need to support students in recovery; UNC has been a leader in supporting Oxford Houses 
for students and one of the panelists is a resident of a UNC Oxford House.   
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The panel at left focused on Educating the Public about 
Recovery and featured Oxford House alumni as well as 
Ivette Torres, formerly of CSAT and Westley Clark, 
M.D. Board member of Faces and Voices of Recovery. 
 
Other panels included: “Leadership v Bossism – 
Practicing Democracy in Oxford Houses”; and 
“Conducting House Chapter and Association Meetings.  
These panels featured Oxford House residents and alumni 
who discussed their experience and provided good 
suggestions for House residents.    

 
The convention also featured a very well-attended panel 
entitled: “Out of the Closet and Into an Oxford House – 
Understanding Recovery and the LGBTQ Community.”  
Many members of the LBGTQ community have found 
Oxford Houses very welcoming.  All members of the panel 
were members of the LBGTQ community and residents or 
alumni of Oxford House.  They discussed their own 
experiences in applying to and living in Oxford Houses and 
responded to audience questions.   
 
Another panel featured a discussion of Oxford Houses for 
Women with Children and Oxford Houses for Men with 
Children.  Both types of Houses work well.  Frequently, a resident will start at one of the other Oxford 
Houses and subsequently get children back and move into an Oxford House for Women with Children or 
an Oxford House for Men with Children.   
  
Other panel topics included:  Keeping Alumni Involved and Forming Alumni Associations;  Nuts and Bolts 
of Finding and Starting a New Oxford House; Oxford House Research and Upcoming Studies; Four Stages 
and Five Core Principles of Oxford House; Filling Vacancies; Working with Treatment Providers; Working 
Together – Houses, Chapters, Associations and Alumni; and a Civil Rights Update.  Oxford House, Inc. 
was a trailblazer in seeking court definition and affirmation of the 1988 Amendments to the Federal Fair 
Housing Act, including the landmark 1995 U. S. Supreme Court decision in City of Edmonds, WA v. Oxford 
House, Inc.  Despite that favorable decision, some jurisdictions continue to try to avoid accommodating 
Oxford House residents and OHI challenges those barriers in court whenever they arise.  Oxford House is 
fortunate to have access to many lawyers in recovery who are willing to help with these cases. 
 
A highlight over every convention is 
the election of new resident and alumni 
members to the Oxford House World 
Council.  The Council serves as an 
Advisory Committee to the OHI Board.  
Members serve for staggered three-
year terms and elections are held at 
every convention.  Since there was no 
convention in 2020, It was determined 
that terms of the current Board would 
be extended another year.  The photo at 
right shows the current members of 
The Saturday night banquet is 
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always a highlight of the convention.  It features speeches, awards, good food and good fellowship.  
Below is a picture taken at the Saturday night banquet in 2018 in Kansas City.  Whatever the 
convention theme or venue, everyone relishes the education, camaraderie and excitement of the 
annual convention.   
 

 
 

OXFORD HOUSE ANNUAL CONVENTION THEMES: 1999-2019 
 

Year Convention Theme Location 
2019 “Oxford House: Self-Reliance • Self-Respect” Washington, DC 
2018 “Oxford House: Recovery • Fellowship • Fun” Kansas City, MO 
2017 “Oxford House: Unique, Time-tested and      Evidence-based” Washington, DC 
2016 “Oxford House: The Blueprint for Success” Dallas, TX 
2015 “Oxford House: Celebrating 40 Years” Washington, DC 
2014 “Oxford House: Building Community” Portland, OR 
2013 “Oxford House: Meeting the Need” Washington, DC 
2012 “Oxford House: Good Neighbors-Good Citizens” Oklahoma City, OK 
2011 “Oxford House: Saving Money-Saving Lives Washington, DC 
2010 “Oxford House: Celebrating 35 Years” Chicago, IL 
2009 “Oxford House: Together We Can ” Washington, DC 
2008 “Oxford House: Time for Recovery” New Orleans, LA 
2007 “Oxford House: What If?” Washington, DC 
2006 “Oxford House Comes of Age” Wichita, KS 
2005 “Family, Fellowship and Freedom” Washington, DC 
2004 “Back to Basics” San Antonio, TX 
2003 “Recovery, Responsibility, and Replication” Washington, DC 
2002 “Changing the Culture of Recovery” Seattle, WA 
2001 “If not Now, When?” Washington, DC 
2000 “Recovery Without Relapse” Kansas City, MO 

1999 “If Not Us, Who?” Washington, DC 
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FY	2020	Financials	
Oxford House, Inc. 

Statement of Financial Position 
June 30, 20201 

 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS  
   Cash $   1,762,733 
   Accounts Receivable, Net 3,248,697 
   Employee Advances 7,320 
   Prepaid Expenses 2,016 
   Loans Receivable, Current Portion      122,940 
Total Current Assets   5,143,706 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
   Furniture and Office Equipment 359,273 
   Less Accumulated Depreciation         (287,700) 
   Net Property and Equipment         71,573 
OTHER ASSETS   
   Loans Receivable 97,428 
   Restricted Cash 97,732 
   Deposits         15,285 
   Total Other Assets       210,445 
   TOTAL ASSETS  $ 5,425,724 

 
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  
   Accounts Payable $    868,770 
   Program Advances 802,637 
   Accrued Payroll Taxes 17,033 
   Accrued Salaries   86,185 
   Deferred Lease Obligation        77,481 
   Total Current Liabilities   1,852,106 
   Total Liabilities 1,852,106 

NET ASSETS, Unrestricted    3,573,618 
TOTAL NET ASSETS    3,573,618 
TOTAL LIBILITIES & NET ASSETS  $5,425,724 

 
Statement of Activities 

 
SUPPORT AND REVENUE  
  Federal Awards $   11,952,674 
   State and Local Awards 3,572,973 
   General Contributions 1,176,898 
   Convention Revenue 487,744 
   Combined Federal Campaign       19,285 
   Conference Revenue 1,130 
   Interest Income              1,636 
   Other Income            12,318 
Total Support and Revenue $   17,224,658 
EXPENSES  
Program Services  
   State and Local Program – Federal Funds $  11,952,674 
   State and Local Program–State/Local  3,572,973 
       State and Local Program – Other          22,936 
       World Convention      474,497 
   Total Program Services $  16,023,080 
   Supporting Services  
       Management and General 110,384 
       Fundraising              599 
   Total Supporting Services       110,983 
Total Expenses    16,134,063 
INCREASE UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS  1,090,595 
NET ASSETS Beginning of Year      2,483,023 
NET ASSETS End of Year $    3,573,618 

Oxford House, Inc. 
FY 2020 Expenses 

 By Category and Function 
 

Expense Item State/Local 
Program 

G&A Total 
Expenses 

Salaries $6,450,863 $14,646 $6,465,509 

Fringe Benefits    1,437,218 (14,661) 1,422,557 

Payroll Taxes     500,770         (4,126)      496,644 
Total Personnel   8,388,851      (4,121)   8,384,710 

 
Travel & Lodging 5,211,029 -0- 5,211,029 

Outreach Supplies 849,869 48,864 849,869 

Telephone & Fax 298,465 5,800 304,265 

Professional Fees 235,781 14,477 250,258 

Rent 235,111  1,224 236,335 

Other* 141,251 49,164 190,415 

Insurance 110,124 17,186 127,310 

Convention Expense 123,198  123,198 
Mtgs & Conferences 123,033  123,033 
Printing/Publications 93,179 1,931 95,110 

Payroll Services 47,595 1,990 49,585 

Local Training 48,090  48,090 

Office Supplies 40,231 4,796 45,027 

Postage & Supplies 26,357 12,121 39,156 

Depreciation 36,570 196 36,766 

Bank Charges  13,668 4,354 18,022 
Litigation Settlement  1,885 1,885 

Total Expenses $15,548,583 $110,983 $16,134,063 

 
Individual Oxford Houses followed through on a resolution at the 1999 
Oxford House World Convention to encourage voluntary contributions 
to Oxford House World Services for the purpose of defraying expansion 
and service expenses.  During FY 2020, Oxford Houses voluntarily 
contributed $768,141 to OHI.   
 
The 2001 World Convention passed a resolution to earmark all house 
contributions in excess of $200,000 a year for a national revolving loan 
fund to help start new Oxford Houses.  Since states are no longer required 
to maintain start-up revolving loan funds, it has become important for 
future expansion for Oxford House, Inc. to have a self-sustaining loan 
fund that can take up the slack.   About $220,000 was used for start-up 
loans in FY 2020 and the remainder for on-site technical assistance.  
 
*$599 is total expenses in conjunction with fund raising and is included 
in “other” G&A.  

  
 

A full copy of the Oxford House, Inc. audit and IRS form 990 is available 
from Oxford House, Inc.  E-mail to Info@oxfordhouse.org to receive a copy 
of the audit.  The IRS form 990 is available to download at 
www.oxfordhouse.org under “About	Us/Finances”.		

 
 

 
1 See notes accompanying financial statement at end of the Annual 
Report.  See box above-right for instructions on how to get full copy of 
audit. 
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OXFORD HOUSE, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 

Note 1 –Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Organization 
Oxford House, Inc. is a nonprofit organization incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on October 25, 1987 
for the purpose of aiding in the rehabilitation and to improve social condition and environment for recovering alcoholics 
and drug addicts.  This is accomplished by developing plans and programs for their recovery and by establishing homes 
for recovering substance abusers.  Independently chartered "Oxford House" operates throughout the country as self-run, 
self-supported recovery houses.  Oxford House, Inc. acts as the national umbrella organization and provides overall 
direction and technical, assistance to the independent "Oxford Houses." 

Basis of Accounting 
Oxford House, Inc. presents its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenue is recognized 
when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. 

Basis of Presentation 
Financial statement presentation follows the recommendations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board in FASB 
ASC Topic 958, Not–for–Profit Organizations.  Under FASB ASC 958, Oxford House, Inc. is required to report 
information regarding its financial position and activities according to two classes of net assets: net assets without donor 
restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions.  

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Allowance For Doubtful Accounts 
Accounts receivable are considered to be fully collectible. 

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment is stated at cost or donated value and is depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets.   

All acquisitions of property and equipment of $1,000 or more are capitalized.  Expenditures for major renewals and 
betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized.  Expenditures for maintenance and 
repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 

Grant Contract Revenue 
Grant contract revenue is recorded when earned under the provisions of the applicable contracts.  

Contributions 
Oxford House, Inc. accounts for contributions in accordance with the recommendations of the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board in FASB ASC Topic 958, Not–For–Profit Entities.   In accordance with FASB ASC 958, contributions 
received are recorded as contributions without donor restrictions or contributions with donor restrictions, depending on 
the existence and/or nature of any donor restrictions. 

Support that is restricted by the donor is reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets if the restriction expires in the 
reporting period in which the support is recognized.  All other donor-restricted support is reported as an increase in net 
assets with donor restrictions, depending on the nature of the restriction.  When a restriction expires (that is, when a 
stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets are reclassified to net assets without 
donor restrictions and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 
 
Income Taxes 
Oxford House, Inc. is exempt from Federal income taxes under section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and has 
been classified as a publicly supported organization.  As a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization the organization is also exempt 
from State income taxes.  Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is required in the accompanying financial 
statements. 
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Functional Allocation of Expenses 
The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional basis in the 
statement of activities.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services 
benefited based in the level of effort spent.  

Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Oxford House, Inc. considers all highly liquid debt instruments with maturity 
of three months or less to he cash equivalents.  There were no cash equivalents as of June 30, 2020. 
 
Restricted Cash 
Oxford House, Inc. maintains restricted bank accounts and certificates deposit under various contractual obligations. 
 
Escrow Funds 
Grants from individual states for funding of the loan program (Note 6) are segregated into escrow accounts for the benefit 
of the individual states.  Those funds are not included in the financial statements of Oxford House, Inc. as they are 
considered to be state funds. 

Major Customers 
Oxford House, Inc. derives a substantial portion of its income from State awards funded in whole or in part by Federal 
funds. 

Subsequent Events Evaluation 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through January 4, 2021, the date the financial statements were available 
to be issued.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

Leases 
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 
2016-02, Leases (Topic 842).  This ASU modifies lease accounting to increase transparency and comparability by 
recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position and disclosing key information about 
leasing information. 
 
The most significant change for lessees will be the recognition of both a liability to make lease payments (the lease 
liability) and asset for the lease terms for those leases classified as operating permitted for leases with terms of 12 months 
or less.  FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 842, Leases (“ASC 842”), supersedes current lease 
requirements in FASB ASC Topic 840, Leases.  When adopted, the amendments in ASU must be applied using a modified 
retrospective approach, with certain practical expedients available.  The new standard is effective for nonpublic companies 
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020.  Oxford House, Inc. is currently evaluating the impact of the 
provisions of ASC 842.  

Note 2 – Loans Receivable 
Oxford House, Inc. makes start-up loans to certain recovery houses and temporary loans [bridge loans] to other recovery 
houses.  At June 30, 2020 loans receivable were $220,368, net of allowance of $-0-. 

Note 3 – Accrued Salaries 
Included in accrued salaries are salaries and royalties owed to an officer of Oxford House, Inc. as follows: 

J. Paul Molloy, President $    86,185 

 $    86,185 

Note 4 – Line of Credit 
Oxford House, Inc. has a line of credit note of $75,000 of which $0 is outstanding at June 30, 2020.  The note is secured 
by a $31,536 certificate of deposit, which is included in restricted cash appearing on the statement of financial position.  
The interest rate is currently 5%.  Oxford House, Inc. is to make minimum monthly payments of interest only.  The note 
is considered payable on demand. 

Oxford House, Inc. was granted a PPP (Paycheck Protection Program) Loan of $1,125,147 at a 1% interest rate in May 
of 2020 and repaid the loan in June of 2020.  

Interest expense for the year ending June 30, 2020 was $1,885. 
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Note 5 – Retirement Plan 
Oxford House, Inc. has a 403(b) retirement plan.  All full time employees over the age of twenty-one [21] that have 
completed three months of service are eligible to participate.  The plan is funded through pre-tax salary reductions by the 
employees. 
 

Note 6 – State Escrow Accounts 
Oxford House, Inc. has received restricted funds from various entities to be used solely for the purpose of extending 
revolving loans to establish new houses, which are then repaid by these houses. 

Oxford House, Inc. managed funds or held and managed funds in escrow accounts under contracts with various states to 
meet the requirement of Public Law 100-690, “The Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988.”  Such escrow accounts are not 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements of Oxford House, Inc.   Held funds, including outstanding loan 
balances approximate $1,874,000 on June 30, 2020. 

Note 7 – Lease Commitments 
Oxford House, Inc. leases office space and office equipment under operating leases.  The office space lease is subject to 
operating cost increases.  This lease commenced July 2018 and is scheduled to terminate November 30, 2023.   Lease 
expense for the year ended June 30, 2016 approximated $236,335, which included parking spaces and common area fees. 

The following is a schedule of approximate future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases for 
office space with initial or remaining terms of one year or more as of June 30, 2020:  
 

      2021      $225,935 
      2022        232,148 
      2023        238,499 
      2024        102,107 
            $798,689 
Note 8 – Concentration of Credit Risk 
Bank balances in excess of Federally insured limits at June 30, 2020 were $ 1,610,465.  
 

Note 9 – Claims and Litigation 
Oxford House, Inc. is subject to other various claims and litigation.  In the opinion of management, the outcome of such 
matters will not have a material effect on the financial position of Oxford House, Inc. 
 

Note 10 – Liquidity and Availability of Resources 
Oxford House, Inc. has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its general expenditures, liabilities and 
other obligations come due. 

Oxford House, Inc. has $ 5,134,370 of financial assets available within one year of the statement of financial position 
date to meet cash needs for general expenditures consisting of cash of $1,762,733, accounts receivable of $3,248,967 and 
current portion of loans receivable of $122,940.  None of the financial assets are unavailable for general expenditures 
within one year of the statement of financial position.  
         
 

 

Note: The auditor’s full report, including supplemental single state audits, can be obtained by sending an e-mail to 
info@oxfordhouse.org or writing to Oxford House, Inc., 1010 Wayne Avenue, Suite 300, Silver Spring, Maryland 20910.  
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Oxford	  House	  
Creating	  a	  National	  Network	  of	  Recovery	  Houses	  One	  House	  at	  a	  Time	  

A	  few	  of	  the	  more	  than	  3,000	  Oxford	  Houses	  
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Oxford House™ is a cost-effective way to help 
alleviate the alcoholism and drug addiction crisis 
in the United States.  Spread the good news! 

For every development dollar expended by OHI, residents in Oxford Houses spend $10.42 to maintain the houses. 

$0

$50,000,000

$100,000,000

$150,000,000

$200,000,000

Resident Expenses FY 2020 OHI Expenses FY 2020

$167,989,536 

$16,134,063 

Amount spent by Oxford House residents for household 
expenses versus the total development expenses of OHI

OXFORD HOUSE TRADITIONS 

1. Oxford House has as its primary goal the
provision of housing for the alcoholic and drug
addict who wants to stay clean and sober.

2. All Oxford Houses are run on a democratic basis.
Our officers serve continuous periods of no
longer than six months.

3. No Member of an Oxford House is ever asked to
leave without cause -- drinking, drug use, or
disruptive behavior.

4. Oxford House members realize that active
participation in AA and/or NA offers assurance
of continued sobriety.

5. Each Oxford House should be autonomous
except in matters affecting other houses or
Oxford House, Inc. as a whole.

6. Each Oxford House should be financially self-
supporting.

7. Oxford House should remain forever non-
professional.

8. Propagation of the Oxford House, Inc. concept
should always be conceived as public education.

9. Members who leave an Oxford House in good
standing should become associate members.

ALCOHOLISM AND DRUG ADDICTION 

• About 25 million Americans are actively addicted to
drugs with about 15 million alcoholics, 2 million opioid
addicts and about another 6 million addicted to other
drugs.  (SAMHSA – 2018)

• 22.7 million persons aged 18 or older needed treatment
for an illicit drug or alcohol abuse problem in 2018 (8.6
percent of persons aged 18 or older).   (SAMHSA)

• Of these, only 1.75 million – 7.1 percent of those who
needed treatment – received it.

• Government reports show that alcohol and drug abuse is
responsible for the admission of almost 1.5 million
people to emergency rooms nationwide. Drug addiction
results in nearly half a trillion dollars in economic loss
annually; the equivalent of $1,426 per American.
[2010]

• For those receiving treatment, 60% had been in prior
treatment an average of more than three times and 14%
five times or more. [TEDS]

Oxford Houses Provide a Low-Cost, Highly Effective 
Method of Reducing Recidivism



Oxford House™

1975-2021 

46 Years of Organized Self-Help To Enable Alcoholics and 
Drug Addicts to Recover Without Relapse 

Ø Providing Sole Authority for Oxford House Charters
Ø Providing Technical Assistance to Establish New

Oxford Houses
Ø Providing Technical Assistance to Keep Existing

Oxford Houses on Track
Ø Providing Organization of Chapters to Help Oxford

Houses to Help Themselves
Ø Providing the Time, Living Environment and Support

to Enable Alcoholics and Drug Addicts to Achieve
Recovery Without Relapse

Ø Providing the Legal, Philosophical, and Scientific
Framework for a Cost-effective, Worldwide Network
of Supportive Recovery Housing.

Write or Call 

Oxford House, Inc. 
1010 Wayne Avenue, Suite 300 
Silver Spring, Maryland 20910 

Telephone 301-587-2916 
Facsimile 301-589-0302 

E-Mail Info@oxfordhouse.org
Web Site: www.oxfordhouse.org



NATIONAL PROFILE 

Good Houses in Good Neighborhoods 
Oxford House – Homestead (pictured at the left) is an 
Oxford House for 7 men that was established in Chapel 
Hill, NC on April 1, 1999.   It is one of 290 Oxford 
Houses in North Carolina.  The House started on 
Homestead Road in 1999 and moved to Scarlet Drive in 
2005.  It has been home to 323 men in recovery.  It is 
an example of how Oxford Houses continue year after 
year and sometimes the entire group moves to a better 
house. 

There are houses for men; houses for women; houses 
for women with children; and houses for men with children.    

Creating an Effective National Recovery Network One House at a Time 

National Oxford House Profile1  
Number of Houses for Women 950 Recovery Beds for Women 7,494 

Number of Houses for Men 2,108 Recovery Beds for Men 17,098 
Total Number of Houses 3,050 Total Recovery Beds 24,592 
Number of States with Houses 49 Cities with Oxford Houses 493 

Resident Profile2 
Average Age of Residents 
        [range 17 – 91] 

38.0 Percent Veterans 13% 

Average Educational Level 12.2 yrs. Range of Educational Level 3-19 Yrs.

Average Cost/Person Per Week: 
 (Range $120-550/week) 

$132 Average Rent/Group/Month 
  (Range $1,000-8,000/mo.) 

$2,045 

Residents Working 83.3% Average Monthly Earnings $1,695 

Percent Addicted to Drugs and 
Alcohol [60.7% Opioids]  78% 

Percent Addicted to Only 
Alcohol 22% 

Race --    White 

Black 

Hispanic 

Native American 

77.5% 

13.6% 

5.1% 

3.8% 

Marital Status – 

             Never Married 

Separated 

Divorced 

Married 

Widowed 

59.2% 

7.6% 

26.3% 

4.6% 

2.2% 

Prior Homelessness 71.4% Time Homeless [median] 6.0 Mos. 

Prior Jail 84.8% Average Jail Time 
   [median 7 Mos.] 

8 Mos. 

Average AA or NA Meetings 
Per Week 3.4 Percent Going To 

Counseling plus AA/NA 
38.4% 

Average Length of Sobriety of 
House Residents 

12.4 Mos. Residents Expelled 
Because of Relapse 

21.2% 

Average Length of Stay In an 
Oxford House 

9.5 Mos. Average No. of Applicants 
For Each Vacant Bed 

4.4 

1 Total number of houses, beds and locations as of January 1, 2021. 
2 Resident profile as of September 30, 2020 based on OHI surveys completed by 10,209
residents in 18 States and D.C. plus house reports. 

Oxford House Fast Facts 

• 24,534	-	Number	of	Oxford
House	Recovery	Beds

• 3,050	-	Number	of	Oxford
Houses	as	of	January	2021

• 49	-	Number	of	States	with
Oxford	Houses

• 493	-	Number	of	towns	and
cities	with	Oxford	Houses

• $1,695	-	Average	monthly
income	of	residents

• $132	-	Average	weekly	share
of	expenses	paid	by	Oxford
House	residents

• 71.4%	of	Oxford	House
residents	had	been	homeless
for	an	average	total	period	of
6.0	months

• 78%	addicted	to	drugs	and
alcohol;	22%	only	alcohol

• 84.8%	had	done	jail	time
related	to	their	addiction

• 9.5	months	-	Average	length	of
sobriety

• 321	-	New	Oxford	Houses
started	CY	2020	(104	houses
for	women;	217	for	men)

• 2,6	81	-	Total	CY	2020	Added
Recovery	Beds	(844	for
women;	1,837	for	men)

• CY	2020	residents:	44,406
with	21.2%	expelled	because
of	relapse
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication  

DATE: April 7, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairwoman – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Michael Lappen, Administrator, Behavioral Health Division 

SUBJECT: Report from the Administrator, Behavioral Health Division, Providing an 
Administrative Update 

Background 

The purpose of this standing report is to highlight key activities or issues related to the 
Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division (BHD) since the previous Board meeting and 
provide ongoing perspectives to the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board regarding the 
work of the organization and its leadership. 

Discussion 

Optimal Operations and Administrative Efficiencies 

• Systems Improvement Agreement (SIA) Update

The Behavioral Health Division (BHD) and our contracted expert consultants met with
Tamra Swistowicz from the Centers for Medicare/Medicaid Services (CMS) for a status
call on BHD’s progress on the SIA.  CMS was satisfied with our progress on the
Corrective Action Plan (CAP) and clarified the extension recently granted means BHD
must be “survey ready” by September 30, 2021.  There are 146 items on the CAP, and as
of the most recent report, BHD had “either completed or is making steady progress” on
99.3% of items (145 of 146).  The most significant delays are related to the physical
plant repairs aimed at bringing the BHD hospital into compliance with modern ligature
resistant standards and addressing areas of deferred maintenance.  Challenges with
supply chains, contractors, and required permits and inspections were all impacted by
the COVID19 pandemic.

“Phase One” of the patient rooms remodeling and renovation is targeted for completion
by the end of April 2021 and included patient care Units 53A (Child and Adolescent) as
well as Unit 43D (Adult).  Areas of focus includes the following, although not limited to:
demolition, modifying door hardware, lighting fixtures, bringing above ceiling work up
to code, flooring install, ceiling tile, relocation of sprinklers, new plumbing, door repairs,
elimination of blind spots in the day room, etc.  This work includes all the required
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designs, regulatory approvals, and on-going inspections to ensure quality work and 
safety.  Planning for patient transfers is underway to prepare for occupancy from the 
outdated units to the upgraded, safe anti-ligature units. 
 
Simultaneously, renovations for the Access Clinic Suite/Psychiatric Crisis Services are 
underway and scheduled for completion on April 29, 2021.  Areas of focus include the 
following:  demolition, new construction/partitions, rerouted entrance, plumbing, 
drywall, light fixtures, flooring, ceiling, swing doors and anti-ligature safety upgrades 
including appropriate hardware.  Phase two will then be initiated for Unit 43C (Adult) as 
well as the Observation (OBS) Unit in May, which will also include similar physical plant 
renovations.  A decision has also been made to eliminate phase three of the project, 
eliminating two additional unit renovations.  We are on track to return to double 
occupancy for patients soon, and thus we will be able to meet current need with two 16 
bed adult units. 
 
The other main area of discussion was the Patient Engagement and Active Treatment 
project.  The BHD treatment team has established a treatment schedule “sharing “staff 
across units for efficiencies and to mitigate staff departures and open positions.  The 
programming is being evaluated with regular audits and includes patient engagement.  
Last July, the group developed the so-called 20-30-40 rule to guide how BHD engages 
patients.  Every patient should be engaged in at least 20 hours of activities per week.  An 
attempt is made at least every 30 minutes to engage any patient who is not engaged, 
and we make available at least 40 hours of activities per week.  The team has worked 
collaboratively to process the change management for staff regarding this significant 
upgrade in patient engagement.  We have all worked hard to overcome challenges with 
staffing, especially on weekends, holidays, and when there is a large number of staff 
call-ins. 
 
The CMS response to our progress was very positive, and the surveyors made note of 
the success and hard work the team has put in during truly historic times. 
 

Workforce Investment, Development, and Engagement 
 

• COVID19 Vaccinations at BHD 
 

BHD began vaccinating staff with the Moderna COVID-19 vaccine on December 23, 
2020.  Over several weeks we received allocations of 50 first shots with zero allocated 
for several weeks.  As of April 1, 2021, BHD has given 620 shots.  278 staff have been 
fully vaccinated, and 64 staff with one shot and a second scheduled.  We have received 
our last expected allocation of first shots, and future vaccinations will occur through the 
Office of Emergency Management, which has significantly increased supply and 
eligibility. 
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High Quality and Accountable Service Delivery 

• Mental Health Emergency Center (MHEC)

On April 1, 2021, the City of Milwaukee Board of Zoning Appeals (BOZA) approved the
12th and Walnut location for the new MHEC.  BHD and health systems representatives
continue to discuss and negotiate the parameters of a final Joint Venture agreement, as
well has the management services agreement that needs to be in place for Aurora
Advocate to be the operator of the new facility.   This is a very complicated project, and
there are several key issues to be resolved.  The BHD team is working hard to make sure
the MHEC lives up to community expectations, reflects the feedback we have received
from the community to date, and is a viable and successful service to the Milwaukee
community for many years to come.  The “road map” for the remaining MHEC
milestones are attached as a PowerPoint.  (Attachment A)

• Access Clinic/Community Health Center Collaborations

BHD staff are now embedded in three Community Health Centers.  The project is just
beginning, but we have been serving a growing number of walk-ins at Access Clinic
South (16th Street CHC) and went live at Access Clinic East (Outreach CHC) the week of
March 29th.  Attached is a recent project update from Ken Ginlack, Director of BHD
Outpatient Treatment Programs.  The project continues to be in the early stages but
being present in two new locations and being able to provide services to walk-in
customers is a significant milestone.  (Attachments B, C, and D)

Other Topics of Interest 

• Creation of the Milwaukee Police Department Diversion Task Force

See Attachment E

_________________________ 
Michael Lappen, Administrator 
Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division 
Department of Health and Human Services 



UHS Building Construction Go Live

Building Construction Go Live

2020 2021 2022 2023
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BHD Hospital SIA work
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By-Laws & Member Agreement – Organizational rules for formation and operation and an agreement to form and support the MHEC.
Responsibility Party: MHEC Members (Milwaukee County Mental Health Board and DHHS-BHD; Advocate Aurora, Ascension, Children’s 
Wisconsin, Froedtert)
Approving Authority: MHEC Members
Anticipated: Q2 2021

Management Services Agreement – Contract to hire facility operator and service provider.
Responsibility Party: MHEC Board & Operator 
Approving Authority: MHEC Board 
Anticipated: Q2 2021

Z Zoning Approval – City of Milwaukee approval of the MHEC zoning use and facility and site plans. 
Responsible party: MHEC Board
Approving Authority: City of Milwaukee Board of Zoning Appeals
Completed: April 1, 2021

Attachment A



Responsibility Party: MHEC Members (Milwaukee County Mental Health Board and DHHS-BHD; Advocate 
Aurora, Ascension, Children’s Wisconsin, Froedtert)
Approving Authority: MHEC Members (including MHB)
Completed: December 15, 2020

Letter of Intent – Statement of mutual intentions to develop and 
operate a licensed psychiatric hospital

• Intentions and Timeline
• Organization and Structure
• Capital Contributions
• Dissolution
• Governance
• Dispute Resolution
• Statutory Obligations & Directives
• Management Agreement

• Professional Services Agreement
• Real Estate
• Transition of PCS Operations
• Closing Conditions
• Development Costs & Expenses



Responsible party: MHEC Board
Approving Authority: City of Milwaukee Board of Zoning Appeals
Completed: April 1, 2021

Zoning Approval – City of Milwaukee approval of the MHEC zoning use 
and facility and site plans. 

• Public health safety and welfare
• Property impacts
• Traffic and pedestrian safety
• Consistency with the City’s comprehensive 

plan



Responsibility Party: MHEC Members (Milwaukee County Mental Health Board and DHHS-BHD; Advocate 
Aurora, Ascension, Children’s Wisconsin, Froedtert)
Approving Authority: MHEC Members (including MHB)
Anticipated: Special Meeting of the MHB, Q2 2021 

By-Laws & Member Agreement – Organizational rules for formation 
and operation and an agreement between parties to form and 
support the MHEC

Member Agreement
• Development Costs and Expenses
• Capital Contributions
• Transfer of PCS Operations
• Withdrawl/Expulsion
• Transfers
• Statutory Obligations & Directives
• Dispute Resolution

By-Laws
• Purpose
• Structure
• Board Make-Up
• Governance
• Organizational rules

* Items in grey were defined in the LOI.  Major changes not anticipated 



Responsibility Party: MHEC Board & Operator 
Approving Authority: MHEC Board 
Anticipated: Q2 2021

Management Services Agreement – Contract to hire a facility operator 
and service provider 

• Designation of Manager
• Define Services to be provided 

(Statements of Work)
• MHEC Board Responsibilities & 

Oversight
• Compensation
• Term and Termination
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Increasing Access, Improving Community Health: Four Unique 

Partnerships between Milwaukee County BHD and Community Health 

Centers 

Project Overview: 

• Relocates BHD Crisis Services (Access Clinic, Team Connect, Crisis Care

Coordination, and Peer Services) to available space at Community Health

Centers in Milwaukee.

• All Relocation sites are in Health Professional Shortage Areas, areas with high

crisis services utilization, and high percentages of residents living at or below

Federal Poverty Level (FPL).

• Forwards County/DHHS/BHD goal of vacating the MH Complex, by relocating

Crisis Services Staff.

• Creates a mutually beneficial partnership between CHCs and BHD; integrates

care and encourages sharing of services between providers with similar

missions.

Project Goals: 

• To provide a comprehensive service delivery system for Milwaukee County

Residents in locations that best meet their needs.

• To divert clients in crisis from Psych ERs, IP Settings, and other restrictive

levels of care.

• To increase Access (Same Day/Next Day Service) to Outpatient BH Care and

Substance Use Treatment for individuals who are in or may be in Crisis.

• To improve financial sustainability of BHD Crisis Services as compared to

current state.

• To implement and sustain an array of operational and clinical evidence-based

practices including Crisis CBT, Zero Suicide, Motivational Interviewing,

Measurement Based Care.

Proposed Service Delivery: 

• Walk in Crisis Clinic • Certified Peer Services

• Crisis Assessment • Access to BHD System of Care

• Brief Term Psychotherapy • Access to DHHS System of Care

• Prescriber Services • Health Ins. And Benefits
Navigation

• Brief Care Coordination • Direct admission to CHC

Attachment B
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Project Update 4/05/21 

CHC Partnership Updates 

1. Progressive CHC – Open – 2019

• Connect patients to community resources, long term case management services,
peer support services, bridging gap of services with psychiatry or interim case
management, referrals to Winged Victory to assist with SSI benefits or insurance
and connecting pts to IMPACT for AODA treatment.

• 250 + referrals to date

• Referral process remains the same except for not having in office warm handoffs.
Clinical services have consisted of telephonic services during COVID, while peer
support services have been a combination of in person and telephonic.

• Partnership has been effective in assisting patients with accessing beneficial mental
health and community resources. The partnership continues to go well. Progressive
staff have been very supportive and accessible throughout the duration of this
collaboration and are diligent in referring patients in need of crisis services and/or
linkages to substance use services.

2. Sixteenth Street Community Health Center (SSCHC)-Open- 2/25/21

Access Clinic is currently open to accept walk-ins.  The clinic is fully staffed including Bilingual 

therapist, clerk, and translator.  

SERVICE DELIVERY 

• Walk in Crisis Clinic

• Crisis Assessment • Access to BHD System of Care

• Brief Term Psychotherapy • Access to DHHS System of Care

• Prescriber Services • Health Ins. And Benefits Navigation

• Brief Care Coordination • Direct admission to CHC



04/05/21 

3. Outreach Community Health Center (ORCHC)-Open- 3/29/21

Access Clinic is currently open to accept walk-ins.  The clinic is in the process of being fully staffed. Newly 

hired clinician in need of additional clerk.  

• Walk in Crisis Clinic • Certified Peer Services

• Crisis Assessment • Access to BHD System of Care

• Brief Term Psychotherapy • Access to DHHS System of Care

• Prescriber Services • Health Ins. And Benefits Navigation

• Direct admission to CHC

3. MHSI Community Health Center (MHSI-CHC)- Target Q4 2021

• MOU was signed by MHSI on 3/25/21- Contingent of possible funding by WHCP

• Milwaukee County in the process of signing MOU

• Proposal submitted for WHCP for funding

• Architect designed with layout

• Construction company provided estimate

• Planning Team meeting weekly
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Council passes legislation creating the MPD 

Diversion Task Force 

Statement of Alderwoman Chantia Lewis 

March 23, 2021 

Today the Common Council passed a file that creates the Milwaukee Police Department (MPD) Diversion 
Task Force with the goal of creating a master plan for responding to calls for service that do not involve 

threats to public safety. I want to thank my colleagues for supporting this file as we work toward creating a 

reimagined policing system that benefits all residents citywide.  

This task force is the next step in the process started last year when the Council adopted a resolution 

establishing an unarmed first responder program. The master plan created by the MPD Diversion Task 

Force will follow the criteria set forth in that resolution. Namely, this involves creation of a plan for 
responding to calls for service that do not involve threats to public safety, particularly for those involving 

persons experiencing mental health, substance abuse or homelessness crises, with trained, unarmed first 

responders. I’m proud to have been the lead sponsor on both of these files.  

The task force will consist of 17 members all with a diverse skill set and background. Among those on the 

task force will be: three Council members, the Executive Director of the Fire and Police Commission, the 
Director of Emergency Management and Communications, two members from each of the fire and police 

departments, two members employed by Milwaukee County, two members of the community, and two 

members with research and academic experience.  

I look forward to this task force getting up and running in the near future and reviewing their findings and 

recommendations later this year.  

Our community deserves an equitable policing system, and this helps get us one step closer to achieving 

that goal.  

-30-
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BYLAWS OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD 

ARTICLE I. 
NAME 

The name of this board shall be the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board. 

ARTICLE II. 
OBJECT 

The object of this board is to fulfill the duties placed on it by Wisconsin Statutes with a 
commitment to all of the following: Community-based, person-centered, recovery-oriented, 
mental health systems; Maximizing comprehensive community-based services; Prioritizing 
access to community-based services and reducing reliance on institutional and inpatient care; 
Protecting the personal liberty of individuals experiencing mental illness so that they may be 
treated in the least restrictive environment to the greatest extent possible; Providing early 
intervention to minimize the length and depth of psychotic and other mental health episodes; 
Diverting people experiencing mental illness from the corrections system when appropriate; 
Maximizing use of mobile crisis units and crisis intervention training; and Attempting to achieve 
cost savings in the provision of mental health programs and services in Milwaukee County.  In 
addition, the board will assure oversee the quality, safety, and effectiveness of acute inpatient 
services in compliance with Joint Commission Regulatory Standards and the safety, quality, and 
effectiveness of long-term inpatient services in compliance with State and Federal regulations. 

ARTICLE III. 
MEMBERS 

The members of this board shall be appointed to and removed from office under the express 
authority of Wisconsin State Statute 51.41(1d)(i)1 and 2, as applicable.  Member terms are for 4 
consecutive years, with a maximum tenure of 2, 4-year consecutive terms for voting members 
unless the voting member serves 3 consecutive terms totaling less than 10 years pursuant to 
Wisconsin Statute 51.4(1d)(d)6.  A voting member who has served 2 consecutive 4-year terms 
or 3 consecutive terms totaling less than 10 years is again eligible to be suggested for 
nomination as a voting member after the individual has not served on the board for 12 months. 

Members shall be subject to the Code of Ethics for Public Officials and Employees and the Code 
of Ethics for Local Government Officials as stated in Wisconsin Statutes, Chapter 19, as 
applicable.  Effective January 1, 2015, this board declares all members shall be subject to the 
provisions of Wisconsin Statutes 19.59(3)(a) & (e), and 19.59(5) requiring submission of 
statement of economic interests, disclosure of conflicts, and authority for the soliciting of 
advisory opinions, public and private, on ethics matters. 
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ARTICLE IV. 
OFFICERS 

From among its voting members, at the first regular meeting of the board in each calendar 
year, the board shall elect by majority vote a chair, a vice-chair, and a secretary.  The chair shall 
preside at the meetings of the board.  The vice-chair shall preside in the absence of the chair.  
The secretary shall keep an accurate account of actions of the board and may employ the 
assistance of staff of the Behavioral Health Division ("BHD") to assist in note-taking and 
transcription.  The term of office for each officer shall expire upon election of a successor.  
Election shall be at the first regular meeting of the board in each calendar year. 
 
In the event of the vacancy of the member elected as chair or incapacity to discharge the office 
of chair as determined by a 2/3 vote of the board, the vice-chair shall assume the office of chair 
and serve in that role for the balance of the term for that office. 
 
In the event of the vacancy of the members elected as vice-chair or secretary or incapacity to 
discharge the office of vice-chair or secretary as determined by a 2/3 vote of the board, the 
chair shall appoint a voting member to serve in that office for the balance of the term for that 
office. 
 

ARTICLE V.  
MEETINGS 

Regular meetings of the board are those which are called by the chair.  The Milwaukee County 
mental health board shall meet 6 times each year and may meet at other times on the call of 
the chairperson or a majority of the board’s members.  Special meetings are those which are 
called for by the chair or a majority of the voting members of the board.  Special meetings may 
take action only on items which are expressly noted in the petition of the voting members 
calling for the meeting.  In the matter of regular and special meetings, the chair shall prepare an 
agenda for the meeting in consultation with the BHD administrator and, if serving, the 
transition liaison, staff and provide for distribution to the members and public in accordance 
with Wisconsin statutes. 
 
Meetings of the board shall be conducted in accordance with Wisconsin Open Meetings Law. 
 

ARTICLE VI.  
QUORUM & VOTING 

A quorum of the board shall be a majority of the voting members appointed to the board.  A 
majority of those members present and voting shall be sufficient to adopt or approve actions, 
unless a different number is expressly required by statute or these by-laws.  The method of 
voting shall be determined by the chair.  Voting members may abstain from any vote, and the 
chair shall include a call for any members to abstain during the conduct of voting. 
 
  



ARTICLE VII.  
COMMITTEES 

There is created an Executive Committee of the board consisting of the chair, vice-chair, and 
secretary of the board, and the immediate past chair of the board in a chair-emeritus position, 
should that individual be available to serve in that role, and the Chairpersons of the Finance and 
Quality Committees as voting members.  The Executive Committee shall exercise the power of 
the board between meetings of the board, but such action by the Executive Committee is 
provisional only and expires at the next meeting of the board, at which time, however, the 
board may choose to ratify the action of the Executive Committee and may, if the board 
desires, make the action retroactive to the time of the Executive Committee action.  Ratification 
by the board is subject to any limitation placed on said powers by statute or these by-laws.  The 
chair of the board shall chair the Executive Committee and the secretary shall provide for 
written minutes to be prepared. 
 
The Mental Health Board must elect a Board Member to fill a vacated officer position at its next 
regularly scheduled meeting following the vacancy. 
 
There is created a Finance Committee appointed by the Chairperson.  The Committee shall 
consist of five (5) members who have exposure to the areas of budgets and finance.  The 
purpose of the Committee is to review quarterly financial statements and the divisional budget 
to make sure resources are spent in accordance with budget targets and the mission of the 
Division.  The Finance Committee shall report on the results of their analysis and any 
recommendations to the full board.  The Committee shall meet quarterly but may meet more 
often during budget preparation time. 
 
There is created a Quality Committee appointed by the Chairperson.  The Committee shall 
consist of five (5) members for the purpose of assessing or measuring quality of care and 
Implementation of any necessary changes to maintain or improve the quality of care rendered 
by BHD and its contractors.  The Quality Committee shall report on the results of their analysis 
and any recommendations to the full board.  The Committee shall meet quarterly six (6) times 
per year. 
 
The board may create ad-hoc committees to prepare recommendations on matters for the 
board's consideration.  Ad-hoc committees will be charged with specific issues or tasks to 
address and confine their work to those issues or tasks and shall be discharged upon the final 
report of the committee to the board.  The board chair shall appoint an odd number of voting 
members of the board to the ad-hoc committee and name the chair and secretary for the 
committee.  Non-voting members of the board may be appointed as non-voting members of 
the committee.  The committee chair shall be responsible for convening and operating the 
committee as well as delivering the report of the committee to the board.  The committee 
secretary shall prepare minutes of the committee's action and prepare the report of the 
committee as approved for the board's consideration.  No action of an ad-hoc committee shall 
become the action of the board without an affirmative vote of the board. 
 



ARTICLE VIII.  
DECLARATIONS OF POLICY 

All declarations of policy adopted by the board shall be codified in these by-laws and derive 
their function and power from and remain subservient to the authority of Wisconsin Statutes 
and the by-laws of this organization. 
 

1) EMPLOYEE RELATIONS 
It is the policy of the board that employment within BHD be subject to administrative 
procedures developed by the administration, which comply with federal and state laws, 
including Wisconsin's statutory Civil Service system, and that BHD recruit, employ, and retain 
high-quality professionals delivering quality service for the clients of the county.  The 
administration of BHD is charged with creating a safe and accountable workplace. 
 

2) PROCUREMENT 
It is the policy of the board that all procurement operations be conducted through an 
administrative procedure developed by the administration which shall conform to the American 
Bar Association's Model Procurement Code (2000). 
 

3) PROVISION OF EMERGENCY SERVICES IN ACCORDANCE WITH EMERGENCY 
MEDICAL TREATMENT and LABOR ACT (EMTALA) 

Consistent with the Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act (EMTALA) Statute, all 
privileged Psychiatric Crisis Services (PCS) physicians are designated as Qualified Medical 
Personnel (QMP) authorized to conduct Medical Screening Examinations (MSE) within the 
capacity of PCS (the Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division’s dedicated emergency 
department) to determine whether or not an Emergency Medical Condition (EMC) exists for 
individuals presenting to the PCS. 
 

ARTICLE IX.  
PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY 

The board may adopt procedural rules to govern the conduct of its meetings and committees.  
Any procedural rule so adopted may be suspended or modified at any time by a majority vote 
of the board.  The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order shall govern 
the board meetings where the board's procedural rules, these bylaws or the statutes of the 
State of Wisconsin do not apply or provide guidance.  Committee meetings shall be governed 
by an informal process wherein committee members shall report findings or recommendations 
to the board for its consideration. 
 

ARTICLE X.  
AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS 

An amendment to these bylaws may be adopted by a majority vote at any regular meeting of 
the board providing the amendment has been submitted in writing seven (7) calendar days 
prior to the next regular meeting. 
 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication  

DATE: March 22, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairperson – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Shakita LaGrant-McClain, Director, Department of Health and Human Services 

Approved by Michael Lappen, Administrator, Behavioral Health Division 

SUBJECT: Report from the Director, Department of Health and Human Services, 

Requesting Authorization to Execute 2021 Professional Services Contract 

Amendments for Residency Education Stipend Support, Bioethical 

Consultation, and Training and Research Support Services 

Issue 

Wisconsin Statute 51.41(10) requires approval for any contract related to mental health 

(substance use disorder) with a value of at least $100,000.  No contract or contract adjustment 

shall take effect until approved by the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board.  Per the statute, 

the Director of the Department of Health and Human Services is requesting authorization for 

BHD/CARS/Wraparound/Inpatient Hospital to execute mental health and substance use 

contracts for 2021/2022. 

Background 

Approval of the recommended contract allocation projections will allow 

BHD/CARS/Wraparound/Inpatient Hospital to provide a broad range of rehabilitation and 

support services to adults with mental health and/or substance use disorders and children with 

serious emotional disturbances. 

Professional Services Contracts 

Hospital Services 

Medical College of Wisconsin Affiliated Hospitals, Inc. - $450,000 

BHD contracts with the Medical College of Wisconsin Affiliated Hospitals, Inc. (MCWAH) for 

resident and fellow house staff activities, as part of BHD’s training site designation with the 

MCW Psychiatry Training Programs. The residents and fellows that serve as house staff provide 

medical care within the BHD Acute Inpatient, Crisis, Wraparound, Children's Mobile Crisis, 

Detention Center and Community Services, with oversight and direction from BHD psychiatry 

staff.  BHD is seeking to extend the agreement end date to June 30, 2022 and to amend the 

existing funding by an additional $450,000, increasing the three-year agreement total to 

$1,450,000. This amount reflects a decrease in the annual amount due to agreed, upon changes 

with the child psychiatry fellowship program. 
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The Medical College of Wisconsin, Inc. - $59,794 

BHD is requesting to amend the current agreement with the Department of Psychiatry and 

Behavioral Medicine to provide for partial support of the MCW Psychiatry Residency Director 

salary, in connection with oversight of the resident and fellow training activities occurring within 

Behavioral Health Division services and programs.  BHD is seeking to extend the agreement end 

date to June 30, 2022 and to amend the existing funding by an additional $59,794, increasing the 

three-year agreement total to $179,382. 

 

The Medical College of Wisconsin, Inc. - $10,000 

BHD is requesting to amend the current agreement with the Center for Bioethics and Medical 

Humanities for the purpose of consultation and the provision of continuing education to BHD’s 

Bio-Ethics Committee and clinical staff.  BHD is seeking to extend the agreement end date to 

June 30, 2022 and to amend the existing funding by an additional $10,000, increasing the three-

year agreement total to $30,000. 

 

Youth Services 

 

University of Milwaukee Wisconsin* - $8,181 

This Vendor provides a descriptive study of youth and young adults utilizing Psychiatric Center 

Services and youth services and will collect data on high frequency users of PCS to best meet the 

needs of youth and young adults who are in need of services. BHD is requesting $8,181 for 2021. 

The total three-year contract would be an amount not to exceed $606,281. 

 

Fiscal Summary 

 

The amount of spending requested in this report is summarized below.  

Vendor Name Existing 

Amount/New 

2021 Amount 

Requested 

2022 Amount 

Requested 

Total Contract 

Amount 

Medical College of Wisconsin Affiliated 

Hospital, Inc. (aka MCWAH) 

$1,000,000 $225,000 $225,000  $1,450,000  

The Medical College of Wisconsin, Inc. 

(aka MCW Dept. Of Psychiatry) 

$119,588  $29,897  $29,897  $179,382  

The Medical College of Wisconsin, Inc. 

(aka MCW Center of Bioethics) 

$20,000  $5,000  $5,000  $30,000  

University of Milwaukee Wisconsin* $598,100 $8,181 N/A $606,281 

Total $1,737,688  $268,078  $259,897  $2,265,663  

*Denotes a Vendor whose funding is supported by a grant. 

 

 

 

      

Shakita LaGrant-McClain, Director 

Department of Health and Human Services 

 

cc: Thomas Lutzow, Finance Chairperson 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication  

DATE: March 29, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairperson – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Shakita LaGrant-McClain, Director, Department of Health and Human Services 

Approved by Michael Lappen, Administrator, Behavioral Health Division 

SUBJECT: Report from the Director, Department of Health and Human Services, 

Requesting Authorization to Execute 2020 Purchase-of-Service Agreement 

Amendments with a Value in Excess of $100,000 for the Behavioral Health 

Division for the Provision of Adult and Child Mental Health Services and 

Substance Use Disorder Services 

Issue 

Wisconsin Statute 51.41(10) requires approval for any contract related to mental health 

(substance use disorder) with a value of at least $100,000.  No contract or contract adjustment 

shall take effect until approved by the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board.  Per the statute, 

the Director of the Department of Health and Human Services is requesting authorization for 

BHD/CARS/Wraparound/Inpatient Hospital to execute mental health and substance use 

contracts for 2021. 

Background 

Approval of the recommended contract allocation projections will allow 

BHD/CARS/Wraparound/Inpatient Hospital to provide a broad range of rehabilitation and 

support services to adults with mental health and/or substance use disorders and children with 

serious emotional disturbances. 

Purchase-of-Service Contracts 

Adult Services 

Matt Talbot Recovery Services, Inc. - $269,284 

The Vendor will provide Crisis Stabilization House (CSH) services. BHD released a Request for 

Proposal (RFP) on September 1, 2020 and the vendor was awarded the contract as a result of the 

competitive bid process. BHD is requesting $269,284 for 2021. The total contract amount is 

$5,037,986. 
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Broadstep-Wisconsin (fka Bell Therapy) - $288,567 

The Vendor provides crisis stabilization home services (CSH). BHD is requesting $288,567 to 

support services during the second and third quarters of 2021. The vendor will continue to provide 

CSH services until Matt Talbot Recovery Services, Inc. is operational. The total contract amount 

is $577,135. 

 

 

Fiscal Summary 

 

The amount of spending requested in this report is summarized below.  

 

Vendor Name  

Existing 

Amount/New 

2021 Amount 

Requested 

 

2021 Total 

Contract Amount 

Matt Talbot Recovery 

Services, Inc.  $4,768,702 $269,284 $5,037,986 

Broadstep – Wisconsin 

(fka Bell Therapy)  $288,568 $288,567 $577,135 

Total  $5,057,270 $557,851 $5,615,121 

*Denotes a Vendor whose funding is supported by a grant. 

 

 

 

 

       

Shakita LaGrant-McClain, Director 

Department of Health and Human Services 

 

cc: Thomas Lutzow, Finance Chairperson 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication  

DATE: April 22, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairperson – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Shakita LaGrant-McClain, Director, Department of Health and Human Services 

Approved by Michael Lappen, Administrator, Behavioral Health Division 

SUBJECT: Report from the Director, Department of Health and Human Services, 

Requesting Authorization to Execute 2020/2021 Fee-for-Service Agreement 

Amendments with a Value in Excess of $100,000 for the Behavioral Health 

Division for the Provision of Adult and Child Mental Health Services and 

Substance Use Disorder Services 

Issue 

Wisconsin Statute 51.41(10) requires approval for any contract related to mental health 

(substance use disorder) with a value of at least $100,000.  No contract or contract adjustment 

shall take effect until approved by the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board.  Per the statute, 

the Director of the Department of Health and Human Services is requesting authorization for 

BHD/CARS/Wraparound/Inpatient Hospital to execute mental health and substance use 

contracts for 2020/2021. 

Background 

Approval of the recommended contract allocation projections will allow 

BHD/CARS/Wraparound/Inpatient Hospital to provide a broad range of rehabilitation and 

support services to adults with mental health and/or substance use disorders and children with 

serious emotional disturbances. 

Fee-for-Service Agreements 

Youth Services Contracts 

Clark Square, LLC - $33,000 

This Vendor provides supported apartment services for the Wraparound Milwaukee Program 

serving children/youth and their families. BHD is requesting an additional $33,000 for the 2021 

contract. The two-year contract amount will be increased to $123,000.  
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New Hope & Destiny Home – 110,000 

This Vendor provides group home services for the Wraparound Milwaukee Program serving 

children/youth and their families. BHD is requesting an additional $110,000 for the 2021 

contract. The two-year contract amount will be increased to $155,000.  

 

Fiscal Summary 

 

The amount of spending requested in this report is summarized for each vendor below.  

 

Agency Name 
Existing 

Amount/New 

2021 Contract 

Increase Amount 

Total Contract 

Amount 

Clark Square, LLC 

$90,000 $33,000 $123,000 

New Hope & Destiny Home II, Inc. 

$45,000 $110,000 $155,000 

Totals $135,000 $143,000 $278,000 

*Denotes a Vendors whose funding is supported by a grant 

 

 

 

 

       

Shakita LaGrant-McClain, Director 

Department of Health and Human Services 

 

cc: Thomas Lutzow, Finance Chairperson 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication 

DATE:  March 18, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, PhD, LCSW, Chairperson, Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Michael Lappen, BHD Administrator 
Submitted by John Schneider, MD, FAPA, BHD Chief Medical Officer 

SUBJECT:  Report from the Behavioral Health Division Administrator, Requesting Approval to 

Implement One “Employment Agreement” As Established Under BHD Personnel 

Policy for Specific Classified, Unclassified and Exempt Physician, Psychologist and 

Advanced Practice Nurse County Employees 

Issue 

Wisconsin Statute 51.41(10) requires approval for any contract related to mental health with a value of at 
least $100,000.  No such contract or contact amendment shall take effect until approved by the Milwaukee 
County Mental Health Board. 

Per the above Statute, the BHD Administrator is requesting authorization to establish one (1) new 
“Employment Agreement” with one position for which we are currently recruiting.   

Discussion 

Due to the significant time, effort and expense associated with recruiting and retaining qualified medical staff, 
the Behavioral Health Division, in collaboration with the Compensation Division and Corporation Counsel, 
has established a personnel policy that allows for employment agreements for specific classified, 
unclassified and exempt physician, psychologist and advanced practice nurse classifications within 
Milwaukee County employ.  The purpose of these agreements is to stipulate total compensation including 
fringe benefits, recruitment/retention incentives and to establish a reasonable and fair “minimum resignation 
notice” requirement, which does not exist under Civil Service rules.  

We submit the table below, which lists one (1) personnel transaction that BHD will be requesting the 

Milwaukee County Chief Human Resources Officer to implement, in connection with Employment 

Agreement execution.  

NEW AGREEMENT 

ITEM ID 
HIGH/ 

LOW ORG 

POSITION 
NO. 

POSITIONS 

CURRENT RECOMMENDED INFORMATIIONAL: 
Market equitable alignment based on overall job 

duties/responsibilities, industry competition, competencies 
and education/experience requirements. 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

(on or after) JOB CODE 
PAY 

RANGE 
ANNUAL 
PAY RATE 

PAY 
RANGE 

ANNUAL 
PAY RATE 

EA2021-4A 
6300/ 
6443 

21025000 1 P025 

Min 163,051 

P027 

Min 163,051 X Immediate Recruitment Need. 

06/27/2021 
Mid 199,742 Mid 199,742 X Retention 

Max 236,434 Max 236,434 X Industry shortage / high competition for profession 

N/A $205,000.00 Other:  

The individual practitioner(s) entering into these agreements shall maintain current status as a benefit-eligible COUNTY EMPLOYEE, or if newly hired shall be established as a benefit-
eligible COUNTY EMPLOYEE, including ERS enrollment, and subject to all applicable County and BHD personnel policies and Civil Service rules, where applicable. 

Based on industry shortage and high competition, a recruitment/retention bonus may also be offered in some instances.  All bonuses awarded shall be subject to conditions. Amount of 
bonus for above position(s), if determined to be eligible, shall not exceed $30,000 annually. 

In all cases, any funds identified through the Employment Agreement as a retention or other bonus shall not be considered eligible earnings under the Milwaukee County Pension Plan. 
Therefore, a retention or other bonus shall not affect in any manner any pension benefit under the Employee Retirement System (ERS), including, but not limited to, earnable 

compensation, final average salary, service credit, eligibility for a benefit or timing of a benefit. 
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Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board approve entering into an “Employment 
Agreement” (contract) with the candidate that is selected for the above position for the recommended total 
compensation amounts. 
 
 

References 

 
Wis. Stats. 46.19(4):  the salaries of any superintendent of a mental health institution and the salaries of any 
visiting physician and necessary additional officers and employees whose duties are related to mental health 
shall be fixed by the county executive. 
 
Wis. Stats. 51.41(10):  MENTAL HEALTH CONTRACTS. Any contract related to mental health with a value of at 
least $100,000, to which Milwaukee County is a party may take effect only if the Milwaukee County mental 
health board votes to approve, or does not vote to reject, the contract. 
  
Wis. Stats. 51.42(6m)(i):  Establish salaries and personnel policies of the programs of the county department 
of community programs subject to approval of the county executive or county administrator and county board 
of supervisors, except in Milwaukee County, or the Milwaukee County mental health board in Milwaukee 
County unless the county board of supervisors or the Milwaukee County mental health board elects not to 
review the salaries and personnel policies. 
 

Fiscal Effect 

The recommended compensation contained in this report is supported by currently funded and authorized 
positions within the Behavioral Health Division’s 2021 operating budget.  There is no tax levy associated 
with this request. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
 

 
____________________________________  
Michael Lappen, Administrator 
Behavioral Health Division 
 

 
cc  Maria Perez, Chairperson, Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Finance Committee 
 Shakita LaGrant, Interim Director, Department of Health and Human Services 
 John Schneider, MD, BHD Chief Medical Officer 

 Dean Legler, Milwaukee County Director of Compensation and HRIS 
 Matthew Fortman, DHHS/BHD Fiscal Administrator 
 Lora Dooley, BHD Director of Medical Staff Services 
 Jodi Mapp, BHD Senior Executive Assistant 
 

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/46.19(4)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/51.41(10)
http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/document/statutes/51.42(6m)(i)


COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication 

Date: April 1, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairperson – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Shakita LaGrant, Director, Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) 
Prepared by Dennis Buesing, Contracts Administrator, DHHS 

SUBJECT: Report from Director, Depart of Health and Human Services, providing an update 
on Racial Equity in contracting process and Race and Ethnicity surveys conducted 
with BHD Provider agencies by DHHS Contract Administration 

Issue 
Many smaller BHD provider agencies face challenges with access to capital, administrative 
capacity, and staff training. This can result in inadequate resources and knowledge gaps to 
complete administrative requirements These providers often encounter differences in the 
Request for Proposals (RFP) process or network application process moving from one provider 
network to other networks, or to other divisions. 

Background 
On April 17, the Milwaukee County Board of Supervisors adopted File No. 20-173 which created 
Chapter 108, “Achieving Racial Equity and Health,” of the Milwaukee County Code of General 
Ordinances. BHD is in alignment with this ordinance as BHD leadership continues to focus on 
social determinants of health as well as racial and health equity through the work it does 
internally with its operations and externally, with its participants, contracted provider 
organizations, system, and community partners. Racial Equity and Contracting is one area 
identified by BHD leadership in which there is an opportunity to address structural barriers and 
advance equitable policy and practice. The primary goal is to assess BHD’s and DHHS’s contract 
procurement strategy and develop additional tactics to address structural barriers to expand 
the provider networks and ensure that its diversity is representative of those served by BHD. In 
response, DHHS/BHD established a collaborative Racial Equity in Contracting Workgroup to 
assess its institutional practices through a racial equity lens. Its goal is to develop BHD’s and 
DHHS’s capacity to improve its work with providers and institutional partners to ensure a 
consistent process that addresses their needs.  

To that end, in October through December of 2020, BHD and DHHS Contract Administration 
undertook a Request for Information (RFI) effort to establish base-line data on Racial and Ethnic 
provider participation in order to assess the current provider state with the goal of ensuring 
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that contracted provider diversity is representative of those served by BHD. The results of the 
Request for Information (RFI) process is summarized in the tables below. 

BHD Agency Ownership and Employee Race/Ethnicity Data 
Item 5 BOARD OF DIRECTORS/AGENCY OWNERS/STOCKHOLDERS 

AND ADMINISTRATIVE LEADERSHIP - DIRECTORS/ADMINISTRATORS 
DEMOGRAPHICS  

 

    
 

Race/Ethnicity  Female Male 
 
Disabled Total 

Asian or Pacific Islander 
                  
13  

            
21  

               
2  

            
34  

Black 
                
237  

          
140  

            
13  

          
377  

Hispanic 
                  
54  

            
39  

               
1  

            
93  

American Indian or Alaskan 
Native 

                    
8  

               
5               -    

            
13  

White 
                
301  

          
273  

            
18  

          
574  

Grand Total 
                
613  

          
478  

            
34  

       
1,091  

 
Minority owned/led 64 

Other 98 

Total 162 

2%

17%
4%

1%

26%

50%

Agency Owner /Director and  Leadership

Asian or Pacific Islander

Black

Hispanic

American Indian or
Alaskan Native
White



 
 
Item 5A AGENCY-WIDE EMPLOYEE DEMOGRAPHICS SUMMARY  
 

Race/Ethnicity  Female Male  Disabled  Total  

Asian or Pacific Islander 
                    
860  

             
464  

               
40  

       
1,324  

Black 
                
6,785  

          
2,536  

             
506  

       
9,321  

Hispanic 
                
2,259  

             
747  

             
102  

       
3,006  

American Indian or Alaskan 
Native 

                    
189  

                
65  

               
28  

          
254  

White 
              
10,919  

          
3,615  

             
594  

     
14,534  

Grand Total 
              
21,012  

          
7,427  

         
1,270  

     
28,439  

 

 

  
# of 
Agencies 

Woman Owned 63 

Other 99 

Total 162 

40%

60%

Minority owned Other

2%

16%

5%
1%

26%

50%

Agency Employee Demographic l

Asian or Pacific Islander

Black

Hispanic

American Indian or
Alaskan Native
White

Grand Total



 
 
 
 
Limitations, Challenges and Opportunities 
 
The above data is for BHD as a whole and does not break data out by Fee-for-Service Network 
or Program. The data is at a point in time in 2020. The data categories are the categories used 
by the Wis. Dept. of Health Services (DHS), and does not distinguish the difference between 
racial category and ethnic category.  Therefore, for example, it does not identify White 
Hispanic, Black Hispanic or White Non-Hispanic. It does not provide for persons of more than 
one race, or Nonidentified race. In identifying gender, the data does not reflect transgender 
and nonbinary individuals.  The challenge going forward, is to settle on one consistent and 
generally accept methodology for identifying race, ethnicity, and gender. 
 
Many smaller agencies face challenges with administrative capacity and staff training. These 
providers often encounter differences in the Request for Proposals (RFP) process moving from 
one provider network to another provider network, or to other divisions.  Additionally, there 
are key indicators to help providers successfully compete in the RFP process.  Specific capacity 
building efforts, technical assistance and workshops can improve and ensure a more equitable 
contracting process for BHD. 
 
While it may be more organizationally efficient to work with large providers with stronger 
administrative capacity, this does not guarantee better outcomes for impacted populations. 
The recommendations coming out of the Racial Equity in Contracting Workgroup and the 
related forthcoming consultant’s report will advance efforts in achieving racial and health 
equity in the contracting processes and help address the disparities in the social determinants 
of health.  BHD benefits from partnerships with providers that specialize in serving specific 
populations. Often, institutional, and implicit biases can lead to negative evaluations of 
organizations servicing specific populations and may work against smaller providers. The 
practice of looking at the contracting process through a racial equity lens may identify 

39%

61%

Woman Owned Other



measures to help expand the provider networks and encourage non-profit diversity, which may 
positively impact the talent pool that is available to Milwaukee County.  
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
 
 
 
_________________________  
Shakita LaGrant, Director  
Department of Health and Human Services  
cc: Thomas Lutzow, Finance Committee Chairman 
Mary Neubauer, Quality Committee Chairwoman 



Chairwoman:  Dr. Maria Perez 
Vice-Chairperson:  Walter Lanier 
Secretary:  Mary Neubauer 
Senior Executive Assistant:  Jodi Mapp, 257-5202 

MILWAUKEE COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

Thursday, March 11, 2021 - 10:00 A.M. 
Teleconference Meeting 

MINUTES 

PRESENT: Maria Perez, Walter Lanier, Mary Neubauer, and Thomas Lutzow 

SCHEDULED ITEMS: 

1. Welcome. 

Chairwoman Perez welcomed everyone to the March 11, 2021, Mental Health Board 
Executive Committee remote/virtual Special meeting. 

2. Psychiatric Crisis Services Joint Venture (JV) Roadmap: 

• Milwaukee County Investment

• Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Advance Alert Issue

• Timelines/Schedule

Matt Fortman, Fiscal Administrator, Department of Health and Human Services 
Aaron Hertzberg, Director, Division of Economic and Community Development 

Mr. Fortman stated the Mental Health Board approved the County’s portion of the start-up 
funds at the February Board meeting.  The next step for funding is the capital portion, which 
will be financed through general obligation bonds.  This request will go before the County 
Board of Supervisors for approval later this month.  No major challenges are foreseen.  Both 
the JV member and management services agreements are still in the process of negotiation. 
Construction is anticipated to start in early June.  The facility’s timeline is to be open and 
operational by the Spring of 2022, which is the approximate time the Behavioral Health 
Division’s Psychiatric Crisis Services Emergency Room is expected to no longer be 
operational. 

Vice-Chairman Lanier requested the Board be provided with a high-level roadmap with bullet 
points to keep them abreast.  Mr. Hertzberg indicated the Team would provide the Board with 
a summary of the various documents expected to come before them, inclusive of steps 
remaining and highlighted key points.  He also assured the Committee he intends to keep 
them informed through communications in between meetings.  Vice-Chairman Lanier inquired 
about the Board’s fiduciary responsibility and where it resides within this transaction. 
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SCHEDULED ITEMS (CONTINUED): 

 

Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

Executive Committee 

March 11, 2021  2 of 3 

Mr. Herzberg confirmed information related to the various aspects of funding would be 
included in the summary. 
 
Mr. Fortman acknowledged concerns raised regarding information shared in other venues.  
The understanding from the direction received in December from the Board, with the approval 
of the Letter of Intent, was to move forward and negotiate the details.  It was acknowledged 
the Board should never be the last to know any project related information.  Consideration is 
given regarding the need to keep the project moving and the sense of urgency with which 
some decisions have to be made to expedite matters. 
 
Mr. Herzberg stated they are anticipating a zoning action by the City of Milwaukee on April 1, 
2021.  Documents have been submitted, and there have been discussions surrounding the 
site.  Steps have been taken to subdivide the parcel, and the land will require a special use 
permit to ensure zoning alignment. 
 
Questions and comments ensued at length. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

3.  Enrollment Trends in Wraparound. 
 
Brian McBride, Director, Children’s Community Services and Wraparound Milwaukee, 
Behavioral Health Division 
 
Mr. McBride referenced past reporting related to overall Wraparound Health Management 
Organization (HMO) enrollment.  The focus has been on the Wraparound HMO’s declining 
numbers in court ordered programs.  There has been a decrease in HMO numbers and 
contracting, and enrollment certainly impacts funding mechanisms overall.  The number of 
referrals received from Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice have decreased.  However, there is 
a key part of the data reflecting a drastic increase in Comprehensive Community Services 
(CCS) enrollment within the total system of care, which includes multiple programs.  Those 
numbers continue to rise.  This is one of a few reasons for the HMO decrease. 
 
Mr. Fortman stated there has been a reduction in cost per enrollee during the pandemic.  
While the overall capitated revenue has decreased with the enrollment, overall spending has 
also decreased. 
 
Question and comments ensued. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

4.  Adjournment. 
 
Chairwoman Perez ordered the meeting adjourned. 
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March 11, 2021  3 of 3 

 

This meeting was recorded.  The official copy of these minutes, along with the audio recording of 
this meeting, is available on the Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division/Mental Health 
Board web page. 
 
Length of meeting:  10:03 a.m. to 10:53 a.m. 
 
Adjourned, 
 
 

Jodi Mapp 
 

Jodi Mapp 

Senior Executive Assistant 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 
 

 
The next meeting for the 

Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Executive Committee 
Will be on Thursday, August 12, 2021, at 1:30 p.m. 

 
Visit the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Web Page at: 

https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance 
 

 
 
 
The March 11, 2021, meeting minutes of the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 
Executive Committee have been reviewed and are hereby approved. 
 

  
        
Maria Perez, Chairwoman 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance
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Chairperson:  Thomas Lutzow 
Senior Executive Assistant:  Jodi Mapp, 257-5202 

MILWAUKEE COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

Thursday, March 25, 2021 - 1:30 P.M. 
Teleconference Meeting 

MINTUES 

PRESENT: Thomas Lutzow, Jon Lehrmann, Duncan Shrout, Kathie Eilers, and Mary Neubauer 

SCHEDULED ITEMS: 

1. Welcome. 

Chairman Lutzow welcomed everyone to the March 25, 2021, Mental Health Board Finance 
Committee’s quarterly remote/virtual meeting. 

2. 2020 Year-End Financial Reporting Package and Dashboard. 

2020 was an incredibly tumultuous year for the Behavioral Health Division (BHD).  The pandemic 
created a situation of limited bed capacity on inpatient units, which has a severe impact on the 
ability to generate revenue.  The year ended with significant patient revenue loss.  It was offset 
by CARES Act revenue.  BHD continues to experience costs related to the Systems 
Improvement Agreement and incurred a deficit for State institute costs.  One large variance 
discovered at the end of the year was the amount of the Wisconsin Medicaid Cost Reporting 
(WIMCR) payment received.  The amount was substantially above what was expected/budgeted.  
The Wraparound Milwaukee program broke even, and great savings was achieved with active 
fringe benefits. 

An overview was provided of the 2020 year-end fiscal report detailing combined reporting, 
inpatient hospital annual projections, and 2020 year-to-date revenues and expenses.  Program 
Dashboards for acute adult inpatient, child and adolescent inpatient (CAIS), Psychiatric Crisis 
Services (PCS), Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse (AODA), Wraparound, Targeted Case 
Management (TCM), Comprehensive Community Services (CCS), and Community Support 
Programs (CSP) were all reviewed.  Year-end financial highlights included information on 
inpatient census, state institutions, final County fringe settlement, CCS growth, and AODA costs. 

Questions and comments ensued. 

This item was informational. 
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Finance Committee 

March 25, 2021  2 of 4 

3.  December 2020 Financial Reporting Package. 
 
The report associated with this item reflects similar information presented in Item 2 but provides 
a more detailed financial view.  It’s a historical document to help track changes compared to the 
previous reporting package update. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

4.  Update on Financial Vulnerabilities, Risks, and Progress on Initiatives Related to the 2021 
Budget. 
 
An ongoing risk for the Behavioral Health Division (BHD) is the general financial health of 
Milwaukee County and its struggles with structural budget issues.  BHD has a statutory tax levy 
floor of $53 million.  In recent years, close to $55 million has been needed to sustain current 
operations.  However, there has been an expenditure reduction in the form of a $2 million 
structural deficit item in BHD’s budget.  This item was assumed to be a temporary item but 
appears to be more long term than expected.  Potential tax levy savings has already been 
identified with the new substance use residential benefit. 
 
The hospital is currently in the process of executing a Systems Improvement Agreement with the 
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services to address all facility deficiencies.  To date, there 
are more than adequate reserves in the capital reserve fund to overcome any unforeseen costs. 
 
Inpatient revenue loss remains a concern.  2020 was able to overcome the loss through one-time 
unique CARES Act funding.  There will be new federal action for 2021.  The opportunity is there 
to cover some of this loss with those funds.  The State has been in contact to assist with certified 
public expenditure revenue.  Revenue for inpatient services this year will be substantially under 
budget even though there has been an increase in census in recent weeks. 
 
BHD has received decreases in Wraparound Milwaukee’s capitated rate for the past several 
years and is working with an external actuarial firm on drafting a letter to the Department of 
Health Services (DHS) outlining concerns with their rate setting process. 
 
In 2020, DHS issued interim rate increases for Crisis Intervention services assuming counties 
would continue or expand.  Since the pandemic, there had been a decline in crisis intervention 
services being provided and is causing a less favorable Crisis Intervention cost settlement 
payment for Milwaukee County in 2021. 
 
As BHD looks to sunset the hospital and opening the Mental Health Emergency Center, new 
risks come into play, which brings in the possibility of unforeseen costs. 
 
This item was informational. 
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5.  Impact of the Governor’s 2021 – 2023 Proposed State Budget on Behavioral Health 
Division Programs and Services. 
 
The Governor’s proposed State Budget is very aggressive on behavioral health services.  There 
are a lot of exciting proposals contained therein.  The likelihood of those becoming adopted items 
in the final budget seems pretty low at this point due to the political climate in Madison.  
Highlights were given from the State’s proposed budget having a direct impact on BHD. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

6.  Quarterly Fund Transfers Update. 
 
The report reflects fund transfers submitted and applied in the last quarter.  Fund or appropriation 
transfers are effectively budget amendments.  They are used mostly as an off-budget process to 
either recognize new grant revenue or move funds around between cost centers.  The transfers 
reflected relate to the Systems Improvement Agreement and grant and pandemic funding 
received. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

7.  Quarterly Reserve Fund Update. 
 
The Committee was asked to keep in mind the numbers reflected in the report are preliminary 
and subject to change.  There are significant capital costs in the projections.  Most of those costs 
are encumbrance carryovers, meaning it’s not an actual expense.  The numbers are not 
expected to drastically change.  An update will be provided once the numbers are finalized.  
Commitments impacting the 2021 Reserves were discussed. 
 
Questions and comments ensued. 
 
The Committee directed staff to report on reserve fund vulnerabilities including but not limited to 
System Improvement Agreement related items, transferring staff to Universal Health Services, 
staff relocation efforts, etc.  An itemized list needs to be created to ensure the vulnerabilities are 
being managed the right way. 
 
This item was informational. 
 

8.  Wraparound Milwaukee Audit Report. 
 
The associated report is Wraparound’s recently completed audit through Baker Tilly for years 
ending December 31, 2017; 2018; and 2019.  The audit found the submitted financial report 
presents fairly, in all material respects, the total claim payments to providers and administrative 
expenses described.  It was an audit with no findings. 
 
This item was informational. 
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9.  Adjournment. 
 
Chairman Lutzow ordered the meeting adjourned. 
 

This meeting was recorded.  The official copy of these minutes and subject reports, along with the 
audio recording of this meeting, is available on the Milwaukee County Behavioral Health 
Division/Mental Health Board web page. 
 
Length of meeting:  1:31 p.m. to 3:09 p.m. 
 
 
Adjourned, 
 
 

Jodi Mapp 
 
 
Jodi Mapp 
Senior Executive Assistant 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

 
The next meeting of the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

Finance Committee is scheduled for 
Thursday, April 22, 2021, at 8:00 a.m. 

 
Visit the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Web Page at: 

 
https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance 

 

 

https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance


2020 Projected Annual Revenues & Expenses by Percentage
Actual YTD Projection Budget Variance

Revenue 162,606,891    176,119,475   184,016,369   (7,896,894)         
Expense
  Personnel 64,352,553      67,749,451     70,730,497     2,981,046          
  Svcs/Commodities 16,475,950      17,661,300     20,083,737     2,422,437          
  Other Chgs/Vendor 138,182,567    138,537,745   141,718,302   3,180,557          
  Capital 1,380,705         3,959,695       4,311,014       351,319              
  Cross Charges 43,464,535      43,364,705     45,935,961     2,571,256          
  Abatements (37,896,655)     (37,896,655)    (41,530,392)    (3,633,737)         
Total Expense 225,959,656    233,376,241   241,249,119   7,872,878          
  Tax Levy 63,352,765      57,256,767     57,232,750     (24,017)               

Note: "Other Charges" in Expenditures include all Provider Payments - Fee For Service, 
Purchase of Service and other contracted services.

Financial Highlights & Major Variances 2020 Budget Initiatives

Initiative Status
 Inpatient revenue deficit from COVID-19 bed limit ($6.0m) FQHC Partnership In progress

offset by $2.3m CARES revenue and $3.4m payroll relief CARES CCS Expansion Enrollment increase on track
funds Third CRC Location In progress

 SIA Capital, IT, and Consulting costs ($6.3m) State Institutes over budget Positive trend turned negative in Q4
 State Institutions ($.4m) deficit
 WIMCR settlement $6.4 for community Medicaid programs
 Wraparound breakeven due to lower than anticipated Complete Not Done Progressing

spending throughout 2020
 Active health and pension favorable $2.9m

BHD COMBINED DASHBOARD
Year End December 2020

2020 Annual Projection

Finance Committee Item 2



Year End 2020

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIVISION

 DASHBOARD REPORT
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Actual YTD Projection Budget Variance
Revenue 14,610,838   15,610,838  16,355,583  (744,745)      
Expense
  Personnel 15,306,416   16,510,229  16,961,310  451,081       
  Svcs/Commodities 2,933,498      2,937,675    2,582,826    (354,849)      
  Other Chgs/Vendor 4,071,641      4,220,642    3,849,001    (371,641)      
  Capital - - -                 -                
  Cross Charges 8,336,933      8,336,948    8,769,988    433,040       
  Abatements - - -                 -                
Total Expense 30,648,488   32,005,494  32,163,125  157,631       
  Tax Levy 16,037,649   16,394,656  15,807,542  (587,114)      

Percentage Spent 95%
Percentage Yr Elapsed 100%

2020 Annual Projection

ACUTE ADULT INPATIENT DASHBOARD
Year End December 2020
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Actual YTD Projection Budget Variance
Revenue 3,121,661      3,121,661   4,052,472   (930,811)      
Expense
  Personnel 4,312,461      4,115,339   4,178,417   63,078          
  Svcs/Commodities 192,266         192,266       270,743       78,477          
  Other Chgs/Vendor - -               -               - 
  Capital - -               -               - 
  Cross Charges 2,700,252      2,700,252   2,810,114   109,862        
  Abatements - -               -               - 
Total Expense 7,204,979      7,007,858   7,259,274   251,416        
  Tax Levy 4,083,318      3,886,197   3,206,802   (679,395)      

Percentage Spent 99%
Percentage Yr Elapsed 100%

2020 Annual Projection

CAIS (Child & Adolescent Inpatient) DASHBOARD
Year End December 2020
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   Number of PCS visits plateaued/decreased for the 10 months from June 2019
   through March 2020 prior to the Covid related drop in April 2020:

Actual YTD Projection Budget Variance
Revenue 9,652,421      9,652,421    8,959,547    692,874       
Expense
  Personnel 11,413,676   12,213,653  12,172,526  (41,127)        
  Svcs/Commodities 390,010         429,333        529,199        99,866         
  Other Chgs/Vendor - - - -               
  Capital - - - -               
  Cross Charges 5,360,717      5,360,717    5,833,717    473,000       
  Abatements - - - -               
Total Expense 17,164,403   18,003,704  18,535,442  531,738       
  Tax Levy 7,511,982      8,351,283    9,575,895    1,224,612   

Percentage Spent 93%
Percentage Yr Elapsed 100%

2020 Annual Projection

PCS - ER and Observation DASHBOARD
Year End December 2020
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Actual YTD Projection Budget Variance
Revenue 57,731,378     59,231,378        66,165,403       (6,934,025)     
Expense
  Personnel 5,633,051       5,862,734          7,107,906         1,245,172      
  Svcs/Commodities 1,106,209       1,158,699          1,484,642         325,943         
  Other Chgs/Vendor 51,438,522     52,069,992        58,540,053       6,470,061      
  Capital - - - - 
  Cross Charges 6,423,845       6,324,000          6,622,829         298,829         
  Abatements (5,307,389)      (5,307,389)         (6,887,447)        (1,580,058)     
Total Expense 59,294,237     60,108,035        66,867,983       6,759,948      
  Tax Levy 1,562,859       876,657              702,580            (174,077)        

WRAP by Low Org

Wrap (6474) CCS (6477) FIS (6483)
REVENUE:

State and Federal Revenue 3,053,606 982,884 242,830
Other Direct Revenue 46,145,918 8,806,140 0

Revenue Total 49,199,525 9,789,024 242,830

EXPENDITURE:
PERSONAL SERVICES 5,733,151 0 129,582
COMMODITIES/SERVICES 971,070 187,628 0
OTHER CHARGES 42,199,374 9,540,090 330,528
CAPITAL OUTLAYS 0 0 0
CROSSCHARGES 6,119,862 143,972 60,166
ABATEMENTS (5,307,389) 0 0

Expenditure Total 49,716,069 9,871,690 520,276

TAX LEVY 516,545 82,667 277,446

WRAPAROUND DASHBOARD

2020 Annual Projection

Year End December 2020

Projected 2020
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Actual YTD Projection Budget Variance
Revenue 6,364,833        8,799,473          6,452,193  2,347,280           
Expense
  Personnel 249,691           234,916             269,925     35,009                
  Svcs/Commodities 1,526               1,526 -              (1,526) 
  Other Chgs/Vendor 6,851,917        6,851,917          6,221,476  (630,441)             
  Capital - - -              - 
  Cross Charges 540,191           540,191             583,222     43,031                
  Abatements - - -              - 
Total Expense 7,643,325        7,628,550          7,074,623  (553,927)             
  Tax Levy 1,278,493        (1,170,922)         622,430     1,793,352           

Average Enrollment 1,001               1,001 1,500          

*** Non-billable services are paid to Providers, but not billable to Medicaid

TCM (Targeted Case Management) DASHBOARD

2020 Annual Projection

Year End December 2020
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Actual YTD Projection Budget Variance
Revenue 24,701,008    28,581,430        25,651,648   2,929,782      
Expense
  Personnel 743,219         751,964              769,623         17,659            
  Svcs/Commodities 10,757            10,757                - (10,757)          
  Other Chgs/Vendor 26,166,112    26,166,112        24,594,651   (1,571,461)     
  Capital - - - - 
  Cross Charges 1,986,675      1,986,675           2,208,486     221,811         
  Abatements - - - - 
Total Expense 28,906,762    28,915,507        27,572,760   (1,342,747)     
  Tax Levy 4,205,754      334,077              1,921,112     1,587,035      

Average Enrollment 1,411              1,411 1,340             

CCS (Comprehensive Community Services) DASHBOARD

2020 Annual Projection

Year End December 2020
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Actual YTD Projection Budget Variance
Revenue 14,134,157  15,848,670        13,172,746  2,675,924   
Expense
  Personnel 243,092        280,437              363,441        83,004         
  Svcs/Commodities 71,978          232,468              50,304          (182,164)      
  Other Chgs/Vendor 14,731,859  14,731,095        14,245,515  (485,580)      
  Capital 4,179            4,179 -                 (4,179)          
  Cross Charges 1,220,609    1,220,609          1,322,830    102,221       
  Abatements -                 - -                 -                
Total Expense 16,271,719  16,468,789        15,982,090  (486,699)      
  Tax Levy 2,137,562    620,119              2,809,344    2,189,225   

Average Enrollment 1,279            1,279 1,293            

Agency December YTD Total Agency December
Broadstep 6,063              69,451          Broadstep 134 117 

MMHA 9,149              131,077        MMHA 205 210 
OCHC 4,735              63,956          OCHC 119 118 

Project Access 22,836            253,774        Project Access 321 313 
WCS 19,842            216,298        WCS 269 272 

Whole Health 11,996            133,950        Whole Health 244 245 
Grand Total 74,621            868,506         Grand Total 1,292            1,274              

CSP (Community Support Program) DASHBOARD

2020 Annual Projection

Year End December 2020

YTD Ave per 
Month
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Behavioral Health Division
Combined Reporting
2020 Annual Projection as of December 2020

Hospital
Community 

Services
Mgmt/ 

Ops/Fiscal Total BHD Hospital
Community 

Services
Mgmt/ 

Ops/Fiscal Total BHD Hospital
Community 

Services
Mgmt/ 

Ops/Fiscal Total BHD
Revenue
  BCA 7,700,026      14,636,560    - 22,336,586    7,700,026       14,636,560     - 22,336,586     -               -               -               - 
  State & Federal - 26,886,483    1,955,319      28,841,802    2,731,910       25,412,029     531,506          28,675,445     2,731,910   (1,474,454)  (1,423,813)  (166,357)             
  Patient Revenue 21,587,576    102,814,556  50,000            124,452,132  17,846,137     105,408,218  73,197            123,327,552  (3,741,439)  2,593,662   23,197         (1,124,580)         
  Other 80,000            1,653,578      6,652,271      8,385,849      106,848          1,428,962       244,082          1,779,892       26,848         (224,616)     (6,408,189)  (6,605,957)         
Sub-Total Revenue 29,367,602    145,991,177  8,657,590      184,016,369  28,384,920     146,885,769  848,785          176,119,475  (982,682)     894,592       (7,808,805)  (7,896,894)         

Expense
  Salary 15,580,572    10,780,089    7,762,237      34,122,898    14,307,123     8,792,663       7,099,190       30,198,977     1,273,449   1,987,426   663,047       3,923,921           
  Overtime 626,088         3,276              137,664         767,028         2,454,832       266,825          320,041          3,041,697       (1,828,744)  (263,549)     (182,377)     (2,274,669)         
  Fringe 17,105,593    11,361,107    7,373,871      35,840,571    16,077,266     9,941,456       8,490,057       34,508,779     1,028,327   1,419,651   (1,116,186)  1,331,792           
  Services/Commodities 3,382,768      3,404,946      13,296,023    20,083,737    3,559,275       2,198,245       11,903,780     17,661,300     (176,507)     1,206,701   1,392,243   2,422,437           
  Other Charges/Vendor 3,849,001      137,869,301  - 141,718,302  4,220,642       134,317,103  (0) 138,537,745  (371,641)     3,552,198   0 3,180,557           
  Capital - - 4,311,014      4,311,014      - 4,179              3,955,516       3,959,695       -               (4,179)          355,498       351,319              
  Cross Charges 17,413,819    19,328,142    9,194,000      45,935,961    16,397,918     18,162,623     8,804,163       43,364,705     1,015,901   1,165,519   389,837       2,571,256           
  Abatements - (6,894,326)     (34,636,066)   (41,530,392)   - (5,307,389)      (32,589,266)   (37,896,655)   -               (1,586,937)  (2,046,800)  (3,633,737)         
Total Expense 57,957,841    175,852,535  7,438,743      241,249,119  57,017,056     168,375,706  7,983,481       233,376,243  940,785       7,476,829   (544,738)     7,872,876           

  Tax Levy 28,590,239    29,861,358    (1,218,847)     57,232,750    28,632,136     21,489,937     7,134,695       57,256,768    (41,897)       8,371,421   (8,353,542)  (24,018)              

Encumbrances included in Projected Results 4,641,491           
4,617,473           

Hospital includes Adult Inpatient, Child and Adolescent Inpatient and Crisis ER/Observation.

Mgmt/Ops/Fiscal includes administrative functions includes all support functions such as: management, quality, contracts, legal, dietary, fiscal, admissions, medical records and facilities.
The projected cost of these functions which is allocated out to the BHD programs is: 32,589,266$  

Community includes Wraparound, AODA and Community Mental Health.

Community Mental Health includes major programs: TCM, CCS, CSP and CRS in addition to CBRF, CCC, IOP, Day Treatment, Community 
Administrative functions and Community Crisis programs including Mobile Teams, Access Clinic and contracted crisis services.

2020 Budget 2020 Annual Projection 2020 Projected Surplus/(Deficit)
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Behavioral Health Division

Community Services (CARS & Wraparound)
2020 Annual Projection as of December 2020

AODA
Mental 
Health WRAP Total CARSD AODA

Mental 
Health WRAP Total CARSD AODA

Mental 
Health WRAP Total CARSD

Revenue
  BCA 2,140,003     12,496,557  - 14,636,560     2,046,997 12,589,563  -                 14,636,560     (93,006)        93,006          - - 
  State & Federal 11,251,607  10,663,631  4,971,245      26,886,483     11,457,167 9,675,542     4,279,320     25,412,029     205,560       (988,089)      (691,925)       (1,474,454)     
  Patient Revenue -                 41,710,398  61,104,158    102,814,556  0 50,637,140  54,771,078  105,408,218  -                8,926,742    (6,333,080)    2,593,662      
  Other 550,000        1,013,578     90,000            1,653,578       407,364 840,618        180,980        1,428,962       (142,636)      (172,960)      90,980           (224,616)        
Sub-Total Revenue 13,941,610  65,884,164  66,165,403    145,991,177  13,911,528  73,742,863  59,231,378  146,885,769  (30,082)        7,858,699    (6,934,025)    894,592          

Expense
  Salary 150,663        7,017,064     3,612,362      10,780,089     119,422 5,831,758     2,841,483     8,792,663       31,241         1,185,306    770,879        1,987,426      
  Overtime -                 -                 3,276              3,276               0 247,938        18,888          266,825          -                (247,938)      (15,612)         (263,549)        
  Fringe 104,379        7,764,460     3,492,268      11,361,107     96,938 6,842,155     3,002,363     9,941,456       7,441            922,305        489,905        1,419,651      
  Services/Commodities 598,955        1,321,349     1,484,642      3,404,946       182,592 856,954        1,158,699     2,198,245       416,363       464,395        325,943        1,206,701      
  Other Charges/Vendor 14,000,146  65,329,102  58,540,053    137,869,301  13,304,417 68,942,695  52,069,992  134,317,103  695,729       (3,613,593)   6,470,061     3,552,198      
  Capital -                 -                 - - 0 4,179            -                 4,179               -                (4,179)           - (4,179)             
  Cross Charges 1,375,951     11,329,362  6,622,829      19,328,142     1,236,621     10,602,003  6,324,000     18,162,623     139,330       727,360        298,829        1,165,519      
  Abatements -                 (6,879)           (6,887,447)     (6,894,326)      -                 -                 (5,307,389)   (5,307,389)      -                (6,879)           (1,580,058)    (1,586,937)     
Total Expense 16,230,094  92,754,458  66,867,983    175,852,535  14,939,990  93,327,681  60,108,035  168,375,706  1,290,104    (573,223)      6,759,948     7,476,829      

  Tax Levy 2,288,484     26,870,294  702,580         29,861,358    1,028,462     19,584,818  876,657        21,489,937    1,260,022    7,285,476    (174,077)       8,371,421      
(2,019,385)   3,359,636    2,747,963     4,088,213      

Community Mental Health includes the following major programs: TCM, CCS, CSP and CRS in addition to CBRF, CCC, IOP, Day Treatment, Community Administrative functions,

2020 Budget 2020 Projected Surplus/(Deficit)2020 Annual Projection



Behavioral Health Division
Inpatient - Hospital
2020 Annual Projection as of December 2020

Adult CAIS Crisis ER/Obs
Total 

Inpatient Adult CAIS Crisis ER/Obs
Total 

Inpatient Adult CAIS
Crisis 

ER/Obs
Total 

Inpatient
Revenue
  BCA -                  -                  7,700,026     7,700,026     - - 7,700,026     7,700,026     -                -                -                -                
  State & Federal -                  -                  -                  -                  1,478,259     413,284        840,367        2,731,910     1,478,259    413,284       840,367       2,731,910    
  Patient Revenue 16,355,583   3,972,472     1,259,521     21,587,576   14,132,580   2,601,529     1,112,028     17,846,137   (2,223,003)  (1,370,943)  (147,493)      (3,741,439)  
  Other -                  80,000           -                  80,000           - 106,848        - 106,848        -                26,848         -                26,848         
Sub-Total Revenue 16,355,583   4,052,472     8,959,547     29,367,602   15,610,838   3,121,661     9,652,421     28,384,920   (744,745)      (930,811)      692,874       (982,682)      

Expense
  Salary 7,339,790     2,014,092     6,226,690     15,580,572   6,763,354     1,933,881     5,609,888     14,307,123   576,436       80,211         616,802       1,273,449    
  Overtime 404,496         41,304           180,288         626,088         1,200,296     200,877        1,053,659     2,454,832     (795,800)      (159,573)      (873,371)      (1,828,744)  
  Fringe 9,217,024     2,123,021     5,765,548     17,105,593   8,546,579     1,980,581     5,550,106     16,077,266   670,445       142,440       215,442       1,028,327    
  Services/Commodities 2,582,826     270,743         529,199         3,382,768     2,937,675     192,266        429,333        3,559,275     (354,849)      78,477         99,866         (176,507)      
  Other Charges/Vendor 3,849,001     -                  -                  3,849,001     4,220,642     - - 4,220,642     (371,641)      -                -                (371,641)      
  Capital -                  -                  -                  -                  - - - - -                -                -                -                
  Cross Charges 8,769,988     2,810,114     5,833,717     17,413,819   8,336,948     2,700,252     5,360,717     16,397,918   433,040       109,862       473,000       1,015,901    
  Abatements -                  -                  -                  -                  - - - - -                -                -                -                
Total Expense 32,163,125   7,259,274     18,535,442   57,957,841   32,005,494   7,007,858     18,003,704   57,017,056   157,631       251,416       531,738       940,785       

  Tax Levy 15,807,542   3,206,802     9,575,895     28,590,239   16,394,656   3,886,197     8,351,283     28,632,136  (587,114)     (679,395)     1,224,612   (41,897)        
281,309       (1,212,418)  (955,714)      (1,886,823)  

$5.0m relief from CARES act ($2.7m revenue for dedicated payroll and $2.3m Hospital payments) in addition to $1m Active Fringe surplus covered revenue shortfall from census limitations

2020 Budget 2020 Annual Projection 2020 Projected Surplus/(Deficit)



Behavioral Health Division
Management/Operations/Fiscal
2020 Annual Projection as of December 2020

2020 Budget
2020 Annual 

Projection
2020 Projected 

Surplus/(Deficit)

Revenue
  BCA - - - 
  State & Federal 1,955,319                531,506 (1,423,813) For CARES Fed Revenue the County removed costs instead
  Patient Revenue 50,000 73,197 23,197 
  Other 6,652,271                244,082 (6,408,189) Will settle up from reserves at year end as needed
Sub-Total Revenue 8,657,590                848,785 (7,808,805) 

Expense
  Salary 7,762,237                7,099,190 663,047 
  Overtime 137,664 320,041 (182,377) 
  Fringe 7,373,871                8,490,057 (1,116,186) County targeted reduction of BHD levy in Budget ($2m)
  Services/Commodities 13,296,023              11,903,780 1,392,243 
  Other Charges/Vendor - (0) 0 
  Capital 4,311,014                3,955,516 355,498 $1.4m in actual expense, $2.5m in encumbrance carryover
  Cross Charges 9,194,000                8,804,163 389,837 
  Abatements (34,636,066)            (32,589,266)                (2,046,800) 
Total Expense 7,438,743                7,983,481 (544,738) 

  Tax Levy (1,218,847)              7,134,695 (8,353,542) Kept SIA costs and encumbrances here, did not allocate
out to the programs, resulting in "tax levy" of $7.1m

R:\DHHS Budget Team\2020\DASHBOARD_BHD\December 2020 Reporting Package



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication  

DATE: March 8, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairperson – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Shakita LaGrant, Director, Department of Health and Human Services 
Prepared by Matt Fortman, Fiscal Administrator, DHHS 

SUBJECT: Report from the Director, Department of Health and Human Services, Notifying the 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board of Financial Risks, Vulnerabilities, and 
Progress on Budget Initiatives 

Issue 

This is a standing item on financial vulnerabilities, risks, and progress on budget items be added to 
the Finance Committee Agenda. This list will be updated as risks and vulnerabilities shift. 

Background 

The Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division has identified the following vulnerabilities. 

Risks & Vulnerabilities 

1) Milwaukee County General Financial Health

Milwaukee County has struggled with stagnant revenues for several decades. The Behavioral
Health Division is somewhat isolated from these issues with a statutory tax levy floor of
$53,000,000. The 2021 adopted budget includes $53,080,449 in local tax levy funds; $80,449
above the tax levy floor.

The 2021 budget also includes an expenditure reduction of $2 million. This is a structural deficit
included in BHD’s budget to help mitigate Milwaukee County’s financial strain. BHD’s actual
need for tax levy anticipated in the 2021 budget is $55,080,499. When the $2 million
expenditure reduction was initially put into BHD’s budget, it was assumed that it would be
removed when Milwaukee County achieved success through Fair Deal initiative. It now seems
unlikely that Milwaukee County will be able to remove the $2 million reduction before BHD’s
surplus is reduced to the $10 million required balance. BHD may have to reduce spending in
2021 to overcome to the $2 million structural deficit.

At the time of the writing of this report, BHD anticipates a tax levy surplus related to the
Substance Use Disorder Residential Medicaid benefit. There are additional possible items
included in Governor Evers’ 2021-2023 recommended budget that could help mitigate or
resolve the structural deficit.
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2) BHD Systems Improvement Agreement Costs

The psychiatric hospital is currently participating in a System Improvement Agreement (SIA) with 
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) to address all facility deficiencies now 
scheduled for completion by March 30, 2021. The Mental Health Board approved an amount not 
to exceed $3.0 million in March 2020 and an additional $2.0m in October 2020. The capital 
spending is in addition to the $2.5 million in consulting and information technology costs related 
to the SIA. BHD Administration is working with Wisconsin DHS to identify opportunities for 
waivers to some improvements and is exploring lower-cost options to others. Additional capital 
costs due to regulatory and building code issues will remain a risk until the aged Mental Health 
Complex fully closes in 2022. 

3) BHD Inpatient Revenue Loss due to Bed Capacity Reduction

Due to COVID-19 mitigation efforts, BHD has been running below 60% of budgeted bed capacity 
since the pandemic began in March 2020: 

BHD is currently projecting a $7.2m inpatient revenue deficit in 2021 due to ongoing 
inpatient bed capacity reductions. To offset this, DHS has offered to accelerate CPE 
payments to provide relief and has awarded BHD an additional $3.5m in community aids 
funding. The two of these items are expected offset the anticipated 2021 revenue loss. 

43A 43B 43C Acute Adult CAIS

Jan 14.3         14.8         14.8         43.9             7.9           

Feb 14.3         12.9         12.0         39.3             9.0           

Mar 14.3         13.6         14.1         42.0             3.9           

Apr 8.3           10.5         8.9           27.7             0.7           

May 8.2           10.2         9.6           28.0             2.9           

Jun 5.9           11.4         10.7         28.1             4.0           

Jul 8.0           8.5           10.9         27.4             2.3           

Aug 6.4           11.0         10.5         27.9             4.3           

Sep 7.5           11.8         11.1         30.4             4.4           

Oct 7.0           10.6         10.1         27.7             4.3           

Nov 8.4           10.6         9.4           28.4             3.9           

Dec 8.7           10.5         9.7           29.0             4.0           

Total 9.3           11.4         11.0         31.7             4.3           

Average Daily Census

2020 BHD Acute Inpatient - Average Daily Census

Month
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4) Wraparound Milwaukee Capitated Rate

Wraparound Milwaukee’s capitated rate has been an ongoing source of concern. The SFY 2021
rate represents a 0.2% decrease over prior year rate. Wraparound has partnered with an
external actuarial firm to review DHS’ rate setting assumptions for Wraparound Milwaukee.

5) 2020 Crisis Intervention Cost Report

In 2020, DHS issued interim rate increases for Crisis Intervention services. These rate increases
assumed that counties in Wisconsin would continue or expand and existing rates of crisis
intervention services. Since the pandemic began, Milwaukee County has seen a 30% decline in
crisis intervention services being provided during the pandemic. This decrease in services has a
possibility of causing a less favorable Crisis Intervention cost settlement payment for Milwaukee
County in 2021.

6) Ongoing System Change

In the first half of 2022, BHD anticipates fully closing the Mental Health Complex on Watertown
Plank Road including the inpatient psychiatric hospital, the Psychiatric Crisis Services emergency
room, and administrative space for 287 FTE BHD staff. Unexpected delays in any of these three
transitions could lead to substantial unanticipated costs that would need to be covered by BHD
reserve funds.

Respectfully Submitted, 

_________________________ 

Shakita LaGrant, Director 
Department of Health and Human Services 

cc:  Thomas Lutzow, Finance Committee Chairman 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication 

  DATE: March 8, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairperson – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Shakita La Grant-McClain, Director, Department of Health and Human Services 

Prepared by Matt Fortman, Fiscal Administrator, DHHS 

SUBJECT: Report from the Director, Department Health and Human Services, Detailing Potential 

2021-2023 State Governor’s Proposed Budget Impacts on the Behavioral Health 

Division 

Issue 

In February 2021, 2019 Gov. Evers introduced the 2021-2023 State Biennial Budget proposal. Fiscal and 
program staff for the Behavioral Health Division have reviewed the budget and identified potential risks 
and opportunities that could conceivably impact programs and services provided by the Milwaukee 
County Behavioral Health Division. 

These budget initiatives are not yet finalized. There is a high likelihood that some or all budget proposals 
will not be included in the final 2021-2023 State Biennial Budget. 

Discussion 

The following are initiatives identified as potential impact items for BHD: 

Medicaid Expansion: 

The Governor’s budget proposes an expansion of Medicaid eligibility under the Affordable Care Act by 

covering all Wisconsin residents who earn incomes up to 138 percent of the federal poverty level. This is 

expected to insure over 80,000 additional Wisconsinites, many of whom reside in Milwaukee County. 

This would result in $1.2m estimated savings for inpatient services at the Behavioral Health Division. It is 

also anticipated that expansion of healthcare coverage will reduce reliance on emergency room 

psychiatric services for this population. 

Funding to expand BadgerCare to cover room and board costs for Wisconsinites receiving treatment in 

residential substance use disorder treatment facilities: 

The current Medicaid benefit for residential substance use disorder treatment facilities went into effect 

February 1, 2021. This benefit currently only covers the cost of care and maintenance services, leaving 

Wisconsin counties and providers to support room and board costs with local, grant, and donation 
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funding. If Medicaid funds are used to support room and board costs, this would provide a potential 

$1.0m savings to the Behavioral Health Division. 

Funding to support multiple Regional Crisis Stabilization Facilities to support a community-based 

treatment approach that aims to reduce the need for future intensive care: 

It is unclear what the criteria for these regional crisis stabilization facilities will be, but Milwaukee 

County is most likely already funding services that fit this definition. Depending on the amount of 

funding directed at Milwaukee County, these funds could be used to expand or enhance existing crisis 

stabilizations services. 

Funding to support Milwaukee County Crisis Mobile and Trauma Response Teams to support a expand 

response to behavioral health crisis without law enforcement: 

One of the key challenges in expanding crisis intervention services in this setting is the lack of Medicaid 

funding for individuals encountered. State funding for this initiative removes that barrier and allows 

expansion for crisis intervention in non-traditional settings. This would initiative is aimed at reducing 

hospitalizations and reducing law enforcement involvement in emergent mental health crises occurring 

in the community. 

Medicaid Rate Increases for Mental Health Outpatient and Medication Assisted Treatment services: 

This would not have a direct fiscal impact on the Behavioral Health Division, this would likely provide 

increased access to mental health services for all Milwaukee County residents enrolled in Medicaid. This 

could potentially lead to fewer psychiatric hospitalizations and crisis intervention services with increased 

access to care when it is needed. 

Recommendation: 

This item is informational. No action is needed. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Shakita La Grant-McClain, Director 
Department of Health and Human Services 

cc:  Thomas Lutzow, Chairman 
 Finance Committee 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication  

DATE: March 8, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairperson – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Shakita LaGrant-McClain, Director, Department of Health and Human Services 
Prepared by Matt Fortman, Fiscal Administrator, DHHS 

SUBJECT: Report from the Director, Department of Health and Human Services, Notifying the 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board of Fund Transfers Processed in the Previous 
Quarter 

Issue 

Per the “BHD Fund Transfer Policy” adopted by the Mental Health Board, the BHD Fiscal Administrator 
will provide a quarterly informational report notifying the MHB as to any administrative fund transfers 
that have occurred during the previous quarter. 

Background 

Wisconsin Statutes 51.41 authorizes the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board (MHB) to propose 
an annual budget to the County Executive for the Behavioral Health Division (BHD). Once this budget 
is approved by the County Executive, the budget provides the total spending authority for BHD for 
one calendar year.  This budget reflects total expenditures, revenues and property tax levy required 
for the operation of programs and services within BHD.  

Throughout the course of the year, certain adjustments to the budget may be necessary to better 
reflect BHD’s actual experience.  In most cases, these adjustments, or appropriation transfers, would 
increase or decrease BHD’s expenditures and revenues compared to its base budget while 
maintaining the same tax levy as established in the original budget.  
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2020 & 2021 Fund Transfers 

Title Description Total Funds Transferred 

2020 Greeley 
Consulting 

Fund transfer in the amount of $950,000 for 
accredition and regulatory compliance work as 
required as a part of the Systems Improvement 
Agreement with the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid 
Services. These services are provided through The 
Greeley Company LLC. This professional services 
agreement was approved by the Milwaukee County 
Mental Health Board at the Februrary 2020 meeting.  

$950,000 

2020 Year 1 AOTP 

Fund transfer in the amount of $142,880 to recognize 
revenue and spending authority. The AOTP grant is for 
the Assisted Outpatient Treatment Grant Program for 
Individuals with Serious Mental Illness. This four-year 
program starts from 07/31/2020 and ends 
07/30/2024, which is intended to implement and 
evaluate new AOT programs and identify evidence-
based practices in order to reduce the incidence and 
duration of psychiatric hospitalization, homelessness, 
incarcerations, and interactions with the criminal 
justice system while improving the health and social 
outcomes of individuals with a serious mental illness. 
This program is designed to work with courts to allow 
these individuals to obtain treatment while continuing 
to live in the community and their homes. 

$142,880 

2020 Year 1 YCSF 

Fund transfer in the amount of $233,000 to recognize 
grant funding and expenditures related to the youth 
crisis stabilization facility (YCSF) program in 2020. The 
purpose of the YCSF grant is to implement and 
operate a youth stabilization facility in Milwaukee 
County in partnership with Wisconsin Community 
Services (WCS), Inc.   

$233,000 

2021 Year 1 YCSF 

Fund transfer in the amount of $345,737 to recognize 
grant funding and expenditures related to the youth 
crisis stabilization facility (YCSF) program in 2021. The 
purpose of the YCSF grant is to implement and 
operate a youth stabilization facility in Milwaukee 
County in partnership with Wisconsin Community 
Services (WCS), Inc.   

$345,737 
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Title Description Total Funds Transferred 

2021 Year 2 Supported 
Employment Program 

Fund transfer in the amount of $888,245 to recognize 
SAMSHA grant funding and expenditures for the 
purpose of the Supported Employment Program 
(SEP). This grant is to support state and community 
efforts to refine, implement, and sustain evidence-
based SEP and mutually compatible and supportive 
evidence-based practices (e.g., supported education) 
for transition-aged youth/young adults (ages 16-25) 
with serious emotional disturbance (SED), and adults 
with serious mental illness (SMI) or co-occurring 
mental and substance use disorders (COD).   

$888,245 

2021 Year 2 System of 
Care 

Fund transfer in the amount of $749,662 to recognize 
revenue and spending authority related to a  
funds awarded by SAMHSA. This grant supports the 
redesign and implementation of the psychiatric crisis 
service system of care (SOC) for youth and young 
adults by expanding early intervention, prevention, 
response, and other services, while also working to 
enhance the crisis SOC for youth and their caregivers 
through infrastructure development. 

$749,662 

2021 Year 3 CHRP 

Fund transfer in the amount of $381,662 
to recognize grant funding and expenditures for the 
purpose of SAMHSA – CHRP (Clinical High Risk for 
Psychosis). This grant is to build a Collaborative Care 
Model: An Approach for Effective Early Identification 
and Treatment of High School Students at Risk for 
Developing Psychosis 

$381,662 

2021 Year 3 FEP 

Fund transfer in the amount of $449,410  
to recognize grant funding and expenditures for the 
purpose of DHS State of WI grant. This grant is to 
develop and implement the Coordinated Specialty 
Care Program providing early intervention for First 
Episode Psychosis (FEP/CORE) services. 
Program period year 3: Oct 2020 - Sept 2021. This 
fund transfer covers; Jan 2021 through Sept 2021. 

$449,410 
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Title Description Total Funds Transferred 

2020 Youth CCS 

Fund transfer in the amount of $1,800,000 to 
establish additional expenditures and revenues in the 
Youth CCS program based on increased enrollment 
projections. $1,800,000 

2020 CARES Act 
Funding 

Fund transfer in the amount of $1,411,766 for the 
following: 
1) An additional $1,000,000 for acquisition of PPE
related to COVID-19 mitigation efforts. These
purchases are entire offset by CARES Act funding.
2) Realignment of various accounts from BHD's $1.6m
CARES Act budget for community mental health
supports

$1,411,766 

2021 Transportation 
and remote access 

Fund transfer to increase expenditure authority and 
federal revenue by $130,000 under the Coronavirus 
Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act 
(CRRSAA).  Funding is provided at 100% with no local 
match requirement, so there is no tax levy impact as 
a result of this transfer. 

$130,000 

Respectfully Submitted, 

_________________________ 

Shakita LaGrant, Director 
Department of Health and Human Services 

cc:  Thomas Lutzow, Chairman 
 Finance Committee 



2020 Projected BHD Reserve Balances
Year End 

12/31/2018

 2019 

Contribution 
2019 Balance

 2020 

Contribution 

2020 Balance 

(Proj)
0904 Wrap Reserve 9,091,752 (11,896) 9,079,856 - 9,079,856

0906 Capital Reserve 5,154,733 - 5,154,733 - 5,154,733 

0905 Surplus Reserve 21,285,469        (2,210,907)         19,074,563 (24,018) 19,050,545 

Total Reserves 38,181,182        (2,222,803)         33,309,152 (24,018) 33,285,134 

2021 Reserve Impacts
 Surplus 

Reserve 

 Capital 

Reserve 

Commitments

CART Annual Expense 500,000$               

Retention / Severance Payments 2,800,000$            

Relocation Costs 2,700,000$            

2021 Expenditure Reduction 2,000,000$            

2022 PCS JV Startup Costs 2,800,000$            

Remaining 2021 SIA Improvements 2,500,000 

Total Commitments 10,800,000$          2,500,000$        

Current Balance 19,050,545 5,154,733 

Future Balance after Known Commitments/Risks 8,250,545$            2,654,733$        

C:\Users\JodiMapp\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\RMK5K0A7\8_Reserve Balances BHD 2020 Report Mar 2021.xlsxall reserves
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Behavioral Health Division Administration 

Inter-Office Communication 

 DATE: March 8, 2021 

TO: Maria Perez, Chairperson – Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

FROM: Shakita La Grant-McClain, Director, Department of Health and Human Services 
Prepared by Matt Fortman, Fiscal Administrator, DHHS 

SUBJECT: Informational Report from the Director, Department of Health and Human 
Services, on the Three-Year Financial Audit of the Wraparound Milwaukee 
Program 

Issue 

Wraparound is a managed care entity governed under 42 CFR 438.  42 CFR 438.3(m) contains 
the following language: 

Audited financial reports. The contract must require MCOs, PIHPs, and PAHPs to submit audited 
financial reports specific to the Medicaid contract on an annual basis. The audit must be conducted 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and generally accepted auditing 
standards. 

Milwaukee County contracted with Baker Tilly to conduct an audit of the Wraparound 
Program’s Financial Report of for three years ending December 31, 2017, 2018, and 2019 to 
meet the audit requirement. The Financial Report was prepared by BHD financial staff under 
direction of DHS. These files are used by DHS for rate-setting purposes. 

The audit found the submitted Financial Report “presents fairly, in all material respects, the 
total claim payments to providers and administrative expenses” described therein.  

A copy of the audit report is attached for the committee’s review. 

_______________________________ 
Shakita La Grant-McClain, Director 
Department of Health and Human Services 

cc:  Thomas Lutzow, Chairman 
 Finance Committee 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 
     and to the Management of the Milwaukee 
     County Department of Health and Human   
     Services and Behavioral Health Division 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting Summary – 
Exhibits 3 and 4 of the County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin, for each of the three years ended December 31, 2019, 
2018 and 2017, and the related notes (the financial report). 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Report 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the 
historical summaries that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is 
free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are 
separate and independent legal entities.  © 2020 Baker Tilly US, LLP
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Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial report referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, the total claim 
payments to providers and administrative expenses described in Note I of the Notes to the Financial Report for 
each of the three years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
We draw attention to Note I to the financial report, which describes that the accompanying financial report was 
prepared for the purpose of complying with CMS Citation 438.3(m) and is not intended to be a complete 
presentation of the County of Milwaukee’s revenues and expenses. Our opinion is not modified with respect to 
this matter. 
 
Other Matter 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial report. The supplementary 
information, consisting of Exhibits 1, 2, 5, 6 and 7 included herein, is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and is not a required part of the financial report. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and related directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial report. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial report and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial report or to the financial report 
itself, and other procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
financial report as a whole. 
 

 

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
January 28, 2021 
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Wisconsin Department of Health Services
Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting

Services Provided in CY 2017, CY 2018, and CY 2019 and Paid Through 2/29/2020
Version Summary

Version 1 Initial version
Version 2 Changed reporting dates, updated member months in Exhibit 2 to report the numbers included versus exclude from state capitation, updated the columns in Exhibits 3

and 4 to identify services fully covered, partially covered, and not covered by state capitation, added Treatment Foster Home and case management / care coordination
to Exhibit 3, added the Exhibit 5 blank documentation tab, locked model so only the green input cells and Exhibit 5 documentation tab can be completed, and made
other minor updates.

Version 3 Changed reporting dates, added flexibility to labels for CY or SFY reporting, added waived member cost sharing and a claims allocation description box in Exhibit 3, added more
detailed rows in Exhibit 4, added an Exhibit 6 tab to compare to financial statements, added MLR calculation in Exhibit 7, clarified some instructions (claims
reserves or recovery estimates, administrative expenses for sub-capitated contracts, and specific WAM services provided by Milwaukee County staff), and other minor updates.

Version 4 Changed reporting dates, BFM email address, clarified instructions for reporting expenses for claims provided by WAM Milwaukee County Staff with encounter claim submissions,
and other minor updates.

Version 5 Changed reporting dates, added new sub-capitated claim MLR reporting rows in Exhibit 3, updated the MLR calculations to use the new rows in Exhibit 3, and clarified administrative
expenses for related party services should be reported at the related party's actual costs.

3 CCF and WAM Financial Template Version 5.0_2019_ver2 Version



Wisconsin Department of Health Services
Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting

Services Provided in CY 2017, CY 2018, and CY 2019 and Paid Through 2/29/2020
Instructions

1

2
3
4
5
6

7
8

9

Also, enter the methodology used for any administrative expense allocations.
10

11

12

The data used to create these reports should be stored and may be audited by DHS.

•External Provider FFS Claims:  These are claims paid to external providers based on services incurred
•External Provider Sub-Capitated Claims:  The rows not designated for MLR reporting should include the sub-capitation amounts (e.g., an amount per member per month) paid to an external provider 
to take the financial risk of actual claims incurred. Claim amounts should exclude any portion of sub-capitation for administrative expenses. Any administrative expense portion should be excluded from 
Exhibit 3 and reported in Exhibit 4. The rows designated for MLR reporting should report sub-capitation to external providers in compliance with the CMS bulletin dated May 15, 2019 for MLR reporting 
(https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib051519.pdf).

•Internal Department Cost Allocation:  These are claim costs allocated from internal providers employed by CCF or WAM (e.g., based on time)

•Related Party Cost Allocation:  These are claim costs allocated from related parties
•Related Party Fee-For-Service (FFS) Claims:  These are claims paid to related parties based on services incurred
•Related Party Sub-Capitated Claims:  The rows not designated for MLR reporting should include the sub-capitation amounts (e.g., an amount per member per month) paid to related parties to take 
the financial risk of the actual claims incurred. Claim amounts should exclude any portion of sub-capitation for administrative expenses. Any administrative expense portion should be excluded from 
Exhibit 3 and reported in Exhibit 4. The rows designated for MLR reporting should report sub-capitation for related parties in compliance with the CMS bulletin dated May 15, 2019 for MLR reporting 
(https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib051519.pdf).

•A related party is an entity that is associated with the HMO by any form of common, privately held ownership, control, or investment (e.g., another government agency

Please use the Exhibit 6 tab to compare the financial template results for member months, revenue, claims, and administrative expenses to financial statements and explain any material differences.  Preferably, audited 
GAAP financial statements should be used.  Please document any alternative financial statement type used.
Exhibit 7 shows medical loss ratio results. We included residential cost center (RCC) and treatment foster home (TFH) Medicaid coverage percentages in this exhibit, which are both currently set to the 2016 RCC cost 
report results based on the files DHS provided to us on December 12, 2017. We will update these values as needed. We summarized MLR amounts and incorporated the Medicaid credibility adjustment table.

Waived member cost sharing for Medicaid covered benefits should only be reported when cost sharing is intentionally not collected by providers through agreement with CCF or WAM
WAM specific instructions:  Include amounts for services performed by Milwaukee County staff (wellness clinic visits, eligibility, and screening) that WAM submits as claims encounter data in the appropriate rows (e.g., 
internal or related party) in the 'care coordination / case management' and 'other covered services' columns and exclude these amounts from the administrative expense tab.

Please use the Exhibit 5 tab, as needed, to enter any documentation or calculations since the template is locked except for the cells shaded green throughout the template and the Exhibit 5 tab.  Use of the Exhibit 5 tab 
is optional. 

•MLR Qualified Taxes, Licensing, and Regulatory Fees:  These are expenses defined in Section 438.8(f)(3) in the Medicaid regulations.  Community Benefit Expenses can only be reported for plans 
exempt from federal income taxes and cannot exceed its Wisconsin Medicaid earned premium for the incurred year multiplied by the greater of 3% or the highest premium tax in Wisconsin.
•MLR Qualified Direct Fraud Recovery Expenses:  These are expenses directly used to recover fraud related claims and cannot exceed the fraud related claim recoveries.  These amounts exclude
fraud prevention activities not directly related to the recovery of fraud related claims.

Administrative expenses provided by related parties should be reported at the related party's actual costs to provide the services.

•Direct Expense:  These are expenses directly related to the member.  Examples include, but are not limited to, customer service, enrollment, claims administration, and medical management 
expenses allocated to the Medicaid line of business.
•Indirect Expense:  These are expenses indirectly related to the member and may be considered overall company overhead costs.  Examples include, but are not limited to, salaries and benefits for 
the CEO, human resources, accounting, actuarial, and legal expenses allocated to the Medicaid line of business.  Facility Related Costs include costs such as rent, utilities, janitorial, maintenance, and 
depreciation allowed under accounting standards.
•Other (please explain):  These are administrative expenses that do not fit into one of the other categories.  Please explain any amounts entered into this category.

In Exhibit 3, enter incurred year claims by various groupings by year for services covered under the state capitation versus services not covered under the state capitation.  The incurred year is the service year of the 
claim regardless of when the claim was paid.  Enter claims net of any third party liability.  Include any estimates for claim reserves or future recoveries (e.g., subrogation) for the incurred year, as appropriate, based on 
historical results and document any of these amounts in Exhibit 5. Please use the following definitions

In Exhibit 4, enter incurred year administrative expense by year for covered and partially covered services under the state capitation versus services not covered under the state capitation.  Please use the following 
definitions for administrative costs in Exhibit 4, along with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP):

•MLR Qualified Care Coordination and Care Management:  These are expenses that qualify as activities that improve health care quality in a minimum medical loss ratio (MLR) calculation.  The 
activities must meet the definition in 45CFR158.150(b) from the private insurance MLR rule (which includes 45CFR158.151 related to health information technology) or be specific to Medicaid 
managed care External Quality Review in 42CFR438 Subpart E.  The activities cannot be excluded from 45CFR158.150(c) and cannot specifically be excluded from incurred claims.   These are 
amounts reported in financials as administrative expense.

Version tab tracks each version of the file used.
In the Exhibit 1 certification statement, fill in the organization name, CEO or CFO information and signature. Signatures can be handled in two ways.  Exhibit 1 can be signed and submitted electronically in PDF format 
separately from the Excel file.  Alternatively, the Exhibit 1 tab may contain an electronic signature with only that tab password protected.  This tab also contains the preparer's information and assigns the reporting period 
(including state fiscal year versus calendar year) for the other tabs.  In subsequent years, the dates on this tab can be updated to reflect future reporting time periods.  You may also add notes on this tab related to an
In Exhibit 2, enter incurred year member months for members covered versus not covered under state capitation, revenue by various groupings, and surplus by year, along with the methodology used for any revenue 

The purpose of this template is to capture incurred year financial information for the CCF and WAM program as contracted entities with the Wisconsin Department of Human Services

Financial information should be completed with claims paid through February 29, 2020 and submitted to DHS by April 1, 2020 to be used for SFY 2020 rate development.  Preferably, we would like state fiscal year (i.e., 
July to June) information entered for the years ending 2017, 2018 and 2019. However, calendar year information can be entered, if needed, by entering 'CY' in cell B31 of Exhibit 1.  Prior year amounts (i.e., 2017 and 
2018) only need to be re-submitted if there are changes from the prior financial template submitted.
Submit completed electronic copies to the BFM email box: (DHSDMSBRS@dhs.wisconsin.gov).
Only enter information in cells that are shaded green with blue text.

•Fraud Prevention Activities:  These expenses are defined in Section 438.8(e)(4) of the Medicaid regulation.   The inclusion of fraud prevention activities is contingent on their inclusion in the 
commercial market MLR which is currently not allowed.  These amounts are excluded from the MLR calculation in this file, however, we are tracking any amounts available in case they can be include
in the future.  These amounts exclude expenses directly related to the recovery of fraud related claims
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Exhibit 2
Wisconsin Department of Health Services

Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting
Services Provided in CY 2017, CY 2018, and CY 2019 and Paid Through 2/29/2020

Member Months

CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019
Member Months

(1) Covered by State Capitation 13,532 13,152 13,275
(2) Not Covered by State Capitation 973 850 623

(3)=(1)+(2) Total Member Months 14,505 14,002 13,898

Revenue For Services Covered by State Capitation:
(4) Capitation Revenue $28,171,325 $27,424,111 $26,506,591

(5) Other Revenue Sources (Please Explain)1 $339,404 $344,315 $263,850
(6)=(4)+(5) Subtotal Revenue For Services Under State Capitation $28,510,729 $27,768,426 $26,770,441

Revenue For Services Not Covered by State Capitation:
(7) Crisis Intervention $13,171,085 $11,800,920 $11,389,923
(8) Other Revenue Sources $15,762,909 $16,251,090 $19,677,820

(9)=(7)+(8) Subtotal Revenue For Services Not Covered Under State Capitation $28,933,994 $28,052,010 $31,067,743

(10)=(6)+(9) Total Revenue $57,444,723 $55,820,436 $57,838,184

(11) Surplus as of CY End $1,427,933 $803,514 -$11,926

1For "other" revenue associated with covered services under the state capitation (including any reinsurance offsets to premium), provide a description
of each revenue source and its amount by year:

Provide a description of how any revenues were allocated between various components:

(5) OTHER REVENUE SOURCE: Not reported on this form before, these are revenues received to cover Wraparound program and administrative
expenses that may also be covered in whole or in part by State Capitation:          Pohsey Grant/Trauma Response 2017 $254,404; 2018 $196,821; 2019 
$178,854.     Education Liason Grants 2017 $85,000; 2018 $147,493; 2019 $85,000
(8) OTHER REVENUE SOURCES: The Division of Milwaukee Child Protective Services and The Delinquency and Court Services Division (DCSD) pay
Wrapround Milwaukee on a case-rate basis for youth under court orders:  2017  $5,147,220; 2018  $4,497,036; 2019 $4,810,975.  WAM also reports
revenue from the CHIPS program as OTHER:  2017  $9,346,829; 2018 $9,176,475; 2019 $8,832,583.  CCS Revenue reported based on date of service:
2017 $7,562; 2018 $1,047,037; 2019 $4,138,020.  Also WIMCR Revenue (based on CCS) 2018 $2,103,056; 2019 $2,079,367.  Other Federal and State
Grants are included as well (FISS, CHR-P, SOC, SEP, FEP) 2017 $1,261,298, 2018 $3,633,599, 2019 $3,975,609.

(7) CRISIS INTERVENTION: Revenue reported based on End Date of Service.  Billed 10 months of Crisis with service dates in 2019.  Divided actual total
by 10 * 12
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Exhibit 3
Wisconsin Department of Health Services

Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting
Services Provided in CY 2017, CY 2018, and CY 2019 and Paid Through 2/29/2020

Claim Payments to Providers Net of Third Party Liability

Services Fully Covered by State Capitation Services Partially Covered by State Services Not Covered by State Capitation
Care 

Coordination / 
Case 

Management1

Other Covered 

Services1

Peer 
Specialist In 

Lieu Of 
Services

Other In Lieu 
of Services 

(Please 

Explain)2 Subtotal

Residential 
Care Centers 

(RCC)

Treatment 
Foster Home 

(TFH) Subtotal Group Home
Crisis 

Intervention

Other Non-
Covered 
Services Subtotal Total

Waived Member 
Cost Sharing for 

Medicaid 
Covered 

CY 2017:
Internal Department Cost Allocation $0 $0 $677,891 $677,891 $677,891
Related Party Cost Allocation $0 $0 $1,291,109 $604,410 $1,895,520 $1,895,520
Related Party Fee-For-Service (FFS) Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
Related Party Sub-Capitated Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
External Provider FFS Claims $11,842,398 $6,261,218 $63,951 $18,167,567 $7,865,794 $3,115,497 $10,981,291 $4,019,195 $5,926,207 $3,034,710 $12,980,112 $42,128,971
External Provider Sub-Capitated Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
   Total $11,842,398 $6,261,218 $63,951 $0 $18,167,567 $7,865,794 $3,115,497 $10,981,291 $4,019,195 $7,895,208 $3,639,120 $15,553,523 $44,702,382 $0

Related Party Sub-Capitated Claims for MLR Reporting3 $0 $0 $0 $0

External Provider Sub-Capitated Claims for MLR Reporting3 $0 $0 $0 $0

CY 2018:
Internal Department Cost Allocation $0 $0 $769,429 $769,429 $769,429
Related Party Cost Allocation $0 $0 $60,901 $1,205,400 $923,616 $2,189,916 $2,189,916
Related Party Fee-For-Service (FFS) Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
Related Party Sub-Capitated Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
External Provider FFS Claims $12,101,874 $6,516,089 $33,675 $18,651,638 $7,275,334 $2,800,974 $10,076,307 $3,946,064 $5,357,646 $2,332,548 $11,636,258 $40,364,203
External Provider Sub-Capitated Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
   Total $12,101,874 $6,516,089 $33,675 $0 $18,651,638 $7,275,334 $2,800,974 $10,076,307 $4,006,965 $7,332,474 $3,256,163 $14,595,603 $43,323,548 $0

Related Party Sub-Capitated Claims for MLR Reporting3 $0 $0 $0 $0

External Provider Sub-Capitated Claims for MLR Reporting3 $0 $0 $0 $0

CY 2019:
Internal Department Cost Allocation $0 $0 $667,686 $667,686 $667,686
Related Party Cost Allocation $0 $0 $80,722 $1,181,762 $1,049,919 $2,312,404 $2,312,404
Related Party Fee-For-Service (FFS) Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
Related Party Sub-Capitated Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
External Provider FFS Claims $11,956,528 $5,851,727 $675 $17,808,930 $6,355,301 $2,275,664 $8,630,965 $4,085,239 $4,058,147 $2,151,939 $10,295,324 $36,735,220
External Provider Sub-Capitated Claims $0 $0 $0 $0
   Total $11,956,528 $5,851,727 $675 $0 $17,808,930 $6,355,301 $2,275,664 $8,630,965 $4,165,961 $5,907,596 $3,201,857 $13,275,414 $39,715,310 $0

Related Party Sub-Capitated Claims for MLR Reporting3 $0 $0 $0 $0

External Provider Sub-Capitated Claims for MLR Reporting3 $0 $0 $0 $0

2 For "other" claims associated with services covered by the state capitation (including any reinsurance recoveries), provide a description of each claim source and its amount by year:
3Sub-capitation amounts for MLR reporting should be reported in compliance with the CMS bulletin dated May 15, 2019 (https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib051519.pdf). 

Provide a description of how any claims were allocated between various components:

NOTE: WITH THE EXCEPTION OF EXTERNAL PROVIDER FFS CLAIMS, amounts are reported using the TOTAL payments for the year times the average Medicaid-eligible percentage each year:  2017 93.3%, 2018 93.9%, 2019 95.5%.  One-hundred percent of External Provider FFS Claims were included, as 100% of reported 
encounter data is for Medicaid-eligible enrollees, for months specific to each enrollee’s eligibility.
See sheet Exhibit 5-Documentation for the specifics as to which costs are included in each category.          The Other Covered Services category includes those coded with "MA" see descriptions of related services in Exhibit 5, where column A is "MA" and column C is the description.

Care Coordination / Case Management - External Provider FFS Claims - includes claims for WAM Services that may have been provided, in part, by internal staff or contracted providers.  WAM services are deducted from exh 4:  Direct Expense - Care Management .          One-hundred percent of External Provider FFS Claims 
were included, as 100% of reported encounter data is for Medicaid-eligible enrollees, for months specific to each enrollee’s eligibility.  Lines for "External Provider FFS Claims" reflect Encounter Data.  
For the 2015/2016/2017 Template, DHS advised WAM to also include services that are not reflected in Encounter Data where they are Not Covered by State Capitation.  
These amounts include:
1) Related Party Cost Allocation, Crisis includes staffing on our Children’s Mobile Crisis Team by contracted staff
2) Related Party Cost Allocation, Other Non-Covered Services includes costs for Owen’s Place (a drop-in center), Families United (our family advocacy organization), the SEA group (our educational advocacy group), guarantees for Journey House (a housing option for our enrollees) and day treatment services provided to 
Delinquency and Court Services.

1 WAM specific instructions:  Include amounts for services performed by Milwaukee County staff (wellness clinic visits, eligibility, and screening) that WAM submits as claims encounter data in the appropriate rows (e.g., internal or related party) in the 'care coordination / case management' and 'other covered services' columns 
and exclude these amounts from the administrative expense tab.
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Exhibit 4
Wisconsin Department of Health Services

Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting
Services Provided in CY 2017, CY 2018, and CY 2019 and Paid Through 2/29/2020

Administrative Expenses

Services Fully Covered by State Capitation Services Partially Covered by State Capitation Services Not Covered by State Capitation Total
Administrative Expense Categories CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019 CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019 CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019 CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019
MLR Qualified Quality Improvement Expense $0 $0 $0
MLR Qualified Taxes, Licensing, and Regulatory Fees:

Licensing and Regulatory Fees $0 $0 $0

Community Benefit Expenses1 $0 $0 $0
Other $0 $0 $0

MLR Qualified Direct Fraud Recovery Expenses2 $0 $0 $0
Fraud Prevention Activities $0 $0 $0
Sales and Marketing $0 $0 $0
Direct Expense:

Care Management (not already reported in claims) $1,001,855 $956,863 $1,270,578 $1,001,855 $956,863 $1,270,578
Claims Administration $120,050 $147,361 $80,119 $68,771 $75,725 $36,243 $97,405 $109,688 $55,747 $286,226 $332,773 $172,109
Customer Service $0 $0 $0
Enrollment $51,649 $59,415 $20,433 $29,587 $30,532 $9,243 $41,906 $44,225 $14,217 $123,142 $134,172 $43,893
Other $558,144 $602,211 $771,282 $319,735 $309,461 $348,903 $452,862 $448,256 $536,653 $1,330,741 $1,359,928 $1,656,838

Indirect Expense:
Accounting and Finance $129,249 $82,772 $65,537 $74,041 $42,535 $29,647 $104,869 $61,612 $45,600 $308,159 $186,918 $140,783
Executive $323,581 $322,012 $376,826 $185,365 $165,474 $170,464 $262,544 $239,690 $262,193 $771,490 $727,176 $809,483
Compliance and Legal $0 $0 $0
Facility Related Costs $134,922 $174,630 $181,312 $77,291 $89,738 $82,020 $109,472 $129,986 $126,156 $321,685 $394,354 $389,488
Human Resources $0 $0 $0
Information Technology $220,939 $215,555 $239,482 $126,566 $110,768 $108,334 $179,264 $160,449 $166,630 $526,769 $486,773 $514,446
Provider Network Management $620,999 $580,640 $589,244 $355,742 $298,376 $266,555 $503,861 $432,200 $409,993 $1,480,602 $1,311,217 $1,265,792
Other $37,582 $39,681 $40,190 $21,529 $20,391 $18,181 $30,493 $29,536 $27,964 $89,603 $89,608 $86,335

Other (please explain)3 $0 $0 $0
Total Administrative Expense $3,198,969 $3,181,140 $3,635,003 $1,258,627 $1,142,999 $1,069,591 $1,782,676 $1,655,642 $1,645,153 $6,240,272 $5,979,781 $6,349,746

1 Community Benefit Expenses can only be reported for plans exempt from federal income taxes and cannot exceed its Wisconsin Medicaid earned premium for the incurred year multiplied by the greater of 3% or the highest premium tax in Wisconsin.
2 MLR Qualified Direct Fraud Recovery Expenses are expenses directly used to recover fraud related claims and cannot exceed fraud related claim recoveries.
3 Please describe any "Other" administrative expense in the comment box below.

"Other" Administrative Expense Description:

Description of Methodologies Used to Allocate Administrative Expense Expenditures:

Direct Expense - "Other" includes expenses related to Internal Milw Co staff not fitting in other categories.  Expenses include Fringe Benefits, but Legacy Costs are not included.  These expenses were multiplied by the Medicaid Eligible % of clients per year:  2017 93.3%, 2018 93.9%, 2019 
95.5%.          Indirect Expense - "Other" is expense crosscharged from Milwaukee County related to the Mental Health Board, ED Services, and the Clerical Pool.

Direct Admin Expenses are from WAM records for services plus Milw Co Payroll records.  Expenses related to Internal Milw Co staff include Fringe Benefits.  (Legacy Costs are not included.)  These expenses were multiplied by the Medicaid Eligible % of clients per year:  2017 93.3%, 2018 
93.9%, 2019 95.5%.         Direct Expense - Care Management is the total of Internal Staff cost, minus the cost of WAM SERVICES included on Exh 3.  These are WAM Services beyond those included in Encounter data:  1) Internal Dept Cost including Wellness Clinic and Eligibility/Screening 
assessments done by Milwaukee County staff; 2) Related Party Cost Allocation including Care Coordination/Case Management includes contracted Screening and Assessment staff as well as Clinical Consultants.            Other Direct Expenses are allocated according to the proportion of reported 
in Exh 3:  Fully (+ Direct Care Management above) / Partial / Not covered costs.       2017:  Fully 42%, Partial 24%, Not 34%.  2018:  Fully 43%, Partial 23%, Not 34%.    2019:  Fully 47%, Partial 21%, Not 32%.        Indirect Expense categories (except Information Technology) are crosscharged 
by Milwaukee County to the Behavioral Health Division and then allocated to WRAP.  For the 2015/2016/2017 Template, DHS prescribed for BHD to report according to 2015 basis logic instead of the allocation on the Financial Statements.  This report continues to use the same logic for the 
allocation, even though the total crosscharge on the Financial Statements is different.
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Exhibit 5
Wisconsin Department of Health Services

Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting
Services Provided in CY 2017, CY 2018, and CY 2019 and Paid Through 2/29/2020

Documentation and Calculations (as needed)

Please use this tab, as needed, to enter any documentation or calculations since the template is locked except for the cells shaded green throughout the 
template and the Exhibit 5 tab.  Use of this tab is optional.

For service months between 01/01/17 and 12/31/19
Category Code description

WAM Service5005 Assessment for Enrollment
WAM Service5000A Assessments‐MD
WAM Service5120b Group Therapy
WAM Service5050 Psychiatric Review/Meds
OTHER 5404 Adult Family Home
OTHER 5202 After School Programs
OTHER 5202A Afterschool Program
OTHER 5170 Day Treatment
OTHER 5174 Day Treatment Specialized (Non‐Medicaid)
OTHER 5580 Discretionary Funds
OTHER 5557A Employment Preparation and Placement‐Phase One
OTHER 5557C Employment Preparation and Placement‐Phase Three
OTHER 5557B Employment Preparation and Placement‐Phase Two
OTHER 5390 Foster Home Care
OTHER 5420 Foster Home Pre‐Placement Visit
OTHER 5603 Interpreter Services
OTHER 5392 Kinship Care
OTHER 5524a Mentoring
OTHER 5591 On The Job Training
OTHER 5515 Parent Coaching
OTHER 5515A Parent Coaching (non face to face)
OTHER 5550A Parent Correctional Facility Visit
OTHER 5550C Parent Correctional Facility Visit‐Orientation
OTHER 5313 Placement Stabilization Center
OTHER 5526 Recreation Programming‐Full Day
OTHER 5411 Respite, Foster care
OTHER 5410 Respite, Hourly
OTHER 5412 Respite, Residential
OTHER 5305 Shelter Care (Boys)
OTHER 5306 Shelter Care (Girls)
OTHER 5564C Supported Indep Living‐Youth and Parent
OTHER 5564B Supported Indep Living‐Youth w/Dependent
OTHER 5564 Supported Independent Living
OTHER 5576A Taxi ‐ American United Taxicab No Show
OTHER 5576 Taxi ‐ American United Taxicab Service
OTHER 5576 Taxi ‐ American United Transportation Group
OTHER 5576A Taxi ‐ No Show
OTHER 5577 Transportation
OTHER 5578 Transportation Mileage
OTHER 5579 Transportation‐Additional Passenger
OTHER 5222A Treatment Plan Meeting Attendance
OTHER 5521a Tutor
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Care Coordin5500H Care Coordination‐(Lead‐BA/BS)
Care Coordin5500A Care Coordination‐Daily
Care Coordin5500F Care Coordination‐Masters Level
Care Coordin5500G Care Coordination‐Masters Level‐Lead
Care Coordin5500B Care Coordination‐REACH
Care Coordin5509 Enrollment Screening
Care Coordin5506A Transitional Specialist Care Coordination‐Masters
Care Coordin5506 Transitional Specialist‐Care Coordination
Care Coordin5504 Treat. Foster Care‐Care Coordination
Care Coordin5504 Treat. Foster Care‐PFP
Covered Serv5565B Anger Management Group
Covered Serv5001 AODA Assessment
Covered Serv5121 AODA Group Counseling
Covered Serv5101 AODA Individual/Family Counseling
Covered Serv5103 AODA Lab and Medical Services
Covered Serv5000A Assessments‐M.D.
Covered Serv5172 Day Treatment (Medicaid‐day)
Covered Serv5120 Group Counseling and Therapy
Covered Serv5120A Group Counseling and Therapy‐QTT
Covered Serv5132 High Risk Counseling and Therapy
Covered Serv5163 Home‐Based Behavioral Mgm‐Lead
Covered Serv5164 Home‐Based Behavioral Mgm‐Technician
Covered Serv5111A Individual/Family Therapy Lic. Psychologist‐Office
Covered Serv5100 Individual/Family Therapy‐Office
Covered Serv5100QTT Individual/Family Therapy‐Office (QTT)
Covered Serv5100QTTa Individual/Family Therapy‐Office (QTTa)
Covered Serv5522b Individual/Family Training and Support Services
Covered Serv5167 In‐Home AODA/Substance Abuse Counseling
Covered Serv5161 In‐Home Case Aide
Covered Serv5160 In‐Home Lead Medicaid
Covered Serv5160B In‐Home Lead Medicaid.
Covered Serv5355 Psych Hosp‐ER Visit
Covered Serv5350 Psychiatric Hospital
Covered Serv5050 Psychiatric Review/Meds
Covered Serv5051 Psychiatric Review/Meds‐with Therapy
Covered Serv5180B Psychological Eval. Extended‐Ph.D.
Covered Serv5180A Psychological Evaluation Services‐Ph.D.
Covered Serv5150 School/Community Based Mental Health Services
Crisis Interve 5300 Crisis Bed‐Foster Home
Crisis Interve 5302 Crisis Bed‐Group Home
Crisis Interve 5303 Crisis Stabilization / Supervision
Crisis Interve 5303B Crisis Stabilization / Supervision ‐BA/BS/MS
Crisis Interve 5303E Mentoring, Specialized
Crisis Interve 5303F Mentoring, Specialized‐BA/MA
Foster Care 5390A Foster Home Care‐2nd Child
Foster Care 5311 Treat. Foster Care (Agency)
Foster Care 5311C Treatment Foster Care, Safe Home
Group Home 5400 Group Home Care
Group Home 5402 Group Home‐Specialized
Peer Speciali 5530 Certified Peer Specialist
Residential C 5340 Residential Care Center for Children & Youth
Residential C 5345 Residential Care‐Specialized
Residential C 5346 Residential Care‐Type II

10 CCF and WAM Financial Template Version 5.0_2019_ver2 Exh 5 Documentation



Exhibit 6
Wisconsin Department of Health Services

Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting
Services Provided in CY 2017, CY 2018, and CY 2019 and Paid Through 2/29/2020

Comparison to Financial Statements

Please use this tab to compare the financial template results for member months, revenue, claims, and administrative expenses to
financial statements and explain any material differences.  Preferably, audited GAAP financial statements should be used.  Please
document any alternative financial statement type used.

Income and Expense *** member months are not reported on Financial Statements

2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual AM Template R2017 Template2018 Template2019 Template2017 Variance2018 Variance2019 VarianceVariance Explanations 2017 2018 2019

 WRAP Client Services Costs to 
Claims 47,177,475  46,115,848  43,390,973  Exh 3 44,702,382  43,323,548  39,715,310  2,475,093    2,792,299    3,675,664    

 Expenditures to Administrative 
Expenses 13,936,052  16,235,236  22,158,477  Exh 4 6,240,272    5,979,781    6,349,746    7,695,780    10,255,455  15,808,731  

 Legacy Healthcare and 
Pension 1,301,584    1,520,805    1,651,141    N/A Not included on Exh 4:  Legacy Healthcare and Pension expenses

 Abatements (on Financials as 
negative Expenditure) (5,485,039)  (4,756,308)  (5,739,347)  -Exh 2 Abatements are on the Financial Template as REV, Exh 2, and added in row 16 below

Total Expenditures 56,930,072  59,115,581  61,461,244  50,942,653  49,303,329  46,065,056  10,170,873  13,047,754  19,484,394  

Capitation Revenue 29,994,498  27,919,806  26,309,652  Exh 2 28,171,325  27,424,111  26,506,591  1,823,173    495,695       (196,939)     Timing - template reports by date of Service, not payment date.

Crisis Intervention Revenue 13,614,057  13,362,543  16,969,986  Exh 2 13,171,085  11,800,920  11,389,923  442,971       1,561,623    5,580,062    

Other Revenue from CHPS, 
Delinquency, CCS, FISS, MUTT 12,124,188  13,271,336  13,364,653  Exh 2 15,762,909  16,251,090  19,677,820  1,846,319    1,776,554    (573,820)     

Other Revenue 558,553       778,849       324,723       Exh 2 339,404       344,315       263,850       219,149       434,534       60,873        Other RevenueTrauma Response Grant, Education Liason Grant, Family Intervention & Support Services Grant, CCS revenue,etc
Total Revenues 56,291,296  55,332,534  56,969,014  57,444,723  55,820,436  57,838,184  4,331,612    4,268,406    4,870,177    Template reports by date of service, which may be paid months later and not captured on Financial Statement

*** Abatements are payments from related Milw Co division for services - recorded on Financial Statements as a negative expenditure and on this Financial Template in Exh 2
(638,776)     (3,783,047)  (4,492,230)  

WAM Financial Statement Lines:
PS 2017 Actual 2018 Actual 2019 Actual AM Template RNotes on relationship between financial statement and Exhibit 2, 3, 4

5001 Direct Labor Charged 1,839,722    2,134,008    2,308,153    Exh4 row 18 Accounts 5001 to 5190 are Personnel costs for Transfers from other departments.  For Wraparound Milwaukee this includes clinical staff time at the wellness clinic and providing services to Wraparound clients.
5002 Offtime Charged 355,802       412,717       446,397       Exh4 row 18
5003 Fringe Benefits Charged 2,036,020    2,526,667    2,754,835    Exh4 row 18 Part of Exh 4 row 18 is Direct Care Management provided by a contracted external provider - see FS accounts 8120 and 8139.
5051 Direct Labor Applied (1,839,722)  (2,134,008)  (2,308,153)  Exh4 row 18
5052 Offtime Applied (355,802)     (412,717)     (446,397)     Exh4 row 18 In 2017, the Transfer In process was not applied to the Financial Statements.  Doctor personnel costs in providing Wraparound services remained on the Milw Co BHD Financial Statements.
5053 Fringe Benefits Applied (2,036,020)  (2,526,667)  (2,754,835)  Exh4 row 18
5189 Direct Labor Trn Out (38,916)       -              (20,743) Exh4 row 18
5190 Direct Labor Transfer 84,011        195,839       197,821       Exh4 row 18
5199 Salaries-Wages Budget 1,829,602    2,099,772    2,542,009    Exh4 rows 18-2 On FS, Personnel Costs are not segregated.  Included are Internal costs for Direct Care Management, Mobile Crisis, and Admin.
5201 Overtime 11,652        15,942        31,956        Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5312 Social Security Taxes 135,627 155,482 181,125 Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5313 Adjustment -Social Security Tax 5,479          12,163        13,548        Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5318 Unemployment Compensation - - Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5321 UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 0 0 Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5322 Educational Bonus 0 0 Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5329 Tool Allowance 0 0 Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5408 Prop. Fund Fringe Bene Transfer - Direct - - Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5410 Compensated Absences (12,900)       11,210        Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5420 Employee Health Care 351,150 431,892 508,958 Exh4 rows 18-2 Active employee healthcare
5421 Employee Pension 205,113 209,928 256,224 Exh4 rows 18-2 Active employee pension
5422 Legacy Healthcare 528,619 631,812 678,476 not included Legacy Healthcare costs are omitted from the salary/benefit costs on WAM template form
5423 Legacy Pension 772,965 888,994 972,665 not included Legacy Pension costs are omitted from the salary/benefit costs on WAM template form
5489 Fringe Trf-Indirect Out (15,955)       - (6,268) Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29
5490 Fringe Benefit Trans-Indirect 46,056        35,145        31,857 Exh4 rows 18-22, Exh3 rows 11/20/29

CS 2,583,717    3,108,119    3,722,109    
6022 Computer Access Info Svcs - - not included Service Expenses
6030 ADVERTISING 5,825          - 51 not included Randy - accounting coordinator
6040 Membership Dues 373 not included
6041 Other Licenses and Permit 845 550 832 not included
6050 Contract Pers Serv-Short 2,185 0 0 not included our vendors bill and are paid by WPS
6080 Postage 304 0 0 not included DSD authorizes
6127 Trnscrpt Fees Outside Srv 7,840 10,471 17,501 not included DSD also bills WPS
6134 INTERPRETER FEES 1,823 5,173 11,843 not included
6147 PROF. SERV.-DATA PROCESS 355,900 370,231 on exh 4, row 29 - IT expense
6148 PROF. SERV-RECURRING OPER 91,204
6329 Tel and Tel Outside Ven 45 49 369 not included
6336 Internet Expenses 1,791 0 0 not included
6339 Records Center Charges 2,396 2,601 2,305 not included
6409 Printing and Stationery 5,090 2,062 0 not included
6502 Equipt Rental-Long Term - - not included
6503 Equipt Rental-Short Term - - not included
6509 Building and Space Rental 2,000          6,000          10,409        not included
6610 R/M-Bldg and Structures - - not included
6640 R/M Office Equipment - - not included
6803 Auto Allowance 3,682 3,239 4,250 not included
6805 Education/Seminar Paym'ts 528 6,198 25,152 not included
6809 Conference Expenses 5,525 11,830 12,059 not included
6812 Meetings Other Auth Travl 804 4,916 262 not included
6999 Sundry Services 671 16,522        21,359        not included

7170 Electrical Materials not included Consumable expenses
7301 Meals 7,600 6,378 7,753 not included
7314 Beverages 0 0 not included
7324 """Candy, Gum, etc""" - - not included
7354 Groceries (can-btl-pkgd) - - not included

Medicaid Eligible 
adjustments

Exh 3 includes Internal Department allocations of salaries, that are in row 10.  Nearly $1MM each year.  Exh 3 only includes Medicaid Eligible %, but 
Financial Statements include all FFS Contracted Wrap Service costs - including CCS and Care Coordingation reported on Exh 4.  Timing issues - 
Date of Service on Exh 3 vs Date of Claim on Financial Statements
Financial Statements include salaries counted in Exh 3:  Internal Department Allocations (above).  Nearly $1MM each year.  Exh 4 only includes 
Medicaid Eligible %, but Financial Statements includes full expenditures.  Excluded expeditures of commodities and services from Exh 4, also 
excluded expenditures for other non-capitated services (like CCS).  Indirect Costs on Exh 4 use different allocation logic than Financial Statements, 

Revenue for Crisis Intervention is annualized for this template.  Financial Statements report based on payment date, not date of service.  Beginning 
2017, Financial Statement combines Crisis & CCS revenue:  CCS REV = 2017 $7,562.47; 2018 $1,047,037; 2019 $4,138,020
Note - this calculation includes the Abatements to match Exh2 to the Financial Statements.  Template reflects only Medicaid Eligible clients.  
Financials include all clients.  Timing is also based on date of service in Exh 2, but related to payment date on financials.   CCS REV is recorded in 
Fin Statement with Crisis (above) = 2017 $7,562.47; 2018 $1,047,037; 2019 $4,138,020

Net Variance of Expenditures - Exh3 + Exh4.  Financial Statement includes WRAP services for clients not eligible for Medicaid.  Timing issue 
between 6 month lag between service dates and claims.
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7399 Other Food and Provisions 408 1,646 915 not included
7508 Bags and Paper - - not included
7521 Disposables - - not included
7522 Disposable Suppl-Incontin - - not included
7599 Other Household Supplies 0 667 not included
7729 Other Genl Med Surg Supl 0 49 not included
7820 Gasoline 3,619 2,524 1,516 not included
7831 Batteries 0 0 not included
7840 Repair Parts - - not included
7910 Office Supplies 29,787        - 11,264 not included
7915 Computer Software 613 11,470        5,919 not included
7917 DP Supplies 1,606          - not included
7920 Books Perodicals Films 5,700          968 3,477 not included
7930 PHOTO,PRTG,REPRO & BINDG 46,752        128,947 not included
7973 Minor Office Equipment 6,554          3,199          230 not included
7977 MINOR DP EQUIPMENT 14,826        1,957          not included
7999 Sundry Materials & Suppl 3,016          27,330        31,592        not included

OC

8123 Purchase of Service 1,736,503    1,173,394    1,437,309    

Exh4 row 29, 
Exh4 row 18, 
Exh 4, row 29 Costs paid to External service providers in POS contracts.  This includes the contract for IT support (Exh 4), and contracted client services (Exh 3).

8131 VENDER #1 PAYMENTS - Yout 68,620        2,103,995    6,326,536    not included Cost for CCS program excluded

8139 WrapAround Client Svcs 47,177,475  46,115,848  43,390,973  
Exh3; and 
Exh4  row 18

8297 Contribution to Reserve

8010 Depreciation‐System
8557 COMPUTER EQUIPMENT‐NEW >$500 1,779          2,004          not included

XC Milw Co Crosscharges
9641 AB DP SOFTWARE LEASE/LCN CHG not included
9644 AB R/M OFFICE EQUIPMENT CHARGE (15,083)       (9,244)         not included
9683 AB IMSD CENTRAL PURCHASES (218) (6,971) not included
9702 Technical Support & Infrastructu 52,719        33,198        45,411        not included Central IT charges, based on number of workstation IDs
9704 Fleet Management Services 22,798        25,740        7,927          not included Vehicles used by mobile crisis team
9714 IT Security 35,051        7,751          16,166        not included Central IT charges
9727 POOL VEHICLE RENTAL 64 not included
9741 DP SOFTWARE LEASE/LCN CHARGES not included
9744 R/M Office Equipment Charges 26,142        15,083        9,244          not included
9749 HOC Graphics 3,857          4,364          4,634          not included Printing services

9750 Admin Services A 6,239,450    5,988,651    5,934,290    
Exh4 rows 24-
28, 30-31

9751 Administrative Services # 1 - - 
9755 ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES- 323,364       66,918        - not included Charges for DHHS JETI program
9768 Application Chgs - Network 62,678        107,171       not included Central IT charges, based on number of workstation IDs
9769 Application Chgs - Mainframe 18,094        18,280        15,207        not included Central IT charges, based on number of mainframe IDs
9771 HRIS Allocation 20,775        70 - not included Human Resource Info System, based on number of FTEs
9783 IMSD CENTRAL PURCHASES 5,183          218 6,971 not included Central IT purchases
9784 Co Grounds Space Rental
9788 PC Charges 24,632        17,429        29,466        not included County IT charges, base on number of workstation IDs
9799 Other County Services 75 - not included Charges for DHHS JETI program, moved to 9755 in 2017

AB Milw Co Abatements
9851 Abate-Administrative Serv. #1 (997,389)     (339,138)     (36,069)       Exh2 row 20 Abatement from Delinquency and Court Services Division to compensate Wraparound for FOCUS youth in their care
9899 Abate-Other Co. Serv (4,487,650)  (4,417,169)  (5,703,278)  Exh2 row 20 Abatement from Delinquency and Court Services Division to compensate Wraparound for youth in their care

5,485,039    4,756,308    5,739,347    
OD Revenue

3710 CHIPS 10,862,891  9,637,737    9,389,044    Exh2 row 20 (for 2016 forwardDMCPS CHIPS revenue
3713 Rev. Pat. Svc. Hospitals 58,039        - - not included CCS Revenue
3720 T-19 Revenue-Crisis Billing 13,614,057  13,362,543  16,969,986  Exh2 row 19 Crisis & CCS revenue (S9484)
3722 Title XIX Revenues-Capitation 29,994,498  27,919,806  26,309,652  Exh2 row 14  CAP Revenue - when received after the end of the period, will fall to the following year.
3766 PROV. OTHER CONTRL. ALLO (3,889)         - - not included Write-off allowance for CCS program
3790 Other Health Revenues 2,103,056    2,079,367    Exh2 row 20 WIMCR Revenue
4932 Other Private Funding Rev 254,404       196,821       178,854       Exh2 row 15 Trauma Response, Pohsey grant
4952 Audit Recoveries 2,080          74,596        3,376          not included Audit Recoveries
4960 Refunds 124,490       306,955       23,621        not included Refunds, recoupments, disallowances
4999 Other Misc Revenue 38,429        52,984        33,876        not included SSI/Cost share payments

SF
2228 Mental Health Block Grant - 
2254 Provided Services-Admin 85,000        147,494       84,996        Exh2 row 15 Education Liason grant
2262 Special St Grants - MA Exh2 row 20 (for 2015) DMCPS CHIPS revenue booked here prior to 2016
2270 MUTT Foster Families 524,991       416,195       Exh2 row 15 MUTT (DMCPS Grant)
2299 OTHER ST GRANTS & REIMBU 587,537       554,191       676,063       Exh2 row 20 for Youth CCS - CORE FEP
2302 Safety Net Services 519,300       431,280       419,890       Exh2 row 20 Family Intervention & Support Services (DMCPS Grant)
2699 Other Fed Grants & Reim 154,461       20,081        384,094       Exh2 row 20 Other Federal Grants.  In 2017, $74,758 is related to CCS Pre-screening and Assessments

Total Gov't + Private Grants 1,600,702    1,874,858    2,160,092    

Medicaid Eligible % 0.933 0.939 0.955

     Other Revenue Sources 
covered by State Cap 339,404       (1,758,741)  (1,815,517)  
     Other Revenue Sources 
NOT covered by State Cap 1,261,298    3,633,599    3,975,609    

164,999       434,534       60,873        

4,497,036    4,810,975    DCSD
9,176,475    8,832,583    CHIPS
1,047,037    4,514,204    CCS
2,103,056    2,079,367    WIMCR
3,633,599    3,975,609    Other

Separate breakdown of allocation was provided - DHS requested reporting 2016 and 2017 according to a different allocation basis than what was reported on the Financial 
Statements.            Admin Expenses - Indirect Expenses * ME (excluding IT, paid to Contractors)

Costs paid to External service providers in FFS contracts.  This is often included in Encounter data (Exh 3), except in some instances of Care Coordination / Screening (Exh 4).  In the financials 
as date of payment, in Claims and Admin Exp data as date of service
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Exhibit 7
Wisconsin Department of Health Services

Wraparound Milwaukee Incurred Year Financial Reporting
Services Provided in CY 2017, CY 2018, and CY 2019 and Paid Through 2/29/2020

Medical Loss Ratio (MLR) Reporting

CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019
Member Months Covered by State Capitation 13,532 13,152 13,275
MLR Numerator $22,975,953 $23,068,263 $21,601,672
MLR Denominator $28,171,325 $27,424,111 $26,506,591
Unadjusted MLR 81.6% 84.1% 81.5%
Credibility Adjustment 5.5% 5.5% 5.5%
Adjusted MLR 87.0% 89.7% 87.0%

Residential Care Center (RCC) Medicaid Covered % 46.0% 46.0% 46.0%
Treatment Foster Home (TFH) Medicaid Covered % 38.2% 38.2% 38.2%
Combined RCC and TFH Medicaid Covered % 43.8% 43.8% 43.9%
Note:  These amounts will be determined from cost report results

Credibility Adjustment Table
From CMS bulletin Dated July 31, 2017

Member Credibility
Months Adjustment
< 5,400 non-credible

5,400 8.4%
12,000 5.7%
24,000 4.0%
48,000 2.9%
96,000 2.0%

192,000 1.5%
380,000 1.0%

> 380,000 fully credible

MLR Numerator Components:
   Claims $22,975,953 $23,068,263 $21,601,672
   MLR Qualified Quality Improvement Expense $0 $0 $0

   MLR Qualified Direct Fraud Recovery Expenses1 $0 $0 $0

MLR Denominator Components:
   Capitation Revenue $28,171,325 $27,424,111 $26,506,591
   MLR Qualified Taxes, Licensing, and Regulatory Fees $0 $0 $0
   Waived Member Cost Sharing for Medicaid Covered Benefits $0 $0 $0

1 Expenses directly related to fraud recoveries may not exceed the amount of fraud recoveries.
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL REPORT 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 

NOTE I – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies of the County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin conform to generally accepted accounting 
principles as applicable to governmental units.  

Through its contract with the State of Wisconsin Department of Health Services, the County of Milwaukee 
is required to submit a financial report which meets the requirements of Title 42 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations, CMS Citation 438.3(m). This financial report includes the revenues and expenditures 
incurred in relation to the County of Milwaukee’s Wraparound Milwaukee program, which represents only 
a portion of the activities of the County of Milwaukee. 

Expenditures and revenues presented in the financial report are recorded by the County of Milwaukee 
using the modified-accrual basis of accounting. 



Chairperson:  Mary Neubauer 
Executive Assistant:  Kiara Abram, 257-7212 
BHD Staff:  Jennifer Bergersen 

MILWAUKEE COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD 
QUALITY COMMITTEE 
March 1, 2021 10:00 A.M. 
Microsoft Teams Meeting 

MINUTES 
SCHEDULED ITEMS: 

1. Welcome (Chairwoman Neubauer) 

Chairwoman Neubauer welcomed everyone to the March 1, 2021 meeting. 

COMMUNITY SERVICES: 

2. Combined Q4 2021 Community Report & Dashboards: CARS and Children’s Community 
Mental Health Services & Wraparound Milwaukee (Justin Heller, Integrated Services 
Manager; Dr. Matt Drymalski, Clinical Program Director; Dana James, Quality 
Assurance/Quality Improvement Manager) 

CARS quarterly reporting metrics have now been disaggregated by race.  Key 
developments and findings are included with reference to population health, client 
experience of care, staff well-being, and cost of care.  Updates to the CARS Quality Plan 
are near completion and will be reviewed at a subsequent meeting.  The average cost per 
family, out of home recidivism rate, average functionality score and perceived outcomes 
of the Children’s Community Mental Health Services & Wraparound Milwaukee were 
reviewed as referenced in the report. 

3. Consumer Experience of Care Executive Summaries:  CARS and Children’s Community 
Mental Health Services & Wraparound Milwaukee (Justin Heller, Integrated Services 
Manager; Dr. Matt Drymalski, Clinical Program Director; Dana James, Quality 
Assurance/Quality Improvement Manager) 

Experience with Telehealth results will be shared at the next committee meeting.  CARS 
is utilizing Qualtrics to further collect and analyze experience of care results.  Additional 
focus groups will resume as to ensure the voices of participants are included in these 
evaluations. Client experience surveys and that of network providers’ experience of BHD 
is underway. Additional information regarding satisfaction/experience of care during this 
pandemic from Wraparound was requested.  It was noted that Comprehensive 
Community Services (CCS) data regarding client experience will be available for review at 
a subsequent meeting. 
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4.  Individual Placement and Support (IPS) (Beth Lohmann, Integrated Services 
Coordinator) 
 
IPS is an evidence based approach to supported employment services, designed for 
individuals with serious mental illnesses. IPS focuses on 8 principles: zero exclusion, 
competitive employment, benefit planning, integration of employment and mental health 
services, etc. Reported data showed an increase in employment status between intake to 
6 months for individuals receiving IPS services opposed to those not in the program. 
Employment rates are included in the detailed report, as well as future opportunities. 
 

5.  Community contract vendor quality updates - any sanctions, holds, service suspensions  
(Heidi Ciske-Schmidt, Integrated Services Manager;  Dennis Buesing, Contract 
Administrator) 
 

a. Multicultural Trauma & Addiction Tx Center of WI - approved Corrective Action 
Plan 

i. A random statistics review of client records resulted in a fiscal disallowance. 
A corrective action plan was created for further monitoring. As highlighted in 
the report, each finding was listed with an expectation of corrective steps, 
measurable outcomes, and a targeted timeline.  

b. St. Charles Youth & Family Services - Appeal at BHD & Outcome  
i. On September 25, 2020, Wraparound Milwaukee issued an Appeal 

Determination to St. Charles Youth & Family Services (St. Charles) that 
identified the outcome of an appeal at the program-level (Wraparound 
Milwaukee) related to an audit of 1:1 Supervision., 5303g service code. 
Following review and determination, the appeal resulted in a fiscal 
recoupment of $6,108.00. St. Charles formally appealed the outcome.  The 
final determination has resulted in the fiscal recoupment being upheld. The 
total amount will be recouped from the agency's next scheduled payment(s) 
over the next 30 days. 

 
  

HOSPITAL SERVICES: 
 

6.  2020 Q4 Inpatient Dashboard (Edward Warzonek, Quality Assurance Coordinator; Dr. 
John Schneider, Chief Medical Officer;  Linda Oczus, Chief Nursing Officer) 
 
Q4: Increase of readmission rates in PCS during this pandemic, improvements made in 
the category of aggression rates. Acute Adult units have shown improvements across 
readmission,  seclusion/restraint, and aggression rates. Acute Adult MHSIP (satisfaction) 
survey scores were highest to date with a response rate of 46%, significantly above the 
27% national average response rate for inpatient behavioral health patient satisfaction 
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surveys.  CAIS MHSIP scores were 1% shy of anticipated target. Acute inpatient 
seclusion rates are below the national average.  
 

7.  2020 Grievance Data  (Sherrie Bailey-Holland, Client Rights Specialist; Demetrius 
Anderson, Manager Quality Improvement; Dana James, Quality Assurance/Quality 
Improvement Manager)  
 
In June 2020, a new grievance policy was developed and approved by the MHB. The 
definition of grievance was reclassified in support of CMS requirements and the policy 
was revised with the initiation of a new Grievance Committee, actioned by the Board. 
Data showed total grievances to total admissions was at 0.42% with a significant 
decrease in incident rates from Q4 2019 throughout 2020.  Grievance themes and 
interventions were highlighted as well as a review of data across all areas of BHD.  A 
request to refine the report format was suggested. 
 

8. SIA Updates – Verbal Update (Mike Lappen, BHD Administrator; Jennifer Bergersen, 
Chief Operations Officer)   
 
The SIA (System Improvement Agreement) completion timeframe has now been 
extended by 6 months (September 2021). Continuous improvements are being made 
amongst the hospital to prepare for the survey and to meet all required corrective action 
milestones, focusing on physical plant renovations, patient engagement, active treatment, 
and treatment planning.  The Patient Safety Committee and the Hospital QAPI Committee 
continue with progress review of these activities. 
 

9. Client Experience of Care/Satisfaction Reports (Edward Warzonek, Quality Assurance 
Coordinator; Sherrie Bailey-Holland, Client Rights Specialist; Demetrius Anderson, 
Manager Quality Improvement) 
 
The 2020 survey results revealed a positive rating increase for all survey domains in 
comparison to 2019’s scores. All of Acute Adult Inpatient Service’s survey item domain 
scores are above the published national averages. Results revealed a “High” response 
score for the Dignity domain (82.4%) and “Good” response scores for 4 of the 6 survey 
item domains. CAIS survey results revealed a 24.0% response rate, currently, no national 
averages/benchmarks are publicly available for this survey. The highest scored positive 
survey items and patient comments were highlighted in this report. 
 

10. QAPI/Patient Safety updates/Board Feedback – Verbal Update (Board Members; 
Christen Marx, Risk Manager; Demetrius Anderson, Manager Quality Improvement; 
Jennifer Bergersen, Chief Operations Officer)   

This agenda item includes a reminder for committee participants that the May meeting will 
include an annual action item of the QAPI and Patient Safety Plan for approval. Board 
member feedback was encouraged prior to the next scheduled meeting.   
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11. Hospital Contract Vendor Quality Updates;  sanctions, holds, service suspensions  - 
Verbal Update (Luci Reyes-Agron, Quality Improvement Coordinator; Jennifer 
Bergersen, Chief Operations Officer)   
 
A team is actively working with two contracts: Allegis (nursing staffing) & WI Diagnostics 
(lab). There are no current sanctions or holds to report today. 
 

12. Policy and Procedure quarterly report(s); reformatted (Lynn Gram, Safety Officer; Luci 
Reyes-Agron, Quality Improvement Coordinator)  
 
Overall progress is at 88.2%. A new format for the policy and procedure progress report 
was presented and accepted by committee.   
 

13. Adjournment.  (Chairwoman Neubauer) 
 
Chairwoman Neubauer ordered the meeting adjourned.  
 

This meeting was recorded. The official copy of these minutes and subject reports, along with the 
audio recording of this meeting, is available on the Milwaukee County Behavioral Health 
Division/Mental Health Board web page.  
 
Length of meeting: 10:00 a.m. – 12:36 p.m.  
 
Adjourned,  

Kiara Abram  
Executive Assistant  
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board  

 

  To Access the Meeting, Call the Number Below: 
 

+1 414-436-3530    

Conference ID: 440 566 185# 
 

The next regular meeting for the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Quality 
Committee is May 3, 2021 at 10:00 a.m. 

 
Visit the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Web Page at: 

 
https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance 

ADA accommodation requests for Milwaukee County events should be filed with the Milwaukee 
County Office for Persons with Disabilities, 278-3932 (voice), 711 (TRS),  

or upon receipt of this notice. 
 

tel:+1%20414-436-3530,,901436959# 
https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance
https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/Office-for-Persons-with-Disabilities
https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/Office-for-Persons-with-Disabilities
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CARS QUALITY DASHBOARD SUMMARY Q4 2020 

CONTINUED FOCUS ON RACIAL EQUITY 

The Community Access to Recovery Services (CARS) is committed to racial equity and to building equity into all aspects of our 

department, from care provision to administrative oversight and internal operations. We reaffirm these guiding principles: 

1. Our commitment to equity embraces all forms of diversity.

2. Equity is not simply something that we do, it must reflect who we aspire to be.

3. An equity gap is a quality gap that must be acknowledged and addressed.

As noted in the previous Quarterly Report, nearly all CARS quarterly reporting metrics have now been disaggregated by race, 

save our staff turnover metric (see below). The remainder of this document will highlight key developments and/or findings in 

each of the Aims of the Quadruple Aim, consistent with our previous reporting. 

Population Health 

Continuing the trend noted in quarter 3 of last year, the rates of improvement among Black clients served by CARS was 

greater than the rates of improvement among white clients. This iteration of the Quarterly Report also includes point in time 

estimates of quality of life among all CARS clients with available data (not just those who had an intake and follow up within 6 

months), also disaggregated by race. This new metric gives us insight into a much larger segment of the population we serve. 

One final important update is that the BHD business analytic team has now developed an enrollment reporting structure that 

will enable better tracking and outcomes reporting of CARS and which we hope will significantly change the way in which we 

are able to present our change over time and impact data. 

Patient Experience of Care 

The implementation of the client experience survey in CARS is well underway, with 3 grants and 5 CARS programs now 

utilizing the survey. The survey is currently being utilized in two separate contracts as incentivized contract performance 

measures. Further, we recently completed our initial analysis of our second client experience with telehealth survey and have 

presented the results at a CARS All Provider meeting, to external stakeholders, and have used the data to supplement a 

recently released position paper advocating for the continued reimbursement of telephonic telehealth post-pandemic. 

Staff Wellbeing 

The data CARS has received from HR indicate that no staff left CARS in the fourth quarter of 2020. This brings CARS's rolling 

twelve-month turnover rate down to 0.00% for all of 2020 (against a national benchmark of 20.0%)! Our partners in HR will 

begin providing this turnover data disaggregated by race starting in the first quarter of 2021. Upcoming CARS initiatives in the 

Staff Wellbeing Aim include the development of a mentorship program within CARS and the implementation of an ongoing 

professional quality of life survey for all CARS staff on an annual basis. Further, the providers with whom CARS contracts and 

partners to provide most of the services in the CARS network are vital partners in our system of care. Therefore, beginning this 

year, BHD will begin administering an annual survey assessing the quality of the provider experience with Milwaukee County 

Behavioral Health Division (BHD) as a management entity. CARS will assist in the development, administration, aggregation, 

and interpretation of this survey and its results. 

Cost of Care 

The cost of care metric has already been disaggregated by race, and the gap in dollars spent per client per month between 

Black and white clients first noted in the 3rd quarter has persisted in the 4th quarter. We are actively investigating potential 

reasons for this difference and plan to explore this finding as part of the CARS Quality Plan. 

NEXT STEPS 

Updates to the CARS Quality Plan are nearly complete, and we hope to share the revised plan with this Committee later this 

year. Other key next steps for the CARS Research and Evaluation Team are efforts to make our data more available, both 

internally and externally, through the use of a page dedicated to quality initiatives on the BHD website and through the use of 

data visualization software. 

CARS RESEARCH AND EVALUATION TEAM MILWAUKEE COUNTY BHD 



Looking at our Metrics with a 
Racial Equity Lens 
Q4-2020 data unless noted 

Demographic Information of the Population We Serve 
This section outlines demographics of the consumers CARS served last quarter compared 

to the County population. 

Race (Milwaukee County)* 

■ Other** (8.6%) White (64.2%) 
■ Black (27.2%)

Ethnicity 
• Not Hispanic/Latino ■ Hispanic/Latino

No Entry/Unknown
82.31% 84.90%
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A look at poverty in 
Milwaukee County vs. CARS 
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use and/or mental health disorder 
each year from 2016 to present, 
relative to the unique number of 

people served by CARS per year in the 
same timeframe. These data indicate 
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Milwaukee County, both overall and 
those living in poverty with a mental 
health and/or substance use disorder, 
is decreasing from year to year, the 

proportion of this community (those 
living in poverty with a substance use 
and/or mental health disorder) served 

by CARS is actually growing. 
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• Projected number living in poverty with a mental health and/or substance use disorder is based on the NSDUH's estimate of 24.5% of 
adults 18 and older with any mental health or substance use disorder in the past year and multiplied by a factor of 1.5 to account for 

the higher rates of behavioral health issues amongst individuals living in poverty. 

•comparable data from United States Census Bureau, which can be found at: https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/milwaukeecountywisconsin/PST045217#qf-flag-Z 

.. "Other" encompasses small percentages of indicated racial identity including ''Alaskan Native/American Indian", "Asian", "Biracial", "Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander", and "Other" 



Domain: Patient Experience of Care 
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Domain: Population Health (cont.) 
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Domain: Population Health (cont.) 
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Domain: Population Health (cont.) 
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Domain: Staff Well-Being 

0.00% 
CARS turnover rate 

20.00% 
Turnover rate for government 

employees (per year)* 

In an effort to increase staff well-being during the COVID-19 
pandemic, CARS staff have engaged in Staff Enrichment 
meetings. Several CARS staff have stepped up to present to 
their fellow colleagues on topics such as emotional 
intelligence, racial equity, and gratitude. These meetings have 
been informational and a great way for staff to connect with 
one another while working remotely. Staff Enrichment 
meetings take place every other Friday. 



Metric Definitions 

Acute Service Utilization 

Admissions 

Consumer Satisfaction 

Cost of Care 

Detoxification 
Re-admissions 

Employment 

ER Utilization 

Homelessness 

Mortality Over Time 

Percent Served 
Within 7 days 

Prevention 

Quality of Life 

Referrals 

Self-Rated 
Health 

Stably Housed 

Turnover 

Volume Served 

Percent of all unique clients who reported that they had received a psychiatric hospitalization, medical 
hospitalization, or detoxification service in the last 30 days. 

All admissions during the past four quarters (not unique clients, as some clients had multiple admissions during 
the quarter). This includes detoxification admissions. 

Implementation of the new, more succinct Client Satisfaction has begun. The survey ranges from 4-10 questions, 
depending on the program, and all questions range from 1="strongly disagree" to 5="strongly agree". The survey 
is currently being utilized in CSP, CCM, RSC, AODA Residential, and Detoxification. 

The average cost per consumer per month within each quarter for CARS services received by CARS consumers 
(not including inpatient and crisis). This is not separated out by funding stream or limited to those dollars spent by 
Milwaukee County on these services. The "n" is an average of the unique number of consumers served per month 
for the 3 months in the quarter in question. 

Percent of consumers returning to detoxification within 7 days. This includes both Detoxification 75.07, as well 
as Detoxification 75.09 (Sober Up). 

Percent of current employment status of unique clients reported as "full or part time employment, supported 
competitive employment, sheltered employment, or student status". 

Percent with any emergency room utilization. Includes any medical or psychiatric ER utilization in last 30 days. 

Percent of all unique clients who reported their current living situation was "street, shelter, no fixed address, 
homeless". 

Mortality is a population health metric used by other institutions such as the Center for Disease Control, the U.S. 
Department of Health and Human Services, and the World Health Organization. The graph shows deaths by 
quarter and aggregated cause of death from the previous four quarters. These data come from the CARS 
notification of death form and is supplemented by information from the Medical Examiner's office. There is a one 
quarter lag in death reporting. 

Percentage of clients per quarter who received a service within 7 days of their Comprehensive Assessment. 

Prevention is an important population health factor. Many prevention activities include evidence 
based practices and presentations. The top five prevention activities from the previous quarter are listed in the 
graphic. 

This is a self-reported measure based on the question on the Comprehensive Assessment. Graphs shows the 
percentage of people that stated that their quality of life was "good" or "very good". 

Total number of referrals at community-based and internal Access Points per quarter. 

This is a self-reported measure based on the question on the Comprehensive Assessment. The graph shows the 
percentage of people that said that their physical health was at least "good". 

Percent of clients who reported their current living situation as a permanent or supported residence. 

Turnover is calculated by looking at the total number of staff who have left over the previous four quarters, divided by 
the average number of employees per month, for the previous four quarters 

*Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics
(https://www.bls.gov/news.release/jolts.t16.htm)

Service volume has been consolidated into one category to avoid potential duplication of client counts due to 
involvement in both MH and AODA programs. 
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Wraparound BHD KPI Report
Q4 2020

Unique Families
Served

Children's Community Mental Health Services and
Wraparound Milwaukee is a unique system of care for
children with serious emotional, behavioral, and mental
health needs and their families.

This report seeks to present information about quality
care, costs, and outcomes framed by Wraparound values
and DHHS values.

Average Cost of Care - average cost of care per family
per month by program in the past quarter

Population Health Metrics - social support,
home placement stability, and out-of-home recidivism

Outcomes - overall satisfactions, functionality,
permanency at discharge, natural supports, and how well
youth/caregiver is doing at discharge

Future iterations will include experience of care surveys
which align to the following values: unconditional care,
family/person-centered care, collaboration, and
culturally competent care.

2,031

Report
Overview



Wraparound BHD KPI Report Q4 2020

Average Cost Per Family

Wraparound REACH CCS
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Average  costs are based on the services utilized per family per month in the past quarter in Wraparound, REACH, and CCS.

CCS

1,976



Wraparound BHD KPI Report Q4 2020

Population Health 
Out of Home Recidivism Rate

Legal Permanency Stability Rate

Percent of Natural Supports

23
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19

Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020 Q4 2020

Quarterly Count
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40

Number of youth in Wraparound and REACH who
moved from a home-type setting to an out of home
type setting within each quarter displayed. 

19%

22%

16%

REACH Wraparound CCS

Average Percent
0
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66% 67% 68%
62%

Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020 Q4 2020

Quarterly Percent
0

50

100

Percent of Wraparound youth in a home-type setting in
the past four quarters.

Average percent of natural supports on teams in the
past quarter.



74.56%
Percent of discharged youth placed
in a home-type setting. Includes
Wraparound, REACH, and CCS in
the past quarter.

Wraparound BHD KPI Report Q4 2020

Outcomes

Permanency at Discharge

Functionality

65 53 57 58

73
69 67 69

Wraparaound REACH

CBCL Intake
Average

CBCL
Discharge

Average

YSR Intake
Average

YSR
Discharge

Average

0

100

200

Average functionality scores of youth and their caregivers
discharged in the past quarter. Data accounts for intake score

averages and the last scores recorded among youth discharged from
Wraparound and REACH in the past quarter. Please note that

decreased scores upon discharge is good!

Family Satisfaction
Overall Average

Score

4.6
For Wraparound and

REACH families in the
past quarter



Wraparound BHD KPI Report Q4 2020

Wraparound and REACH Perceived Outcomes

REACH Discharges

57
Wraparound  Discharges

49 45
CCS Discharges

*Scores are from voluntary dis-enrollment surveys given to caregivers and youth in Wraparound and REACH
programs in the past quarter. These categories can be found on the annual CCS survey: MHSIP.

Caregiver Perceptions
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Average Score
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Youth Perceptions

3.5
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Getting along with friends and family

How well youth is doing

Average Score
0
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2
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Program Item
2017 

Actual
2018 

Actual
2019 

Actual
2020 

Quarter 1
2020 

Quarter 2
2020 

Quarter 3
2020 

Quarter 4
2020 

Actual
2020 

Target
2020 YTD 
Status (1)

Benchmark 
Source

1 Service Volume - All CARS Programs5 8,346 9,393 10,049 6,362 6,266 6,415 6,550 10,069 9,500
Sample Size for Rows 2-6 (Unique Clients) 3,557 3,052 3,108 3,166

2 Percent with any acute service utilization6 17.40% 17.05% 20.13% 20.36% 18.96% 19.46% 19.62% 18.76% 16.35%
3 Percent with any emergency room utilization7 13.87% 14.60% 16.37% 15.67% 14.87% 15.41% 15.49% 14.75% 13.64%
4 Percent abstinence from drug and alcohol use 63.65% 63.65% 62.99% 63.25% 65.14% 62.24% 61.69% 62.79% 64.18%
5 Percent homeless 7.61% 9.18% 9.60% 10.67% 9.87% 8.30% 7.27% 6.49% 8.84%
6 Percent employed 18.09% 20.06% 19.04% 19.03% 16.57% 16.74% 18.42% 21.12% 20.27%

Sample Size for Row 7 (Admissions) 1,726 1,770 1,798 1,574
7 Percent of all admissions that are 7 day readmissions 59.55% 60.12% 50.67% 53.82% 61.75% 62.74% 60.23% 61.06% 49.00%

8 3,404 2,955 2,872 2,106 2,020 2,107 2,031 2,803 3,145 BHD (2)

9 4.8 4.60 4.5 4.4 4.8 4.4 4.6 4.6 > = 4.0 BHD (2)

10 65.7% 65.3% 64.0% 23 20 29 19 23 <= 30 BHD (2)

11 2.59 2.4 2.4 4.0 3.95 3.95 3.6 3.87 > = 4.0 BHD (2)

12 57.8% 58.0% 53.1% 76.2% 81.9% 75.2% 74.6% 78.5% > = 75% BHD (2)

13 44.1% 38.4% 33.2% 24.3% 26.6% 20.3% 19.0% 22.6% > = 40% BHD (2)

14 - $2,706 $2,602 $2,363 $2,522 $2,575 $2,516 BHD (2)

15 PCS Visits 8,001 7,375 7,492 1,730 6,920 8,000 BHD (2)

16 Emergency Detentions in PCS 3,979 3,023 3,227 723 2,892 4,000 BHD (2)

17 Percent of patients returning to PCS within 3 days 7.3% 7.5% 9.6% 6.7% 6.7% 8% BHD (2)

18 Percent of patients returning to PCS within 30 days 23.1% 24.0% 26.1% 22.4% 22.4% 24% BHD (2)

19 Percent of time on waitlist status 75.2% 83.2% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 50% BHD (2)

20 Admissions 656 770 693 185 740 800 BHD (2)

21 Average Daily Census 42.9 41.8 40.5 41.8 41.8 54.0 BHD (2)

22 Percent of patients returning to Acute Adult within 7 days 1.4% 1.6% 2.5% 2.1% 2.1% 3% BHD (2)

23 Percent of patients returning to Acute Adult within 30 days 7.7% 6.6% 9.0% 8.2% 8.2% 9.6% WI DHS
24 Percent of patients responding positively to satisfaction survey 74.0% 74.8% 74.8% 71.5% 71.5% 75.0% NRI (3)

25 If I had a choice of hospitals, I would still choose this one. (MHSIP Survey) 65.4% 65.2% 64.7% 65.6% 65.6% 65% BHD (2)

26 HBIPS 2 - Hours of Physical Restraint Rate  0.56 0.51 0.51 0.38 0.38 0.38 CMS (4)

27 HBIPS 3 - Hours of Locked Seclusion Rate 0.30 0.28 0.19 0.22 0.22 0.29 CMS (4)

28 HBIPS 4 - Patients discharged on multiple antipsychotic medications 17.5% 21.5% 24.7% 26.7% 26.7% 9.5% CMS (4)

29 HBIPS 5 - Patients discharged on multiple antipsychotic medications with appropriate justification 89.6% 95.8% 95.3% 98.0% 98.0% 90.0% BHD (2)

30 Admissions 709 644 660 132 528 800 BHD (2)

31 Average Daily Census 8.6 7.5 7.5 6.9 6.9 12.0 BHD (2)

32 Percent of patients returning to CAIS within 7 days 5.2% 3.4% 6.6% 2.9% 2.9% 5% BHD (2)

33 Percent of patients returning to CAIS within 30 days 12.3% 12.4% 16.7% 9.3% 9.3% 9.6% WI DHS
34 Percent of patients responding positively to satisfaction survey 71.3% 71.1% 75.7% 70.2% 70.2% 75% BHD (2)

35 Overall, I am satisfied with the services I received. (CAIS Youth Survey) 76.8% 74.2% 83.5% 75.0% 75.0% 75% BHD (2)

36 HBIPS 2 - Hours of Physical Restraint Rate  1.17 1.18 1.60 0.72 0.72 0.38 CMS (4)

37 HBIPS 3 - Hours of Locked Seclusion Rate 0.37 0.47 0.33 0.08 0.08 0.29 CMS (4)

38 HBIPS 4 - Patients discharged on multiple antipsychotic medications 5.0% 1.1% 1.4% 2.9% 2.9% 3.0% CMS (4)

39 HBIPS 5 - Patients discharged on multiple antipsychotic medications with appropriate justification 97.1% 85.7% 88.9% 75.0% 75.0% 90.0% BHD (2)

40 Total BHD Revenue (millions) $149.9 $154.9 $149.7
41 Total BHD Expenditure (millions) $207.3 $213.5 $208.2

Acute Adult 
Inpatient 
Service

 Crisis Service 

(6) Includes medical inpatient, psychiatric inpatient, and detoxification utilization in the last 30 days

Child / 
Adolescent 
Inpatient 

Service (CAIS)

Financial

Notes:
(1) 2018 Status color definitions: Red (outside 20% of benchmark), Yellow (within 20% of benchmark), Green (meets or exceeds benchmark)

Please refer to the new 2020 Q2 
Milwaukee County Behavioral 

Health Division Inpatient 
Dashboard dated 7-15-20

Please refer to the new 2020 Q2 
Milwaukee County Behavioral 

Health Division Inpatient 
Dashboard dated 7-15-20

Please refer to the new 2020 Q2 
Milwaukee County Behavioral 

Health Division Inpatient 
Dashboard dated 7-15-20

(7) Includes any medical or psychiatric ER utilization in last 30 days

(2) Performance measure target was set using historical BHD trends
(3) Performance measure target was set using National Association of State Mental Health Directors Research Institute national averages
(4) Performance measure target was set using Centers for Medicare & Medicaid (CMS) Hospital Compare national averages
(5) Service volume has been consolidated into one category to avoid potential duplication of client counts due to involvement in both MH and AODA programs.

Families served by Children's Mental Health Services and Wraparound  (unduplicated count)	
Annual Family Satisfaction Average Score (Rating scale of 1-5) (Wrap HMO)	
Out of Home Recidivism Rate (Wraparound HMO)

Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division 
2020 Key Performance Indicators (KPI) Dashboard

Measure

Community 
Access To 
Recovery 
Services

Wraparound

Average Cost per Month 

Youth and Parent Report of "How Well They Are Doing" at Disenrollment (Wrap HMO)
Percentage of Youth who have achieved permanency at disenrollment
Percentage of Informal Supports on a Child and Family Teams



CARS R&E Team Page 1 

Customer Experience Summary 
Key Initiatives in Community Access to Recovery Services (CARS) and BHD 

Client Experience Survey Expansion in CARS 
Implementation of the BHD Client Experience survey has been rapid in the last 18 months, with 3 grants and 5 CARS 
programs now utilizing the survey. Two Crisis Services programs are also using the survey, with plans to implement 
the survey in Mobile Crisis in late spring of 2021. We are using Qualtrics to implement the survey, collect the data, 
aggregate the results, and make the data available to stakeholders for use in contract performance measure (CPM) 
monitoring and quality improvement projects. The CARS Research and Evaluation Team (CARS R&E) has developed 
several metrics to track implementation progress and ensure internal accountability. Performance on the client 
experience survey is currently being incentivized in two provider contracts. The CARS R&E Team has also developed 
several process documents to guide implementation of the survey, including a sample size determination process, a 
template for a timeline of implementation, and a spreadsheet to track key implementation metrics.  

Provider Experience with BHD as a Management Entity 
CARS is partnering with the Network Development workgroup to develop, distribute, and evaluate a survey assessing 
the experience of our network providers with BHD as a local management entity. This type of survey is a key element 
of Managed Behavioral Health Organizations that seek accreditation from NCQA. The sections in this survey cover a 
variety of BHD/provider interactions, such as utilization review, credentialing, and claims processing, among other 
operations. We believe this survey will help us to create a healthy network that is dynamic and responsive to the 
needs of our community. We also believe that our providers have an important voice as stakeholders and partners 
within our health system. The more satisfied providers are with BHD as a management entity, the more efficiently 
and effectively they will operate, which will ultimately lead to a better experience of care for those we serve.  

CARS/BHD Staff Quality of Work Life Survey 
Milwaukee County released a new iteration of their employee engagement survey in late 2020. The results of this 
most recent survey are expected in Q1 2021. We hope to use the results of this survey to engage our larger CARS 
department in a quality improvement project; the subject still to be determined pending analysis and discussion of 
the results. We believe this survey can be used more consistently in the future, at a more frequent cadence, to keep 
our finger on the pulse of employee engagement in BHD/CARS. This most recent version of the survey includes 
questions that touch on issues of racial equity in the workplace, which is consistent with our departmental focus on 
equity. The results will also give us valuable insight into other important areas and factors that may affect employee 
engagement and provide us with a baseline for comparison in the future.  

Experience with Telehealth 
The CARS R&E Team has now implemented a provider experience with telehealth survey. We hope to receive 
feedback from providers in many programs and levels of care to gain a better understanding of how telehealth is 
impacting the services they provide, and the care that clients receive. Further, we recently completed our initial 
analysis of our second client experience with telehealth survey. We have presented the results at a CARS All Provider 
meeting, to external stakeholders, and have used the data to supplement a recently released position paper 
advocating for the continued reimbursement of telephonic telehealth post-pandemic.  

Focus Groups 
While the pandemic has created some challenges in conducting focus groups with consumers, it also gave us the 
opportunity to re-evaluate the process and objectives of using qualitative data to help influence decisions at the 
programmatic level. Enhanced processes are being developed that focus on meaningful development of questions 
and a more formal summary of results and their implications. In the 4th quarter of 2020, qualitative data was 
gathered through individual video interviews with consumers and staff at the Matt Talbot Detox center. The process 
of conducting individual interviews, as opposed to focus groups, is less efficient, but it allows us to continue to obtain 
the voice of the consumer in a meaningful way.  Currently, preparations are being made to interview AODA 
Residential consumers as part of the contract performance measures development process. 

Quality Committee Item 3



Children’s Community Mental Health Services and Wraparound Milwaukee Experience of Care - 2020 

Month January February March April May June July August September October November December 

Total 25 16 7 4 14 11 15 19 23 23 8 9 

Score (out 
of 5) 

4.2 4.1 4.1 4.0 3.8 3.7 3.9 3.9 3.9 3.7 3.7 3.4 

Return 
Rate 

54.3% 47.1% 23.3% 11.8% 46.7% 26.2% 46.9% 45.2% 62.2% 44.2% 28.6% 34.6% 

Figure 1: Youth and Family Disenrollment Progress scores for 2020. 

Figure 2: Percent of Overall “More Positive Experience” percentages for the MHSIP-F and MHSIP-Y survey in 2020. 

83%

75% 78% 81%
87%

57%

81%

92% 92% 92%

72%

92%

75%

92%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Overall
Mean

Satisfaction Participation Access Culture Outcomes Social
Connectedness

Youth and Family Surveys - Overall "More Positive Experience" 
Percentage by Survey

MHSIP-F MHSIP-Y



Work is 
Recovery 

Individual Placement 
and Support 

March 1st, 2021

Beth Andrea Lohmann

Quality Committee Item 4



Employment 
As a Key 
Social 
Determinant 
of Health



Individual 
Placement and 

Support (IPS)

 Individual Placement and Support (IPS) is an 
Evidence Based approach to Supported Employment 
Services 

 It was designed for person with serious mental illness 

 It promotes a “recovery through work” philosophy

 IPS is focused on 8 principles that when applied, 
result in increased employment outcomes



Spirit of IPS: 

• Zero exclusion

• Preferences are honored

• Competitive employment

• Integration of employment and mental health services

• Benefit planning

• Employment/education search occurs rapidly

• Systematic approach to business

• Continuous and individualized supports



• IPS services started in Milwaukee County 2015 with 3 IPS
providers.  Today we have 5 IPS providers

• IPS services are provided to both adult and youth
through Comprehensive Community Support

• 21 treatment teams have IPS services embedded into
their offerings

• Milwaukee County participates in the national learning
collaborative

• Milwaukee County was selected in 2020 to participate in
a young adult pilot project with the national
employment center

• Milwaukee County has representation on the IPS State
Leadership Team

Milwaukee 
County IPS 
Programs 
Continue to 
Evolve 



BHD Data: 
Data Set and 
Analytic 
Strategy

Clients admitted to CCS 
between 1/1/2019 to 
present

Must have both an 
intake and 6-month FU 
PPS NOMS assessment 

805 unique clients

751 with complete data 
on employment 
outcomes from intake to 
FU



Stratified by 
Receipt of IPS

13.80%

26.60%

12.20%

19.50%

12.60%

21.40%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

Intake 6 Mo FU

Change in Employment Status: Intake to 6 Mo FU

IPS Srvcs (203) NO IPS (548) All (751)

92.75%,
p < .001*

59.84%, 
p < .001

69.84%,
p < .001*



Stratified by 
Receipt of IPS 13.80%

26.60%

12.20%

19.50%

INTAKE 6 MO FU

BETWEEN GROUP DIFFERENCES IN 
EMPLOYMENT AT INTAKE AND 6 MONTH 

FOLLOW UP

IPS (203) No IPS (548)

p =.566
p =.036*



Stratified by 
Receipt of IPS 31.70%

46.40%

29.20%

37.70%

29.90%

40.20%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

50.00%

Intake 6 Mo FU

Change in Quality of Life Status: Intake to 6 Mo FU

IPS Srvcs (183) NO IPS (469) All (652)

46.37%,
p = .002*

29.11%, 
p = .003

34.45%,
p < .001*



Stratified by 
Receipt of IPS

31.70%

46.40%

29.20%

37.70%

INTAKE 6 MO FU

BETWEEN GROUP DIFFERENCES IN QUALITY 
OF LIFE AT INTAKE AND 6 MONTH FOLLOW UP

IPS (183) No IPS (469)

p =.534
p =.042*



Employment 
and QOL 
Overall

Not Employed (502) Employed (150)

36.70%

52.00%

GOOD QOL AT 6 MO FU BY EMPLOYMENT 
STATUS: WHOLE SAMPLE (652)

ChiSquare = 11.316, p =.001



Stratified by 
Receipt of IPS 62.60%

77.30%
72.10%

80.50%

69.50%

79.60%

40.00%

45.00%

50.00%

55.00%

60.00%

65.00%

70.00%

75.00%

80.00%

85.00%

Intake 6 Mo FU

Change in Stable Housing Status: Intake to 6 Mo FU

IPS Srvcs (198) NO IPS (534) All (732)

11.65%,
p < .001*

23.48%, 
p < .001*

14.53%,
p < .001*



Stratified by 
Receipt of IPS

62.60%

77.30%
72.10%

80.50%

INTAKE 6 MO FU

BETWEEN GROUP DIFFERENCES IN STABLE 
HOUSING STATUS AT INTAKE AND 6 MONTH 

FOLLOW UP

IPS (198) No IPS (534)

p =.013*
p =.332



Impact of IPS 
Services in 

2020  

• 524 Milwaukee county residents were provided IPS
services

• 213 new jobs were offered

• 45 individuals were closed successful from IPS

• 36 individual started an education program

• 14 completed an education and/or training program

• Established a Milwaukee County Business Advisory
Council

• Mental Health Toolkit and Mental Health Roundtable

• Employment Rates:
 Q1  - 41%
 Q2 - 35%
 Q3 - 29%
 Q4 - 39%

https://www.goodwillsew.com/MENTAL-HEALTH-TOOLKIT
https://www.bizjournals.com/milwaukee/feature/table-of-experts/breaking-down-barriers-hiring-people-with-mental.html


Shawn Shares Impact of Employment 

https://youtu.be/S1ZAAS9D1Hg


2021 and Beyond

• Embed IPS in the remaining CCS
teams

• Pilot IPS with the CSP programs

• Develop State IPS Steering
Committee

• Establish good fidelity within all
Milwaukee sites.



Questions 



Milwaukee County Department of Health & Human Services (DHHS) 
Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
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   Updated________________   Updated: 01/04/2020 

Agency Name: Multicultural Trauma & Addiction Treatment Center of WI (MTATCW) Phone: 414-939-9390
Address: 2222 N. Mayfair Road, Milwaukee, WI 53226 Fax: 414-939-9383
Contact Person: Dr. Maria Amarante     Email: dr.amarante@mtatcw.com  

Please ensure all requested information is completed prior to signing and submitting. Submit completed document via email to DHHSQA@milwaukeecountywi.gov 

Quality Committee Item 5
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Milwaukee County Department of Health & Human Services (DHHS) 
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   Updated________________    Updated: 01/04/2020 

Quality 
Finding #1 

Expectation 
(Policy 

requirement) 

Responsible 
Party(ies) 

(Name and title) 

Corrective Action Steps  
(Include initials of responsible party for each step) 

MA and LH 

Measurable 
Outcomes 

Target Timeline 
(Please list date for each step) 

Progress Notes 
did not contain 
all required 
elements 

WM Policy #25 
Case Notes must 
include the 
following minimum 
elements: service 
code or name; 
name(s) of the 
direct service 
DSP(s); client and 
service recipient 
name; the date, 
actual start time, 
actual end time, 
duration, location 
of the service; 
intervention; 
summary of the 
activity engaged in; 
Service Recipient’s 
response to the 
Covered Service; 
Direct DSPs 
signature and 
signature date and 
any other elements 
as required by 
Purchaser Policy or 
Procedure. 

Dr. Amarante 
(clinical director) 
and Linda Huber 
(Office manager) 

Please note the 
agency is in the 
process of hiring 
another assistant 
to work as a 
contracts 
specialist. When 
this occurs we 
will notify your 
team if there are 
changes to 
responsible 
parties.   

Immediate Steps: Client 
progress notes 
will be 
monitored 
before 
submitting for 
billing every 
month to 
assure correct 
billing code is 
included. The 
progress notes 
will be 
reviewed on 
the 1st work 
day of every 
month.  

Implementation Date: 
1.MTATCW will revise Progress Note Form (template)
to ensure all required elements are included for each
respective service provided; or for In-Home Therapy
(service code 5160) will use In-Home Therapy Progress
Note template. MTATCW will submit revised Progress
Note Form for approval with CAP. (See attached)

Upon CAP approval. 

Ongoing Steps: Projected Completion Date: 
MTATCW will continue to use the immediate steps and 
apply them as ongoing agency policy.  
We will continue to use the travel log provided by BHD 
and make sure all signatures are in place.   

Is there a standard CAP time frame? 
We are open to feedback.  
Ongoing 

DHHS office use 
only - Follow Up: 

Accepted  
Further Action 

Needed 

Note:  
01/04/2020: Accepted by WM 
12/28/2020: 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” listed is not accepted as agencies are required to comply with Wraparound Milwaukee
policy & procedures and/or FFSA Contract. In return, the agency must revise the section to list the applicable WM policy and/or FFSA area.
The applicable policy is listed in the report issued to MTATCW on 09/29/2020.

2. The revised “Psychotherapy Progress Note” template is now accepted.
3. No change/updates.

12/11/2020: 
1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” is unknown to WM. Resubmit with referenced document.
2. The “Psychotherapy Progress Note” template is not accepted as it does not include the signature line and signature date.

Per DHHS #005 – Contractor/Provider Obligations, “The signature of the DSP on service documentation (progress notes, treatment plans,
etc.) must contain at a minimum the first and last name, and not contain all capital letters or initials only.  Electronic signatures are
acceptable per required guidelines mentioned elsewhere in the Agreement.”

3. The In-Home Progress Note template is located at wraparoundmke.com (Provider Network -> Frequently Used Forms)

http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/025-In-Home-Therapy-Mental-Health-and-Substance-Abuse-AODA.pdf
http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/DHHSPolicyandProcedure005ProviderObligationsFINAL_05012020.pdf


Milwaukee County Department of Health & Human Services (DHHS) 
Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
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   Updated________________    Updated: 01/04/2020 

 
      

Quality 
Finding #2 

Expectation 
(Policy 

requirement) 

Responsible 
Party(ies) 

(Name and title) 

Corrective Action Steps  
(Include initials of responsible party for each step)  

MA and LH 

Measurable 
Outcomes 

Target Timeline 
(Please list date for each step) 

 
In-Home 
Signature Logs 
were missing one 
(1) or more 
required 
elements 

WM Policy #25 
the Log must be 
filled out completely 
after every billable 
client contact and 
then the recipient of 
the service or legal 
guardian must sign 
off on the Log to 
verify that the 
service was 
provided. The 
Therapist must be 
carrying the Log to 
every session and 
acquiring the 
signature of the 
therapy recipient at 
the session's end. 

Dr. Amarante 
(clinical director) 
and Linda Huber 
(Office manager) 
 
Please note 
entry above 
specific to new 
hire.  

Immediate Steps: 
 

1. Logs both 
travel and daily 
logs will be 
reviewed on a 
monthly basis. 
2. Agency will 
assure 
accuracy of 
time frames 
billed for.  

Implementation Date: 
 

1. Travel logs will be matched with daily log 
sheets. Errors will be addressed and initialed.  

2. Logs will be reviewed to assure all necessary 
information is included.  

 

Upon CAP approval. 

 Ongoing Steps:  
 

Projected Completion Date: 
Continue to implement the steps we 
developed in the immediate steps section.  

 
 

Upon CAP approval.  
 
 

DHHS office use 
only - Follow Up: 

Accepted   
Further 

Action Needed  

Note:  
01/04/2020: Accepted by WM 
12/28/2020: 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” listed is not accepted as agencies are required to comply with Wraparound Milwaukee 
policy & procedures and/or FFSA Contract. In return, the agency must revise the section to list the applicable WM policy and/or FFSA area. 
The applicable policy is listed in the report issued to MTATCW on 09/29/2020.  

12/11/2020 
1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” is unknown to WM. Resubmit with referenced document. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/025-In-Home-Therapy-Mental-Health-and-Substance-Abuse-AODA.pdf
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   Updated________________    Updated: 01/04/2020 

Quality 
Finding #3 

Expectation 
(Policy 

requirement) 

Responsible 
Party(ies) 

(Name and title) 

Corrective Action Steps  
(Include initials of responsible party for each step) 

MA and LH 

Measurable 
Outcomes 

Target Timeline 
(Please list date for each step) 

MTATCW allowed 
DSPs to provide 
service to 
Wraparound 
clients prior to 
the decision of 
eligibility within 
the Wraparound 
DSP Network  

WM Policy #35 
WM Policy #54 
written notification 
of the eligibility of 
new or replacement 
Direct DSPs (DSPs) 
and Indirect Staff 
prior to their 
provision of 
services detailed in 
the Scope of Work 
or having any other 
contact with service 
recipients 

Milwaukee 
County DHHS 
2020-2021 Fee-
for-Service 
Agreement with 
WM 
breach of the FFSA 
and applicable 
policies posed a 
safety risk in the 
inability to ensure 
that safe and 
competent services 
were provided to 
youth. 

 Linda Huber 
(Office manager) 

Please note 
entry above 
specific to new 
hire. 

Immediate Steps: 1. Office
Manager will
log into
synthesis and
check status of
add on
document by
every
Thursday and
follow up with
emails and CC
Clinical
Director on the
email.

Implementation Date: 
1. Before assigning a client to a provider, Office
Manager will log into synthesis and assure that the
provider is listed as staff at MTATCW.

12/1/2020 

Ongoing Steps: Projected Completion Date: 

1. Office manager will report to the clinical director the
status of staff add on form on a weekly basis and if
needed will follow up with Evette Cruz after a 2 week
period.

Ongoing 

DHHS office use 
only - Follow Up: 

Accepted  
Further 

Action Needed 

Note: Any future incidents of non-compliance for failing to obtain decision of eligibility for Wraparound Program Network will result in a 
fiscal sanction (For Reference related to DSP eligibility requirement, see Policy and FFSA as referenced in Report) 
01/04/2020: Accepted by WM 
12/28/2020: 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” listed is not accepted as agencies are required to comply with Wraparound Milwaukee
policy & procedures and/or FFSA Contract. In return, the agency must revise the section to list the applicable WM policy and/or FFSA area.
The applicable policy is listed in the report issued to MTATCW on 09/29/2020.

12/11/2020 
1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” is unknown to WM. Resubmit with referenced document.

http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/035-Provider-Add-Drop-Policy-merged.pdf
http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/054-Provider-Agency-Responsibilities-Guidelines.pdf
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Fiscal 
Finding #4 

Expectation 
(Policy 

requirement) 

Responsible 
Party(ies) 

(Name and title) 

Corrective Action Steps  
(Include initials of responsible party for each step) 

MA and LH 

Measurable 
Outcomes 

Target Timeline 
(Please list date for 

each step) 
 
Required 
documentation is 
missing 

WM Policy #25 
Contractor agrees to 
ensure that Direct 
DSPs complete and 
retain Case Notes 
prior to billing for 
Covered Services. 
Case Notes to be 
completed within 
timeframe as specified 
in Purchaser’s Policy 
and Procedure for 
programs or services. 

Dr. Amarante 
(clinical director) 
and Linda 
Huber (Office 
manager) 
 
Please note 
entry above 
specific to new 
hire. 

Immediate Steps: 1. For every Sar 
or Unit billed 
the office 
manager will 
review 
accuracy of 
billing by 
matching the 
progress note 
and travel log. 

Implementation Date: 
 

1. Progress notes will be reviewed on a biweekly basis to assure 
required data is included in the document.  

2. Office manager / new hire will review the daily provider log and 
match them with progress note to check for accuracy of data.  

Upon approval of CAP 

 Ongoing Steps:  Projected Completion 
Date: 

1. Office manager and Clinical Director will include review of CAP on agenda 
during our Monthly Administrative Meetings.  

Ongoing 

DHHS office use 
only - Follow Up: 

Accepted   
Further Action 

Needed 

Note:  
01/04/2020: Accepted by WM 
12/28/2020: 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” listed is not accepted as agencies are required to comply with 
Wraparound Milwaukee policy & procedures and/or FFSA Contract. In return, the agency must revise the section to list the 
applicable WM policy and/or FFSA area. The applicable policy is listed in the report issued to MTATCW on 09/29/2020.  

12/11/2020 
1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” is unknown to WM. Resubmit with referenced document. 

 
 
 

http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/025-In-Home-Therapy-Mental-Health-and-Substance-Abuse-AODA.pdf
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Fiscal 
Finding #5 

Expectation 
(Policy 

requirement) 

Responsible 
Party(ies) 

(Name and title) 

Corrective Action Steps  
(Include initials of responsible party for each step) 

MA and LH 

Measurable Outcomes Target Timeline 
(Please list date for 

each step) 
 
Overlapping 
Sessions 

Milwaukee 
County DHHS 
2020-2021 Fee-
for-Service 
Agreement with 
WM 
 
DSP is responsible for 
the accuracy of 
billings for services 
performed under this 
Agreement 
 
 
 
 
 

Dr. Amarante 
(clinical 
director) and 
Linda Huber 
(Office 
manager) 
 
Please note 
entry above 
specific to new 
hire. 

Immediate Steps: 1. Clinicians 
providing 
services to 
wraparound 
and CCS 
clients will be 
trained to use 
the provider 
grid before 
providing 
services to 
clients.  

Implementation Date: 
1. MTATCW DSP’s will complete daily Provider Grids and 

will submit DSP’s grid upon request to Wraparound 
Milwaukee.  Each DSP will start use of completing the 
Provider Grid for each date of service not later than 
Tuesday, Dec. 1, 2020.   

Dec 1, 2020 

 Ongoing Steps:  Projected 
Completion Date: 

 End of CAP 
DHHS office use 
only - Follow Up: 

Accepted   
Further Action 

Needed 

Note:   
01/04/2020: Accepted by WM 
12/28/2020: 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” listed is not accepted as agencies are required to comply with 
Wraparound Milwaukee policy & procedures and/or FFSA Contract. In return, the agency must revise the section to list the 
applicable WM policy and/or FFSA area. The applicable policy is listed in the report issued to MTATCW on 09/29/2020.  

12/11/2020 
1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” is unknown to WM. Resubmit with referenced document. 
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Fiscal 
Finding #6 

 

Expectation 
(Policy 

requirement) 

Responsible 
Party(ies) 

(Name and title) 

Corrective Action Steps  
(Include initials of responsible party for each step) 

Measurable 
Outcomes 

Target Timeline 
(Please list date for 

each step) 

 
Inaccurate billings 

WM Policy #25 
Milwaukee 
County DHHS 
2020-2021 Fee-
for-Service 
Agreement with 
WM 
 
DSP is responsible for 
the accuracy of 
billings for services 
performed under this 
Agreement 
 
 
 

Dr. Amarante 
(clinical director) 
and Linda 
Huber (Office 
manager) 
 
Please note 
entry above 
specific to new 
hire. 

Immediate Steps:  Implementation Date: 
1. All required documentation must be complete/entered in 
Synthesis (if applicable) prior to invoicing 
2. All invoicing must be completed electronically through Synthesis 
within 60 days from the receipt of service 
 

12/1/2020   

 
 

Ongoing Steps:  Projected Completion 
Date: 

Same as above Ongoing 

DHHS office use 
only - Follow Up: 

Accepted   
Further Action 

Needed 

Note:  
01/04/2020: Accepted by WM 
12/28/2020: 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” listed is not accepted as agencies are required to comply with 
Wraparound Milwaukee policy & procedures and/or FFSA Contract. In return, the agency must revise the section to list the 
applicable WM policy and/or FFSA area. The applicable policy is listed in the report issued to MTATCW on 09/29/2020.  

2. No change/update.  
12/11/2020 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” is unknown to WM. Resubmit with referenced document.  
2. Implementation Date is not accepted by WM. The implementation date must begin as of 12/01/2020. This is applicable for 

all services as of 10/01/2020.  
 
 
 
 
 

http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/025-In-Home-Therapy-Mental-Health-and-Substance-Abuse-AODA.pdf
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Concern 
#1-3 

Expectation 
(Policy 

requirement) 

Responsible 
Party(ies) 

(Name and title) 

Corrective Action Steps  
(Include initials of responsible party for each step) 

Measurable 
Outcomes 

Target Timeline 
(Please list date for 

each step) 
1. There were multiple 
In-Therapy Signature 
Logs that appear to 
have been completed in 
its entirety and/or 
signatures that 
appeared to have been 
signed all at once. 
 
2. Related to billing for 
“No Show Travel,” In-
Home Therapy (5160) -
MTATCW billing for the 
“session time” when no 
session occurred.  
Also, one (1) instance 
identified where DSP 
billed in excess of the 1 
hour (maximum time 
allowed) for No Show 
Travel. 
 
3. MTATCW billed and 
was paid for In-Home 
Therapy (5160) for 
attending a Team 
Meeting via conference 
call with no 
documentation noted 
that agency obtained 
Wraparound 
Administration 
approval  

WM Policy #25  
the Log must be filled 
out completely after 
every billable client 
contact and then the 
recipient of the service 
or legal guardian must 
sign off on the Log to 
verify that the service 
was provided. The 
Therapist must be 
carrying the Log to 
every session and 
acquiring the 
signature of the 
therapy recipient at the 
session's end. 

Dr. Amarante 
(clinical director) 
and Linda 
Huber (Office 
manager) 
 
Please note 
entry above 
specific to new 
hire. 

Immediate Steps: Clinicians will 
be provide logs  
(daily provider 
and travel logs 
on a bi-weekly 
basis) and will 
be reviewed for 
accuracy of 
data on the 1st 
and 15th of the 
month.  

 
 

Implementation Date: 
1. Clinicians providing in-home therapy have been provided 

with the In-Home policy and procedures for Wrap Around.  
2. Staff billing for services monitors billing logs before 

submitting bill request.  
3. Since COVID-19 emergency order, agencies have been 

approved to provide virtual services including participation 
in team meetings. Clinicians will use code 5160 if they 
provided in-home therapy service during that month for 
team meetings.  

12/1/2020 

 Ongoing Steps:  Projected Completion 
Date: 

Same as above Ongoing 

http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/025-In-Home-Therapy-Mental-Health-and-Substance-Abuse-AODA.pdf
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DHHS office use 
only - Follow Up: 

Accepted   
Further Action 

Needed 

Note:  
01/04/2020: Accepted by WM 
12/28/2020: 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” listed is not accepted as agencies are required to comply with Wraparound 
Milwaukee policy & procedures and/or FFSA Contract. In return, the agency must revise the section to list the applicable WM policy 
and/or FFSA area. The applicable policy is listed in the report issued to MTATCW on 09/29/2020.  

12/11/2020 
Please be advised travel time can only be billed in accordance with Policy #25. Note: If session or meeting is held virtually, travel time is 
not allowed to be billed. 
Per the Wraparound In-Home Therapy Policy (#025), “Travel time consists of the time to travel from the DSP’s office to the youth’s home or from 
the previous appointment to the youth’s home. If you are traveling from one youth’s home to another youth’s home, the time it takes you to 
complete that trip must be divided between the two youth. Travel time cannot be billed from your last appointment if you are going home for the 
day. If you are returning to the office to make closure then travel time can billed” 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” is unknown to WM. Resubmit with referenced document.   
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Concern 
#4-6 

Expectation 
(Policy 

requirement) 

Responsible 
Party(ies) 

(Name and title) 

Corrective Action Steps  
(Include initials of responsible party for each step) 

MA and LH 

Measurable 
Outcomes 

Target Timeline 
(Please list date for 

each step) 
4. It was identified that the start
time on the In-Home Therapy
(5160) PN did not match the start
time as recorded on the Log

5. White–out on an In-Home
Therapy (5160) Log was used as a
means to correct the date and
times of the session and travel.

6. MTATCW altered documentation 
after submitting the 
original/finalized documents to
DHHS for the desk review.
MTATCW specifically altered the
"Date and time" section of two (2)
progress notes for youth. 

WM Policy #25
the Log must be 
filled out completely 
after every billable 
client contact and 
then the recipient of 
the service or legal 
guardian must sign 
off on the Log to 
verify that the 
service was 
provided. The 
Therapist must be 
carrying the Log to 
every session and 
acquiring the 
signature of the 
therapy recipient at 
the session's end.

Dr. Amarante 
(clinical director) 
and Linda Huber 
(Office manager) 

Please note 
entry above 
specific to new 
hire. 

Immediate Steps: 1. Clinical
Director and
Office manager
will review logs
on the 15th and
first day of the
month to
assure
accuracy.

Implementation 
Date: 

1. Logs and PN’s will be reviewed for accuracy on a
bi-weekly basis.

2. If an error is made in a log, white out will not be
used to correct error, the clinician will cross out
and initial the error and write “error”.

3. If a factual error is made and identified,
documentation will include when the finding was
identified and changes will be made to reflect
accuracy of service.

12/1/2020 

Ongoing Steps: Projected 
Completion Date: 
Ongoing 

DHHS office use only - Follow 
Up: 

Accepted  
Further 

Action Needed 

Note:   
01/04/2020: Accepted by WM 
12/28/2020: 

1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” listed is not accepted as agencies are required to comply with
Wraparound Milwaukee policy & procedures and/or FFSA Contract. In return, the agency must revise the section to
list the applicable WM policy and/or FFSA area. The applicable policy is listed in the report issued to MTATCW on
09/29/2020.

12/11/2020 
1. The documented “Expectation (Policy requirement)” is unknown to WM. Resubmit with referenced document.

http://wraparoundmke.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/025-In-Home-Therapy-Mental-Health-and-Substance-Abuse-AODA.pdf
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2020 Q4 MILWAUKEE COUNTY  
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIVISION 

INPATIENT DASHBOARD 

 

Quarter YTD Quality Indicator Threshold  Description 

Q1: Rate=6.7%  
Q2: Rate=10.2% 
Q3: Rate=10.2% 
Q4: Rate=11.7% 

Rate=9.6% Percent of patients 
returning to PCS 
within 3 days 

Rate 
           X < 7.8% 

           X = 7.8% 

           X > 7.8% 

Rate=Count of client visits within 3 days of prior 
visit/Total client visits  
Q1: 116 readmissions within 3 days by 84 unique 
individuals 
Q2: 154 readmissions within 3 days by 82 unique 
individuals 
Q3: 170 readmissions within 3 days by 90 unique 
individuals 
Q4: 184 readmissions within 3 days by 104 unique 
individuals 
PCS had 2 outlier patients with 21 PCS visits each in 
2020 Q2, and 1 outlier with 24 PCS visits in 2020 Q3. 

Q1: Rate=22.4%  
Q2: Rate=26.2% 
Q3: Rate=28.6% 
Q4: Rate=27.9% 

Rate=26.2% Percent of patients 
returning to PCS 
within 30 days 

Rate 
           X < 24% 

           X = 24% 

           X > 24% 

Rate=Count of client visits within 30 days of prior 
visit/Total client visits  
Q1: 387 readmissions within 30 days by 206 unique 
individuals 
Q2: 395 readmissions within 30 days by 182 unique 
individuals 
Q3: 477 readmissions within 30 days by 215 unique 
individuals 
Q4: 438 readmissions within 30 days by 206 unique 
individuals 
PCS had 2 outlier patients with 21 PCS visits each in 
2020 Q2, and 1 outlier with 24 PCS visits in 2020 Q3. 

Q1: Rate=2.3 (n=4) 
Q2: Rate=6.0 (n=9) 
Q3: Rate=4.8 (n=8) 
Q4: Rate=1.9 (n=3) 

Rate=3.7 
(n=24) 

Behavioral Codes 
(Code 1)  

Rate 
           X < 2.3 

           X = 2.3 

           X > 2.3 

Rate=Behavioral codes per 1,000 PCS visits 
The objective of this metric is to not only to monitor 
the quantity/rate of codes called resulting in further 
treatment (Restraint and Seclusion). 

Q1: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q2: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q4: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 

Rate=0.0 
(n=0) 

Physical Aggression - 
Patient/Patient 

Incidents 
           Zero 

           2 or Less 

> 2 

Rate=Pt/Pt physical aggression incidents per 1,000 
PCS visits. 

Q1: Rate=1.2 (n=2) 
Q2: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=3.0 (n=5) 
Q4: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 

Rate=1.1 
(n=7) 

Physical Aggression - 
Patient/Staff 

Incidents 
           Zero 

           2 or Less 

> 2 

Rate=Pt/Staff physical aggression incidents per 
1,000 PCS visits. 

Target Key:     Better Than Expected    Expected Worse Than Expected 
Psychiatric Crisis 

Service (PCS) 

Quality Committee Item 6
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Q1: Rate=.58 (n=1) 
Q2: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=1.2 (n=2) 
Q4: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 

Rate=.46 
(n=3) 

Patient Elopement 

Incidents 
 Zero 

           1 

> 2

Rate=Patient elopements per 1,000 PCS visits 
Elopement definition: Patient eloped from locked 
unit and returned within the building or patient 
eloped from locked unit and exited the building. 

Q1: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q2: Rate=0.7 (n=1) 
Q3: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q4: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 

Rate=0.2 
(n=1) 

Patient Self Injurious 
Behavior 

Incidents 
 Zero 

           1 

> 2 

Rate=Patient Self Injurious Behavior Incidents per 
1,000 PCS visits  

Q1: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q2: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=0.6 (n=1) 
Q4: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 

Rate=0.15 
(n=0) 

Medication Errors 
Rate 
           X = 0 

           X < 1.1 

           X > 1.1 

Rate=Medication Errors per 10,000 Doses Dispensed 
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2020 Q4 MILWAUKEE COUNTY  
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIVISION 

INPATIENT DASHBOARD 

 

Quarter YTD Quality Indicator Threshold  Description 

Q1: Rate=2.1% (n=4) 
Q2: Rate=0.6% (n=1) 
Q3: Rate=2.0% (n=3) 
Q4: Rate=1.3% (n=2) 

1.5% 
(n=10) 

Percent of patients 
returning to Acute 
Adult within 7 days 

Rate 
           X < 3% 

           X = 3% 

           X > 3% 

Rate=Percent of patient admissions occurring within 
7 days of patient's prior discharge from the program 

Q1: Rate=8.2% (n=16)  
Q2: Rate=8.2% (n=13) 
Q3: Rate=11.8% (n=18) 
Q4: Rate=10.1% (n=16) 

9.5% 
(n=63) 

Percent of patients 
returning to Acute 
Adult within 30 days 

Rate 
           X < 9.6% 

           X = 9.6% 

           X > 9.6% 

Rate=Percent of patient admissions occurring within 
30 days of patient's prior discharge from the 
program 

Q1: 71.6% positive 
Q2: 76.5% positive 
Q3: 73.1% positive 
Q4: 81.0% positive 

75.3% 
Percent of patients 
responding positively 
to MHSIP satisfaction 
survey 

Rate 
           X > 75% 

           X = 75% 

           X < 75% 

Rate=Percent of patients selecting "Agree" or 
"Strongly Agree" to all survey items 
Q1: 97 completed surveys (49% response rate) 
Q2: 80 completed surveys (51% response rate) 
Q3: 57 completed surveys (38% response rate) 
Q4: 70 completed surveys (45% response rate) 

Q1: 65.6% positive 
Q2: 60.3% positive 
Q3: 68.5% positive 
Q4: 72.7% positive 

66.4% 
If I had a choice of 
hospitals, I would still 
choose this one. 
(MHSIP Survey) 

Rate 
           X > 65% 

           X = 65% 

           X < 65% 

Rate=Percent of patients selecting "Agree" or 
"Strongly Agree" to survey item  
Q1: 97 completed surveys (49% response rate) 
Q2: 80 completed surveys (51% response rate) 
Q3: 57 completed surveys (38% response rate) 
Q4: 70 completed surveys (45% response rate) 

Q1: Rate=9.2 (n=35) 
Q2: Rate=7.5 (n=19) 
Q3: Rate=9.1 (n=24) 
Q4: Rate=7.6 (n=20) 

Rate=8.4 
(n=98) 

Behavioral Codes 
Rate 
           X < 9.2 

           X = 9.2 

           X > 9.2 

Rate=Behavioral codes per 1,000 patient days  
The objective of this metric is to not only to monitor 
the quantity/rate of codes called resulting in further 
treatment (Restraint and Seclusion). 
At the next meeting information regarding the 
outcomes will be reviewed. 

Q1: Rate=2.9 (n=11) 
Q2: Rate=5.1 (n=13) 
Q3: Rate=1.5 (n=4) 
Q4: Rate=0.8 (n=2) 

Rate=2.6 
(n=30) 

Physical Aggression - 
Patient/Patient 

Rate 
           X < 2.9 

           X = 2.9 

           X > 2.9 

Rate=Pt/Pt physical aggression incidents per 1,000 
patient days 
43A Incidents - Q1: 2  Q2: 0  Q3: 0  Q4: 1  
43B Incidents - Q1: 9  Q2: 10  Q3: 4  Q4: 0 
43C Incidents - Q1: 0  Q2: 3  Q3: 0  Q4: 1 

Q1: Rate=4.7 (n=18) 
Q2: Rate=2.0 (n=5) 
Q3: Rate=0.8 (n=2) 
Q4: Rate=2.3 (n=6) 

Rate=2.7 
(n=31) 

Physical Aggression - 
Patient/Staff 

Rate 
           X < 2.9 

           X = 2.9 

           X > 2.9 

Rate=Pt/Staff physical aggression incidents per 
1,000 patient days 
43A Incidents - Q1: 0  Q2: 0  Q3: 1  Q4: 0 
43B Incidents - Q1: 16  Q2: 4  Q3: 0  Q4: 1 
43C Incidents - Q1: 2  Q2: 1  Q3: 1  Q4: 5   

Target Key:     Better Than Expected   Expected Worse Than Expected 
Acute Adult 

Inpatient Service 
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In 2020 Q1, one female patient accounted for 14 of 
the 16 reported patient-to-staff physical aggression 
incidents on 43B. 

Q1: Rate=.52 (n=2) 
Q2: Rate=.72 (n=2) 
Q3: Rate=.00 (n=0) 
Q4: Rate=.00 (n=0) 

Rate=.34 
(n=4) 

Patient Elopement 
Incidents 

 Zero 

           1 

> 2 

Rate=Patient elopements per 1,000 patient days 
43A Incidents - Q1: 1 Q2: 0 (patient exited the unit 
into hallway but was returned to unit by staff) 
43B Incidents - Q1: 1 Q2: 1 (patient exited the unit 
to hallway but was returned by staff, patient exited 
the unit to Children’s Hospital but was returned by 
Sheriff) 
43C Incidents - Q1: 0 Q2: 1 (patient broke glass to 
exit building but returned to unit by police) 

Q1: Rate=0.3 (n=1) 
Q2: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=0.4 (n=1) 
Q4: Rate=0.4 (n=1) 

Rate=0.3 
(n=3) 

Patient Self Injurious 
Behavior 

Incidents 
 Zero 

           1 

> 2 

Rate=Patient Self Injurious Behavior Incidents per 
1,000 patient days 
43A Incidents - Q1: 0 Q2: 0 Q3: 0 Q4: 0 
43B Incidents - Q1: 0 Q2: 0 Q3: 1 Q4: 0 
43C Incidents - Q1: 1 Q2: 0 Q3: 0 Q4: 1 

Q1: Rate=1.11 (n=5) 
Q2: Rate=0.37 (n=1) 
Q3: Rate=1.54 (n=4) 
Q4: Rate=0.45 (n=1) 

Rate=.96 
(n=11) 

Medication Errors 
Rate 
           X < 1.1 

           X = 1.1 

           X > 1.1 

Rate=Medication errors per 10,000 administered 
doses 
43A Incidents - Q1: 2 Q2: 1 Q3: 0 Q4: 1 
43B Incidents - Q1: 2 Q2: 0 Q3: 2 Q4: 0 
43C Incidents - Q1: 1 Q2: 0 Q3: 2 Q4: 0 
For 2020 YTD, Acute Adult’s medication errors were: 
3-incorrect doses, 3-omitted dose, 1-incorrect time,
1-incorrect course of therapy, 1-allergen to patient,
and 1-directions unclear

Q1: Rate=.38 (34.7 hrs) 
Q2: Rate=.29 (17.7 hrs) 
Q3: Rate=.26 (16.2 hrs) 
Q4: Rate=.32 (20.1 hrs) 

.32 
(88.7 hrs) 

HBIPS 2 - Hours of 
Physical Restraint 
Rate 

Rate 
           X < .38 

           X = .38 

           X > .38 

Rate=Hours that patients spent in physical restraints 
for every 1,000 hours of patient care 
43A - Q1: .41 (12.9 hrs) Q2: .44 (7.2 hrs)  Q3: .06 (.95 hrs) 
Q4: .60 (10.6 hrs)  
43B - Q1: .54 (16.4 hrs) Q2: .28 (6.6 hrs) Q3: .62 (14.2 hrs)  
Q4: .18 (4.3 hrs) 
43C - Q1: .18 (5.4 hrs) Q2: .18 (3.8 hrs) Q3: .04 (1.0 hrs) 
Q4: .25 (5.3 hrs) 

Q1: Rate=.22 (19.8 hrs) 
Q2: Rate=.22 (13.2 hrs) 
Q3: Rate=.30 (19.1 hrs) 
Q4: Rate=.02 (1.3 hrs) 

.19 
(53.4 hrs) 

HBIPS 3 - Hours of 
Locked Seclusion Rate 

Rate 
           X < .29 

           X = .29 

           X > .29 

Rate=Hours that patients spent in seclusion for 
every 1,000 hours of patient care 
43A - Q1: .41 (12.8 hrs) Q2: .50 (8.3 hrs) Q3: .28 (4.5 hrs) 
Q4: .07 (1.3 hrs) 
43B - Q1: .00 (0.0 hrs) Q2: .13 (3.0 hrs) Q3: .41 (9.5 hrs) 
Q4: 0.0 (0.0 hrs) 
43C - Q1: .23 (7.0 hrs) Q2: .09 (2.0 hrs) Q3: .21 (5.1 hrs) 
Q4: 0.0 (0.0 hrs) 

Q1: Rate=26% (n=51) 
Q2: Rate=24% (n=39) 
Q3: Rate=22% (n=34) 
Q4: Rate=11% (n=18) 

21% 
(n=142) 

HBIPS 4 - Patients 
discharged on 
multiple antipsychotic 
medications 

Rate 
           X < 9.5% 

           X = 9.5% 

           X > 9.5% 

Rate=Percent of patients discharged from an 
inpatient psychiatric facility on 2 or more 
antipsychotic medications 
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Q1: Rate=98% (n=50) 
Q2: Rate=92% (n=36) 
Q3: Rate=97% (n=33) 
Q4: Rate=94% (n=17) 

96% 
(n=136) 

HBIPS 5 - Patients 
discharged on 
multiple antipsychotic 
medications with 
appropriate 
justification 

Rate 
           X > 61% 

           X = 61% 

  X < 61% 

Rate=Percent of patients discharged from an 
inpatient psychiatric facility on 2 or more 
antipsychotic medications with appropriate 
justification 
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2020 Q4 MILWAUKEE COUNTY  
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIVISION 

INPATIENT DASHBOARD 

 

Quarter YTD Quality Indicator Threshold  Description 

Q1: 2.9% (n=4) 
Q2: 2.4% (n=1) 
Q3: 1.6% (n=1) 
Q4: 7.0% (n=6) 

Rate=3.6% 
(n=12) 

Percent of patients 
returning to CAIS 
within 7 days 

Rate 
           X < 5.0% 

           X = 5.0% 

           X > 5.0% 

Rate=Percent of patient admissions occurring within 
7 days of patient's prior discharge from the program 

Q1: 9.3% (n=13) 
Q2: 4.8% (n=2) 
Q3: 7.9% (n=5) 
Q4: 9.3% (n=8) 

Rate=8.5% 
(n=28) 

Percent of patients 
returning to CAIS 
within 30 days 

Rate 
           X < 9.6% 

           X = 9.6% 

           X > 9.6% 

Rate=Percent of patient admissions occurring within 
30 days of patient's prior discharge from the 
program 

Q1: 70.8% positive 
Q2: 63.2% positive 
Q3: 92.1% positive 
Q4: 73.7% positive 

73.2% 
Percent of patients 
responding positively 
to satisfaction survey 

Rate 
           X > 75% 

           X = 75% 

           X < 75% 

Rate=Percent of patients selecting "Agree" and 
"Strongly Agree" to all survey items 
Q1: 22 completed surveys (16% response rate) 
Q2: 4 completed surveys (10% response rate) 
Q3: 4 completed surveys (6% response rate) 
Q4: 33 completed surveys (38% response rate) 

Q1: 68.2% positive 
Q2: 100.0% positive 
Q3: 100.0% positive 
Q4: 71.0% positive 

74.2% 
Overall, I am 
satisfied with the 
services I received. 
(CAIS Youth Survey) 

Rate 
           X > 75% 

           X = 75% 

           X < 75% 

Rate=Percent of patients selecting "Agree" and 
“Strongly Agree" to survey item 
Q1: 22 completed surveys (16% response rate) 
Q2: 4 completed surveys (10% response rate) 
Q3: 4 completed surveys (6% response rate) 
Q4: 33 completed surveys (38% response rate) 

Q1: Rate=8.0 (n=5) 
Q2: Rate=4.3 (n=1) 
Q3: Rate=23.7 (n=8) 
Q4: Rate=10.7 (n=4) 

Rate=11.4 
(n=18) 

Behavioral Codes 
(Code 1) 

Rate 
           X < 8.0 

           X = 8.0 

           X > 8.0 

The objective of this metric is to not only to monitor 
the quantity of codes but of the codes called and 
how many of them resulted in further treatment 
with restraint and/or seclusion. 
For this meeting the only number we will have is the 
rate/number of codes but at the next meeting we 
will have the results of the codes. 

Q1: Rate=4.8 (n=3) 
Q2: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=3.0 (n=1) 
Q4: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 

Rate=2.6 
(n=4) 

Physical Aggression - 
Patient/Patient 

Incidents 
           Zero 

           2 or Less 

> 2 

Rate=Pt/Pt physical aggression incidents per 1,000 
patient days 

Target Key:     Better Than Expected   Expected Worse Than Expected 
Child Adolescent 

Inpatient Service (CAIS) 
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Q1: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q2: Rate=4.3 (n=1) 
Q3: Rate=5.9 (n=2) 
Q4: Rate=11.8 (n=4) 

Rate=4.6 
(n=7) 

Physical Aggression - 
Patient/Staff 

Incidents 
           Zero 

           2 or Less 

> 2 

Rate=Pt/Staff physical aggression incidents per 
1,000 patient days 

Q1: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q2: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q4: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 

Rate=0.0 
(n=0) 

Patient Elopement 
Incidents 

 Zero 

           1 

> 2 

Rate=Patient elopements per 1,000 patient days 

Q1: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q2: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 
Q4: Rate=0.0 (n=0) 

Rate=0.0 
(n=0) 

Patient Self Injurious 
Behavior 

Incidents 
 Zero 

           1 

> 2 

Rate=Patient self-injurious behavior Incidents per 
1,000 patient days 

Q1: Rate=1.59 (n=1) 
Q2: Rate=4.33 (n=1) 
Q3: Rate=2.96 (n=1) 
Q4: Rate=0.00 (n=0)

Rate=1.91 
(n=3) 

Medication Errors 
Rate 
           X < 1.1 

           X = 1.1 

           X > 1.1 

Rate=Medication errors per 10,000 doses 
administered  

For 2020 YTD, CAIS’ medication errors were (2) 
omitted doses, and (1) directions unclear, confusing 
or incomplete  

Q1: Rate=0.72 (10.8 hrs) 
Q2: Rate=0.13 (0.7 hrs) 
Q3: Rate=1.14 (9.2 hrs) 
Q4: Rate=1.43 (12.8 hrs) 

.89 
(33.6 hrs) 

HBIPS 2 - Hours of 
Physical Restraint 
Rate 

Rate 
           X < .38 

           X = .38 

           X > .38 

Rate=Hours that patients spent in physical restraints 
for every 1,000 hours of patient care 

Q1: Rate=.08 (1.3 hrs) 
Q2: Rate=.00 (0.0 hrs) 
Q3: Rate=.18 (1.5 hrs) 
Q4: Rate=.04 (0.3 hrs) 

.08 
(3.1 hrs) 

HBIPS 3 - Hours of 
Locked Seclusion 
Rate 

Rate 
           X < .29 

           X = .29 

           X > .29 

Rate=Hours that patients spent in seclusion for 
every 1,000 hours of patient care 

Q1: Rate=3.6% (n=5) 
Q2: Rate=0.0% (n=0) 
Q3: Rate=0.0% (n=0) 
Q4: Rate=0.0% (n=0) 

2.0% 
(n=5) 

HBIPS 4 - Patients 
discharged on 
multiple 
antipsychotic 
medications 

Rate 
           X < 3% 

           X = 3% 

           X > 3% 

Rate=Percent of patients discharged from an 
inpatient psychiatric facility on 2 or more 
antipsychotic medications 

Q1: Rate=80% (n=4)  
Q2: N/A 
Q3: N/A 
Q4: N/A 

80% 
(n=4) 

HBIPS 5 - Patients 
discharged on 
multiple 
antipsychotic 
medications with 
appropriate 
justification 

Rate 
           X > 61% 

           X = 61% 

           X < 61% 

Rate=Percent of patients discharged from an 
inpatient psychiatric facility on 2 or more 
antipsychotic medications with appropriate 
justification 
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2020 Q4 MILWAUKEE COUNTY  
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIVISION 

INPATIENT DASHBOARD 

 

Quarter YTD Quality Indicator Threshold  Description 

Q1: Rate=.43 (45.5 hrs) 
Q2: Rate=.28 (18.4 hrs) 
Q3: Rate=.36 (25.4 hrs) 
Q4: Rate=.46 (32.9 hrs) 

.38 
(122.3 hrs) 

HBIPS 2 - Hours of 
Physical Restraint 
Rate 

Rate 
           X < .38 

           X = .38 

           X > .38 

Rate=Hours that patients spent in physical restraints 
for every 1,000 hours of patient care 

Q1: Rate=.20 (21.0 hrs) 
Q2: Rate=.20 (13.2 hrs) 
Q3: Rate=.29 (20.6 hrs) 
Q4: Rate=.02 (1.7 hrs) 

.18 
(56.5 hrs) 

HBIPS 3 - Hours of 
Locked Seclusion Rate 

Rate 
           X < .29 

           X = .29 

           X > .29 

Rate=Hours that patients spent in seclusion for 
every 1,000 hours of patient care 

Q1: 98% (n=55)  
Q2: 92% (n=36) 
Q3: 97% (n=33) 
Q4: 94% (n=17) 

96% 
(n=141) 

HBIPS 5 - Patients 
discharged on 
multiple antipsychotic 
medications with 
appropriate 
justification 

Rate 
           X > 61% 

           61% 

           X < 61% 

Rate=Patients discharged from an inpatient 
psychiatric facility on 2 or more antipsychotic 
medications with appropriate justification 

Q1: 99% (n=277) 
Q2: 98% (n=191) 
Q3: 97% (n=181) 
Q4: 94% (n=176) 

97% 
(n=825) 

Screening for 
metabolic disorders 

Rate 
           X > 74% 

           X = 74% 

           X < 74% 

Rate=Patients discharged on antipsychotic 
medications who had a body mass index, blood 
pressure, blood sugar, and cholesterol level 
screenings in the past year 

Q1: 25% (n=78) 
Q2: N/A  
Q3: N/A 
Q4: 58% (n=142) 

39% 
(n=220) 

Patient influenza 
immunization 

Rate 
           X > 83% 

           X = 83% 

           X < 83% 

Rate=Patients assessed and given influenza 
vaccination (time period 10/1 – 3/31) 

Q1: 80% (n=20)  
Q2: 42% (n=10) 
Q3: 68% (n=15) 
Q4: 33% (n=9) 

55% 
(n=54) 

SUB 2 - Alcohol use 
brief intervention 
provided or offered 

Rate 
           X > 83% 

           X = 83% 

           X < 83% 

Rate=Patients with alcohol abuse who received or 
refused a brief intervention during their inpatient 
stay. 

Q1: 60% (n=15) 
Q2: 33% (n=8) 
Q3: 41% (n=9) 
Q4: 30% (n=8) 

41% 
(n=40) 

SUB 2a - Alcohol use 
brief intervention 
provided 

Rate 
           X > 74% 

           X = 74% 

           X < 74% 

Rate=Patients with alcohol abuse who received a 
brief intervention during their inpatient stay. 

Target Key:     Better Than Expected    Expected Worse Than Expected 

Acute Inpatient 
Performance Measures 

Reported to CMS 
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Q1: 100% (n=112)  
Q2: 100% (n=87) 
Q3: 100% (n=88) 
Q4: 100% (n=88) 

100% 
(n=375) 

SUB 3 - Alcohol and 
other drug use 
disorder treatment 
provided or offered at 
discharge 

Rate 
           X > 70% 

           X = 70% 

           X < 70% 

Rate=Patients who screened positive for an alcohol 
or substance abuse disorder during their inpatient 
stay who, at discharge, either; received or refused a 
prescription for medications to treat their alcohol or 
drug use disorder, or received or refused a referral 
for addiction treatment 

Q1: 39% (n=44) 
Q2: 57% (n=50) 
Q3: 47% (n=41) 
Q4: 45% (n=40) 

47% 
(n=175) 

SUB 3a - Alcohol and 
other drug use 
disorder treatment at 
discharge 

Rate 
           X > 59% 

           X = 59% 

           X < 59% 

Rate=Patients who screened positive for an alcohol 
or substance abuse disorder during their inpatient 
stay who, at discharge, either; received a 
prescription for medications to treat their alcohol or 
drug use disorder, or received a referral for 
addiction treatment 

Q1: 87% (n=72) 
Q2: 89% (n=66) 
Q3: 85% (n=64) 
Q4: 77% (n=49) 

85% 
(n=251) 

TOB 2 - Tobacco use 
treatment provided or 
offered 

Rate 
           X > 81% 

           X = 81% 

           X < 81% 

Rate=Patients who use tobacco and who received or 
refused counseling to quit and received or refused 
medications to help them quit tobacco during their 
hospital stay 

Q1: 66% (n=55) 
Q2: 68% (n=50) 
Q3: 68% (n=51) 
Q4: 44% (n=28) 

  

62% 
(n=184) 

TOB 2a - Tobacco use 
treatment (during the 
hospital stay) 

Rate 
           X > 46% 

           X = 46% 

           X < 46% 

Rate=Patients who use tobacco and who received 
counseling to quit and received medications to help 
them quit tobacco during their hospital stay 

Q1: 57% (n=47) 
Q2: 39% (n=29) 
Q3: 40% (n=30) 
Q4: 39% (n=25) 

44% 
(n=131) 

TOB 3 - Tobacco use 
treatment provided or 
offered at discharge 

Rate 
           X > 58% 

           X = 58% 

           X < 58% 

Rate=Patients who use tobacco and at discharge 
received or refused a referral for outpatient 
counseling AND received or refused a prescription 
for medications to help them quit. 

Q1: 6% (n=5) 
Q2: 5% (n=4) 
Q3: 1% (n=1) 
Q4: 2% (n=1) 

4% 
(n=11) 

TOB 3a - Tobacco use 
treatment provided at 
discharge 

Rate 
           X > 18% 

           X = 18% 

           X < 18% 

Rate=Patients who use tobacco and at discharge 
received a referral for outpatient counseling AND 
received a prescription for medications to help them 
quit 

2018: 29.4% 
2019: 27.9% 

FUH 30 - Follow-up 
after hospitalization 
for mental illness 

Rate 
           X > 49.4% 

           X = 49.4% 

           X < 49.4% 

Rate=Patients hospitalized for mental illness who 
received follow-up care from an outpatient mental 
healthcare provider within 30 days of discharge. 
CMS calculates this measure based on Medicare 
claims data and reports BHD’s performance on the 
https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare 
website annually. 

2018: 5.9% 
2019: 8.1% 

FUH 7 - Follow-up 
after hospitalization 
for mental illness 

Rate 
           X > 27.7% 

           X = 27.7% 

           X < 27.7% 

Rate=Patients hospitalized for mental illness who 
received follow-up care from an outpatient mental 
healthcare provider within 7 days of discharge. 
CMS calculates this measure based on Medicare 
claims data and reports BHD’s performance on the 
https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare 
website annually. 

https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare
https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare
https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare
https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare
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2018: 19.4% 
2019: 18.6% 
CMS reports BHD is “no 
different than the 
national rate” 

READMN 30 IPF - 30 
day all cause 
unplanned 
readmission following 
psychiatric 
hospitalization in an 
inpatient psychiatric 
facility (IPF) 

Rate 
           X > 20.1% 

           X = 20.1% 

           X < 20.1% 

Rate=Patients readmitted to any hospital within 30 
days of discharge from the inpatient psychiatric 
facility 
CMS calculates this measure based on Medicare 
claims data and reports BHD’s performance on the 
https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare  
website annually. 

https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare
https://data.medicare.gov/data/hospital-compare
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Location Grievances
Total 

Admissions
% of Grievances to 
Total Admissions

PCS 9 6,471           0.14%
43B - ATU 9 312 2.88%
43C - WTU 7 206 3.40%
43A - ITU 3 130 2.31%
53B - CAIS 2 326 0.61%

Common Area 1 - -
Total 31 7,445           0.42%

2020 BHD Grievances by Location

Milwaukee County Mental Health Board – Quality Committee Meeting 
March 1, 2021 

Progress: 

• March 2017: Go-live with the electronic system, referred to as Verge Health
• Grievances tracked in the system are related to Hospital and Community Services

o Psychiatric Crisis Services, and Observation
o Inpatient Units
o Wraparound Wellness Clinic
o Fiscal Management Department (billing)
o Children’s Mobile Crisis Team (formerly known as the Mobile Urgent Treatment Team)
o Crisis Mobile Team (adult services)

• New policy was developed in June of 2020 for Hospital Grievances and approved by the board:
Reclassification of the definition of a grievance.

• Grievance Defined: A “patient grievance” is a formal or informal written or verbal complaint that is
made to the hospital by a patient, or the patient’s representative, regarding the patient's care.

• A written complaint is always considered a grievance. This includes written complaints from an
inpatient, an outpatient, a released/discharged patient, or a patient’s representative regarding the
patient care.

2020 Data & Trends 

Quality Committee Item 7
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Grievance Themes and Interventions to Address Concerns 

1. Staff Behavior:
Interventions

a. Customer service strategies

• Vistelar Refresher Trainings
b. Accountability / Attitude

• Coaching

• Mentoring

• Teaching
2. Treatment (Awareness of):

Interventions

a. Treatment team working together to provide client early treatment planning
b. Interdisciplinary team approach to address patient treatment concerns/questions
c. Emphasis on team strategy to address concerns.
d. Ongoing Communication with the patient
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Community Services 

Case Type: 

Grievances (3) 

Program Areas: 

Comprehensive Community Services (CCS) Program 

Community Support Programs (CSP) Program 

Outpatient Providers 

Wraparound Milwaukee/Youth CCS: 

5 grievances for 2020 

Filed By:  Parent/Legal Guardian- 3    Care Coordinator- 2 

Filed Against:  Service Provider- 4     Care Coordinator- 1 

Themes:  Boundaries/Ethics- 2    Services Delivery- 2    Professionalism- 1 

Outcomes:  Substantiated- 2    Partially Substantiated- 2    Unsubstantiated- 1 
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Overview 

• In 2020, 304 of the 664 consumers discharged from Acute Adult Inpatient Service completed
the MHSIP survey.  Acute Adult Inpatient Service’s 2020 MHSIP survey response rate of 46% is
significantly above the 27% national average response rate for inpatient behavioral health
patient satisfaction surveys.

• For the first time in the 18 years of administering this survey, all of Acute Adult Inpatient
Service’s survey item domain scores are above the published national averages.

• The 2020 survey results revealed a positive rating increase for all survey domains (Dignity,
Outcomes, Participation in Care, Environment of Care, Patient Rights, and Empowerment) in
comparison to 2019’s scores.  All domains received their highest positive rating in the 18-year
history of administering this survey.

• The following are general guidelines for interpreting the inpatient consumer survey results
based on thirteen years of administering the survey. The percentage of agree/strongly agree
(positive) responses may be interpreted as:

- Percentages less than 70% can be considered ‘relatively low’ and below 60% can be
considered ‘poor’

- Percentages in the 70 - 79% range can be considered ‘good’ or ‘expected’
- Percentages in the 80 - 89% range can be considered ‘high’
- Percentages 90% and above can be considered ‘exceptional’

• The results revealed a “High” response score for the Dignity domain (82.4%) and “Good”
response scores for 4 of the 6 survey item domains: 78.8% for Participation, 78.8% for
Empowerment, 78.6% for Outcomes, and 75.7% for Environment.  Relatively low response
scores were obtained for the patient Rights domain 68.0%.

• Survey items with the highest positive response scores were:
- My contact with nurses and therapists was helpful (86%)
- I felt comfortable asking questions about my treatment and medications (85%)
- Staff here believe that I could grow, change and recover (84%)
- I was encouraged to use self-help/support groups (83%)
- My contact with my doctor was helpful (83%)
- My symptoms are not bothering me as much (82%)
- I participated in planning my discharge (82%)
- I am better able to deal with crisis (82%)
- The hospital environment was clean and comfortable (81%)
- I was treated with dignity and respect (78%)
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Introduction 

The survey of Acute Adult Inpatient consumers is intended to obtain consumers’ perceptions of 
services received during their inpatient episode of care. The survey is an ongoing performance 
improvement project that utilizes the information obtained to identify performance 
improvement initiatives for inpatient treatment. Consumers’ perceptions of inpatient services 
are obtained regarding: 

• Outcomes attained
• The environment in which services were provided
• Participation in treatment planning and discharge
• Protection of rights
• Being treated with dignity
• Empowerment
• Additional aspects of services received including cultural sensitivity, treatment

choices, and medications

Method 

At the time of discharge, unit social workers present the survey to all consumers and emphasize 
that the BHD values consumer input to the evaluation of services provided in its programs. They 
also explain to consumers that survey participation is voluntary, and assure consumers that 
analyses of the information obtained is summarized and does not identify any individual’s 
responses. Individuals with multiple inpatient episodes are provided opportunities to respond 
to the survey after each inpatient stay. 

Instrument 

The MHSIP Inpatient Consumer Survey (2001) contains a total of 28 items. Twenty-one items 
are designed to measure six domains: Outcome, Dignity, Rights, Participation, Environment and 
Empowerment. Seven additional items ask respondents to rate other aspects of services 
received including treatment options, medications, cultural sensitivity, and staff. Respondents 
indicate their level of agreement/disagreement with statements about the inpatient mental 
health services they have received utilizing a 5-point scale: strongly agree – agree – neutral – 
disagree – strongly disagree. Respondents may also record an item as not applicable.  

Additional survey items are completed to provide basic demographic and descriptive 
information: age, gender, marital status, ethnicity, length of stay, and legal status. Respondents 
may choose to provide written comments on the survey form about their responses or about 
areas not covered by the questionnaire. The following lists the consumer survey items. 
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NRI/MHSIP Inpatient Consumer Survey (2001) 

Outcome Domain: 
• I am better able to deal with crisis.
• My symptoms are not bothering me

as much.
• I do better in social situations.
• I deal more effectively with daily

problems.

Dignity Domain: 
• I was treated with dignity and respect.
• Staff here believe that I can grow,

change and recover.
• I felt comfortable asking questions

about my treatment and medications.
• I was encouraged to use self-

help/support groups.

Rights Domain: 
• I felt free to complain without fear of

retaliation.
• I felt safe to refuse medication or

treatment during my hospital stay.
• My complaints and grievances were

addressed.

Participation Domain: 
• I participated in planning my

discharge.
• Both I and my doctor or therapist

from the community were actively
involved in my hospital treatment
plan.

• I had the opportunity to talk with my
doctor or therapist from the
community prior to discharge.

Environment Domain: 
• The surroundings and atmosphere at

the hospital helped me get better.
• I felt I had enough privacy in the

hospital.
• I felt safe while in the hospital.
• The hospital environment was clean

and comfortable.

Empowerment Domain: 
• I had a choice of treatment options.
• My contact with my doctor was

helpful.
• My contact with nurses and therapists

was helpful.

Other survey items: 
• The medications I am taking help me

control symptoms that used to bother
me.

• I was given information about how to
manage my medication side effects.

• My other medical conditions were
treated.

• I felt this hospital stay was necessary.
• Staff were sensitive to my cultural

background.
• My family and/or friends were able to

visit me.
• If I had a choice of hospitals, I would

still choose this one.
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Results 

The following presents the results of the Inpatient MHSIP Consumer survey completed by consumers of 
the Acute Adult Inpatient Service in 2020.  Data from 2016 – 2019 administrations of the survey are also 
presented in select tables of this report to allow for comparisons. 

The following are general guidelines for interpreting the inpatient consumer survey results based on 
twelve years of administering the survey. The percentage of agree/strongly agree (positive) responses may 
be interpreted as: 

• Percentages less than 70% can be considered ‘relatively low’ and below 60% can be considered ‘poor’
• Percentages in the 70 - 79% range can be considered ‘good’ or ‘expected’
• Percentages in the 80 - 89% range can be considered ‘high’
• Percentages 90% and above can be considered ‘exceptional’

Response Rate 

Completed surveys were obtained at discharge from 304 of the 664 consumers discharged from the Acute 
Adult Inpatient service in 2020.  Acute Adult Inpatient Service’s 2020 MHSIP survey response rate of 46% is 
significantly above the 27% national average response rate for inpatient behavioral health patient 
satisfaction surveys.  

Table 1 presents data on response rates by unit and the total BHD Acute Adult Inpatient Service for 2018 – 
2020.    

43A - ITU 42 17.7% 110 49.1% 78 54.2%
43B - ATU 164 49.5% 142 52.4% 111 35.5%
43C - WTU 93 45.4% 86 43.4% 78 37.7%

Missing Unit 
Identifier

N/A N/A N/A N/A 37 N/A

Total 299 38.7% 338 48.8% 304 45.8%

Inpatient MHSIP Consumer Survey - Response Rate by Unit

2020

Completed 
Surveys

Response 
Rate

2019

Completed 
Surveys

Response 
Rate

Unit
2018

Completed 
Surveys

Response 
Rate
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Acute Adult Inpatient Service 

Table 2 presents Acute Adult Inpatient Service’s consumer positive (agree/strongly agree) responses for 
2016 – 2020.  In 2020, the results revealed a “High” response score for the Dignity domain (82.4%) and 
“Good” response scores for 4 of the 6 survey item domains: 78.8% for Participation, 78.8% for 
Empowerment, 78.6% for Outcomes, and 75.7% for Environment.  Relatively low response scores were 
obtained for the patient Rights domain 68.0%.   

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Dignity 75.7% 81.0% 79.7% 81.3% 82.4%

Outcome 74.7% 76.8% 77.3% 76.9% 78.6%
Participation 71.9% 74.6% 78.2% 77.7% 78.8%
Environment 68.8% 73.5% 73.7% 74.5% 75.7%

Rights 59.1% 64.8% 67.1% 65.7% 68.0%
Empowerment 72.5% 74.8% 77.1% 76.1% 78.8%

My family and/or friends were able to visit me. 77.9% 81.8% 84.4% 82.5% 48.9%

The Medications I am taking help me control my 
symptoms that used to bother me.

74.3% 76.9% 77.1% 76.1% 75.0%

My other medical conditions were treated. 67.7% 72.5% 71.0% 68.7% 76.0%

Staff were sensitive to my cultural background. 64.7% 71.3% 71.9% 72.4% 73.0%

I felt this hospital stay was necessary. 62.5% 66.0% 67.1% 68.2% 65.0%

I was given information about how to manage 
my medication side effects.

66.1% 69.2% 69.7% 72.4% 74.7%

If I had a choice of hospitals, I would still choose 
this one.

56.0% 65.4% 65.6% 64.7% 66.4%

Surveys Completed 280 218 299 338 304

Domains
Agree/Strongly Agree Response %

Table 2. Inpatient MHSIP Consumer Survey - All Units             

Additional Questions
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The following graph presents Acute Adult Inpatient Service’s 2016-2020 positive (agree/strongly agree) 
Domain scores.  



7 

The following graphs present Acute Adult Inpatient Service’s 2016-2020 positive (agree/strongly agree) 
survey item scores and NRI’s domain average.  
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The NRI published national public rates from approximately 70 state inpatient psychiatric facilities that 

include MHSIP data as part of its Behavioral Healthcare Performance Measurement System. Due to 

possible differences in organizational and patient population characteristics, these aggregate data may not 

appropriately compare to BHD data. 

Domains National Average 2020 BHD BHD/National Avg Variance
Dignity 81.9% 82.4% 0.5%

Outcome 78.5% 78.6% 0.1%
Participation 74.8% 78.8% 4.0%
Environment 69.3% 75.7% 6.4%

Rights 67.8% 68.0% 0.2%
Empowerment Not Reported 78.8% -

Table 3. BHD Inpatient MHSIP Agree/Strongly Agree Domain Response Scores 
Comparison to NRI National Average
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Table 4 presents 2020 survey results for domain and additional items by each Acute Adult Inpatient Unit. 
The following summarizes these comparisons and should be interpreted as a general measure of a unit’s 
performance based on consumers’ perceptions of their inpatient stay: 

43A 43B 43C
Dignity 77.4% 83.4% 83.8%

Outcome 71.6% 80.4% 80.6%
Participation 71.5% 80.2% 79.7%
Environment 70.8% 74.8% 81.4%

Rights 59.2% 65.2% 76.5%
Empowerment 75.0% 78.7% 79.3%

Additional Questions

My family and/or friends were able to visit me. 43.3% 35.7% 66.2%

The Medications I am taking help me control 
my symptoms that used to bother me.

75.0% 76.0% 75.3%

My other medical conditions were treated. 67.1% 77.5% 79.2%
Staff were sensitive to my cultural background 65.7% 72.0% 81.6%
I felt this hospital stay was necessary 54.7% 69.5% 66.7%
I was given information about how to manage 
my medication side effects

65.8% 73.4% 80.5%

If I had a choice of hospitals, I would still 
choose this one.

58.0% 64.2% 74.0%

Surveys Completed 78 111 78

Table 4. 2020 Inpatient MHSIP Consumer Survey - By Unit

Domains
Agree/Strongly Agree Response
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Appendix 

The comments below were written on surveys administered in 2020. 

43A - Positive Comments 
1. Grade A Service!
2. Thank you and use the chapel!
3. The social workers and OTs were good at treatment so were the peer specialists and doctors.
4. The staff here are the main reason for my successful stay here.  They deserve better pay, more appreciation

and recognition than they get!!
5. My social worker Kristen and Dr. W., they were great.  Dr. K and the treatment helped me gain even more

insight to my diagnosis.
6. I love BHD an it's staff.  I enjoyed my stay.
7. Staff was largely helpful.  Bathroom issues caused some stress.  Cleanliness of restrooms and lack of soap

in bathroom (during a pandemic) is inappropriate.  Greater attention to social distancing with staff and
clients would be helpful.  Otherwise my time here was mostly helpful. 

43B - Positive Comments 
1. Had a great time at the hospital and was treated with integrity and respect to one's care.
2. I appreciate your help. God bless you.
3. I had fun here.
4. I would advise anybody that's coming in for themselves to get better stay focused on your goal and there's

people here who can help you get to your goal and continue with your goal.
5. The classes and all the caring people that work here, I can't say enough about!  It also would be helpful to

assign some work for us patients to do after dinner, i.e. - wash the tables, etc.  I want to thank you all for
getting me back on track.  I wish you all a very safe Holiday season.

6. THANK YOU to everybody that took care of me!!!
7. I'm glad it turned out this way.   I think it was as good last experience.
8. Thank you for the help.
9. Thank you.
10. Great staff, would recommend.
11. I really appreciate not being ignored about my emotional issues.
12. My encounter at this facility was very interesting and life changing to the point where I feel I will walk out of

here and go find a job and a place to live of my own!  :)
13. Nurse Lisa was the best nurse during my stay.  For the nurses, she took an active role in my individual

treatment.  Many other nurses just sat and waited for you to come to them.  Lisa asked questions and
offered extra help.

14. Thank you for your time and effort into my life.
15. This is an experience I definitely needed.  I'm on medication that's going to help me.

43B - Negative Comments 
1. Food was kind of unappealing. 

43C - Positive Comments 
1. Good social worker womenship.
2. The staff (SW) were very helpful and provided me with much needed info.
3. THE STAFF IS TRULY GOD'S ANGELS.  THEY ARE GOOD AT WHAT THEY DO.  GOD BLESS THEM ALL!



CAIS 
Youth 
Survey 

Annual Report 

2020 
The CAIS Youth Survey collects demographic data about the age, gender, 
and race/ethnicity of respondents in addition to obtaining their opinions 
about the services received during the inpatient stay. In completing the 
youth survey, respondents indicate their level of agreement / disagreement 
with statements utilizing a 5-point scale: strongly agree- agree- neutral- 
disagree- strongly disagree. The CAIS Youth Survey contains 21 items 
measuring five aspects of the mental health services provided in the 
program: 

Prepared By: 
Quality 
Improvement 
Department 

• Access to Services
• Appropriateness of Treatment
• Participation in Treatment
• Cultural Sensitivity/ Respectful Treatment
• Outcomes
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Overview 
 

• In 2020, 62 of the 258 youth (aged 13 years or older) discharged from CAIS completed the CAIS 
Youth Survey, yielding a 24.0% response rate.   
 
• Currently, no national averages/benchmarks are publicly available for this survey.  The following 
are general guidelines for interpreting the inpatient consumer survey results based on nine years 
of administering the survey. The percentage of agree/strongly agree (positive) responses may be 
interpreted as:  

- Percentages less than 70% can be considered ‘relatively low’ and below 60% can be 
considered ‘poor’ 

- Percentages in the 70 - 79% range can be considered ‘good’ or ‘expected’ 
- Percentages in the 80 - 89% range can be considered ‘high’ 
- Percentages 90% and above can be considered ‘exceptional’ 

 
• The results revealed “Good” or “Expected” positive response scores for Cultural 
Sensitivity/Respectful Treatment (80%), Participation in Treatment (78%), Appropriateness of 
Treatment (77%), and Access to Services (75%) domains.  “Relatively low” positive response scores 
were obtained for the and Patient Outcomes (63%) domains.    

 

• Survey items with the highest positive response scores were: 
 - Staff spoke with me in a way that I understood (87%) 
 - I received the services that were right for me (84%) 
 - I participated in my own treatment (83%) 
 - I felt I had someone to talk to when I was troubled (82%) 
 - I helped to choose my treatment goals (82%) 
 -  Staff respected my family’s religious/spiritual beliefs (79%) 
 - I got as much help as I needed (77%) 
 - Staff treated me with respect (76%) 
 - Staff were sensitive to my cultural/ethnic background (76%) 
 -  Overall, I am satisfied with the services I received (74%) 
  

• The open ended survey item “Most helpful things you received during your stay” resulted in 
patients writing comments regarding: staff listening to patient (29%), medication received (17%), 
caring, respectful staff (14%), coping skills (12%), groups (11%), treatment received (11%), anger 
management (3%), and safe environment (3%) 
 

• The open ended survey item “What would improve the program here” resulted in patients 
writing comments regarding: better food (38%), more groups and activities (32%), respectful staff 
(18%), no improvements needed (6%), and better communication between staff and patients (6%).   
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Method 

 
Youth served in CAIS were asked to participate in the CAIS Youth Survey prior to discharge.  Staff 
administering the survey explained that the Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division values 
their input in the evaluation of the CAIS program, and would use the information to help improve 
the program. The patients filled out the surveys understanding that it was voluntary, confidential 
and anonymous. Additionally, staff determined whether assistance was needed to complete the 
survey (e.g. reading comprehension, following instructions, etc.). Assistance was provided as 
necessary, while maintaining the confidentiality of the responses. 
 

 
Table 1 presents CAIS’ consumer positive (agree/strongly agree) response scores for 2016 – 2020. 

 

  

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
N = 106 N = 182 N = 209 N = 121 N = 62

The location of services was convenient 58.7 54.0 46.3 59.7 50.0 -9.7
Services were available at times that were convenient for me 80.8 71.8 74.4 74.2 100.0 25.8

Access to Services Domain 69.8 62.9 60.4 67.0 75.0 8.1

Overall, I am satisfied with the services I received 82.1 76.8 74.2 83.5 74.2 -9.3
The people helping me stuck with me no matter what 82.1 79.0 73.4 76.7 72.6 -4.1

I felt I had someone to talk to when I was troubled 81.0 81.9 77.3 81.7 81.7 0.0
I received the services that were right for me 84.6 76.4 75.7 79.7 83.6 3.9

I got the help I wanted 84.0 72.4 72.1 76.0 73.8 -2.2
I got as much help as I needed 81.0 75.1 69.1 73.9 77.4 3.5

Appropriateness of Treatment Domain 82.5 76.9 73.6 78.6 77.2 -1.4

I helped to choose my services 66.7 68.0 62.2 71.9 70.5 -1.4
I helped to choose my treatment goals 85.6 77.2 83.6 87.4 81.7 -5.7

I participated in my own treatment 85.6 84.0 83.3 94.1 83.1 -11.0
Participation in Treatment Domain 79.3 76.4 76.4 84.5 78.4 -6.0

Staff treated me with respect 81.0 78.9 79.5 82.5 76.3 -6.2
Staff respected my family's religious/spiritual beliefs 88.1 80.9 84.3 88.1 79.0 -9.1

Staff spoke with me in a way that I understood 91.4 84.1 89.3 88.3 87.1 -1.2
Staff were sensitive to my cultural/ethnic background 85.6 69.3 75.7 74.4 75.8 1.4
Cultural Sensitivity / Respectful Treatment Domain 86.5 78.3 82.2 83.3 79.6 -3.8

I am better at handling daily life 68.9 70.4 66.7 73.6 72.6 -1.0
I get along better with family members 64.2 53.9 50.2 60.5 56.5 -4.0

I get along better with friends and other people 74.3 65.7 72.2 71.1 63.3 -7.8
I am doing better in school and/or work 62.5 53.4 57.3 50.0 50.0 0.0

I am better able to cope when things go wrong 74.0 65.0 70.5 66.9 67.8 0.9
I am satisfied with my family life right now 66.7 59.4 55.8 60.8 64.5 3.7

Patient Outcomes Domain 68.4 61.3 62.1 63.8 62.5 -1.4

Table 1. 2016-2020 CAIS Youth Survey - Agree/Strongly Agree Response %

Survey Item / Domain
Year

2019/2020 
Variance 
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The comments below were written on surveys administered in 2020. 
 

 
 

  

Category Comments "Most Helpful Things You Received During Your Stay

Anger management Advice on how to handle things differently.

Understanding that I am worthy.

The staff were nice.

Getting some sleep and the people here was nice and helpful.

The staff helped me during hard time.

The positive things helped me a lot.

Stress ball and talk to me they good people to talk to.

To cope and use skills.

Something I can fidget with.

Learning new coping skills.

A refresher in math.

Group.

Some staff and learned a little.

OT

Medication and staff.

Medication. 

Medicine, therapy, treatment.

My pills they made me go to sleep when I couldn't.

The pills.

That always take my medicine and staying out of trouble and learning to control anger problems.

Safe environment Time away from the main thing causing my issues and getting to do relaxing things.

Being able to speak with others.

Being able to talk when needed also taking medication.

Communication food and instruction.

Someone to talk to.

Everything they talk to me when I needed them.

I always had someone to talk to.

I had people to talk to.

Just needed to talk to someone other than family/friends.

Speaking with the social worker and psychologist was helpful.

Talking to my therapist.

I received the help I needed it.

Wisdom on how to live day to day life in the real world.

That I was able to reach all my goals.

The therapy.

Caring, Respectful Staff

Groups / School

Staff listened to patient

Treatment

Coping skills

Medication
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Category Comments "What would improve the program here"

Better food and activities.

Better food and better heat.

Better food and more sleep.

Better food.

Better food.

Better snacks.

A later bedtime and better food.

Food, activities. 

The food

They have to make better food.

They should have ham and cheese sandwiches during snack.

Staff & food.

If the food was better.

At a friend's facility they are allowed small amounts of restricted phone time and it makes it to be willing 

to stay because a big part of wanting to leave is communication.

If kids got to write down what they were thinking.

I has an awesome stay.  Great help.  Very grateful.

I think its well.

More groups throughout the day.

More groups.

More instruction.

More support.

Board games at free time.

Doing fun stuff.

Doing school.

More activities - less free time.

Hand out schedules.

Give us more things to do.  More activities.

Games!

Respecting preferred name

Some did not respect my name or gender pronouns

Some staff didn't care and was only on the phones.

Firing _______ she is very rude and she threated me and made me feel unsafe.

________ made me feel belittled and ashamed of my disorders.

More empathy.

Respectful staff

Better food

No Improvements 

Needed

More groups, 

activities

Communication
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CAIS YOUTH SURVEY 

 
Please help CAIS be a better program by answering the following questions.  Your answers are confidential. 

Directions: Put a cross (X) in the box that best describes your answer. Thank you! 
 

Today’s Date: _____ / _____ / _____ 
 

 Strongly 
Disagree 

 
Disagree 

 
Undecided 

 
Agree 

Strongly 
Agree 

1. Overall, I am satisfied with the 
services I received. 

     

2. I helped to choose my     
services. 

     

3. I helped to choose my treatment 
goals. 

     

4. The people helping me stuck 
with me no matter what. 

     

5. I felt I had someone to talk to 
when I was troubled. 

     

6. I participated in my own 
treatment. 

     

7. I received services that were 
right for me. 

     

8. The location of CAIS was 
convenient. 

     

9. Services were available at 
convenient times for me. 

     

10. I got the help I wanted.      
11. I got as much help as I needed.      
12. Staff treated me with respect.      

13. Staff respected my family’s 
religious/spiritual beliefs. 

     

14. Staff spoke with me in a way 
that I understood. 

     

15. Staff were sensitive to my 
cultural/ethnic background. 

     

As a result of the CAIS program: Strongly 
Disagree 

 
Disagree 

 
Undecided 

 
Agree 

Strongly 
Agree 

16. I am better at handling daily 
life. 

     

17. I get along better with family 
members. 

     

18. I get along better with friends 
and other people. 
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19. I am doing better in school
and/or work. 

20. I am better able to cope when
things go wrong. 

21. I am satisfied with my family
life right now. 

22. What were the most helpful things you received during your stay in the program?
___________________________________________________ 

23. What would improve the program here? ______ 
______ 
______ 

24. Other comments: _________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________

Please answer the following questions to let us know a little about you. 

Race / Ethnicity (mark with an X the category that applies to you): 
American Indian/Alaskan Native          White (Caucasian) 

Black (African American)           Asian/Pacific Islander 
_______ Spanish/Hispanic/Latino  ___ Other 

Age: ______ years old   Gender (mark with X):  ___Male   _ Female 
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Baseline  71.5% as of August 2016 LAB reportOverall Progress 88.2% of February 1, 2021
Current   Goal = 96%

Review period Number of Policies Percentage of total

Last
Month

This Month Last Month This 
Month

Within Scheduled Period 563 552 90.2% 88.2%

Up to 1-year Overdue 57 71 9.1% 11.3%

More than 1 yr & up to 3 yrs
overdue

3 3 0.5% 0.5%

More than 3 yrs & up to 5 yrs
overdue

0 0 0% 0%

More than 5 yrs & up to 10 yrs
overdue

1 0 0.2% 0%

Total 612 615 100% 100%

Past Due by Policy Area Past 
Due

Division Administration 2

Emergency Management 1

Engineering & Environmental Services-Operations 3

Environment of Care 1

Fiscal 1

Human Resources 5

Infection Prevention 9

Mental Health Board 1

Patient Rights 2

Pharmacy 2

Pharmacy and Therapeutics 5

Provision of Care - Nursing 26

Physical Medicine 1

Psychiatry 1

Psychiatric Crisis Services 1

Public Health Emergency 1

Quality Management 1

Safety 2

Wraparound -Admin/Care Cord/Vendor 9

Total Past Due 74

12 Month Forecast Due 
for Review

Policy Area Past 
Due

February 2021 14

March 2021 9

April 2021 14

May 2021 18

June 2021 11

July 2021 17

August 2021 20

September 2021 20

October 2021 23

November 2021 15

December 2021 25

January 2022 19

January Activity

New Policies 6

Reviewed/Revised 25

Retired 1

95.4 96.3 96.3
97.9

93.5

90.2 91.2 91.4 91.4 90.5 90.2 90.2
88.2

80

85

90

95

100

%

Month

Monthly Rate Trends

Quality Committee Item 12
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Baseline  71.5% as of August 2016 LAB report

Review period Number of 
Policies

Percentage 
of total

Reviewed within Scheduled Period 361 71.5%

Up to 1 year Overdue 32 6.3%

More than 1 year and up to 3 years overdue 20 4.0%

More than 3 years and up to 5 years 
overdue

31 6.1%

More than 5 years and up to 10 years 
overdue

18 3.6%

More than 10 years overdue 43 8.5%

Total 505 100.0%

Forecast Due for Review

Past Due Policies  - 74
Coming Due Policies 
February 2021 – 14
March 2021 – 9
April 2021 – 14
May 2021 – 18
June 2021 – 11

July 2021 –17
August 2021 -20
September 2021 –20
October 2021 – 23
November 2021 –15
December 2021 – 25
January 2022 - 9

Overall Progress 88.2% of Feb. 1, 2021
POLICY & PROCEDURE STATUS REPORT -GOAL=96%

Recently Approved 
Policies

New Policies
Reviewed/

Revised 
Policies

Retired 
Policies

September 3 24 0

October 16 6 0

November 3 9 0

December 6 25 1

January 5 7 0

Current 

Review period Number of Policies Percentage of total

Last
Month

This 
Month

Last Month This Month

Within Scheduled Period 563 552 90.2% 88.2%

Up to 1-year Overdue 57 71 9.1% 11.3%

More than 1 year and up to 3
years overdue

3 3 0.5% 0.5%

More than 3 years and up to 5 
years overdue

0 0 0% 0%

More than 5 years and up to 10 
years overdue

1 0 0.2% 0%

More than 10 years overdue 0 0 0% 0%

Total 624 626 100% 100%



Chairperson:  Brenda Wesley 
Executive Assistant:  Kiara Abram, 257-7212 

MILWAUKEE COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD 
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AD HOC 

COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, March 17, 2021 – 10:00 A.M. 
Teleconference Meeting 

Minutes 
SCHEDULED ITEMS:
1. Welcome  (Chairwoman Wesley)

Chairperson Wesley welcomed everyone to the March 17, 2021 Mental Health Board’s
Community Engagement Ad Hoc Committee.

2.  Perceptivity Community Engagement Report on the Crisis Redesign Project and the 
Mental Health  Emergency Center  (Kane Communications) 

Kimberly Payne, Perceptivity Solutions; gave a presentation outlining the history of the 
crisis redesign project highlighting key milestones occurring to date, stakeholder feedback 
and next steps of the project. The community engagement project was created to gather 
input from stakeholders on important topics to assist with the development of community 
informed programs and services. There were 144 participants in the community 
conversations, consisting of law enforcement partners, mental health advocates, 
consumers, and family members. Women and age groups 35-44/45-54 (27% each group) 
made up a majority of the participants. Eight community conversations were held between 
Feb. and Nov. 2020, during these sessions’ participants identified these critical issues: 
access to service, lack of integration or communication, lack of staff or services, 
educational services, and lack of diversity. BHD intends to prioritize the feedback and 
recommendations and to inform future strategic direction.   

Lengthy discussion ensued. 

 3. Facebook Social Media Page (Kane Communications) 

Committee members shared concern for the use of the Facebook page being open for 
public interaction opposed to informational only. It was suggested for feedback from 
stakeholders to express how they desire to utilize of the Facebook page and receive the 
information being shared.  

The next meeting of the 
Milwaukee County Mental Health Board 

Community Engagement Committee 
Will be scheduled at the Call of the Chair 

Visit the Milwaukee County Mental Health Board Web Page at: 
https://county.milwaukee.gov/EN/DHHS/About/Governance 

ADA accommodation requests should be filed with the Milwaukee County Office for 
Persons with Disabilities, 278-3932 (voice) or 711 (TRS), upon receipt of this notice. 
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